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The present study introduces the
exciting Rajasthani sources to explore
the Sikh history. It brings into focus the
Rajasthani documents, which are
basically found in archival form in
Rajasthan State Archives, Bikaner. The
authors of these documents belonged to
a rare breed of Vakils, who like the
present-day diplomats, represented the
Rajput Rajas at the Mughal court. On
the basis of their observations they
submitted regular reports to their
masters which may be called dossiers in
the modern sense. Evidence offered by
them is unique as it does not carry the
sectarian bias which is the hall-mark of
contemporary Mughal chronicles.
Rather it unfolds the Rajasthani
perspective on the Sikh struggle against
the Mughal Empire under the
stewardship of Banda Singh Bahadur.

This study is based upon the reports
written by eyewitnesses to the events.
Some of the reports carry graphic
account of the battlefield and even
reveal the crisis within the Mughal
army. These documents divulge the
nature and extent of Sikh uprising and
throw fresh light on some of the lesser-
known facets of Banda Singh Bahadur.
These dossiers from the pen of
Rajasthani Vakils are of immense value
to understand the military strategy and
diplomacy during the suppression of
the Sikh struggle by the Mughal
Empire. These documents also bear
testimony to the fact that Banda Singh
Bahadur desired to forge an alliance
with the Rajput Rajas with a view to
liberate the country from the Mughal
yoke.
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Prologue

Though search for new source material on the Punjab/Sikh
Studies is a fascinating work, yet the scholars who are in the
field of academics know it very well that it is at the same time
a very arduous, time-consuming and a challenging task.
Besides the financial resources, it requires a lot of stamina,
patience and skill to handle the people and the source
material. During the last 50 years or so very little has been
done to unearth new source material on the Sikh/Punjab
history. We observe that to explore the records available in
different private and public libraries and archives of India has
not found much favour with our institutions and scholars
doing research on Punjab/Sikh Studies. Flow of new sources
along with their evaluation is of utmost importance for the
development of studies of any region, tradition and its people.
The present study, besides venturing into an exciting discipline
of Rajasthani sources seeks to draw the attention of scholars
towards a virtually virgin area which has remained unnoticed
and unchartered for doing Sikh history. However before
moving further it looks plausible to make a bricf comment on
the way in which this study was undertaken.

It all started in 1997 when I had a chance meeting with
Prof. G. S. L. Devra over a course in H.P. University, Shimla.
Prof. Devra who hails from Rajasthan, specializes in Marwari
language and has done extensive research on the socio-
economic history of medieval Rajasthan. On my inquiry he
divulged that a search into Rajasthani documents may yield
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10 Prologue

significant information on the Sikh history. Later on Dr.
Dilbagh Singh, Professor of History at Jawahar Lal Nehru
University, New Delhi, who has analysed thousands of
Rajasthani documents for his path-breaking research on the
agrarian system of medieval Rajasthan, responded to me in
the affirmative that there exist a number of Rajasthani
documents in Rajasthan State Archives, Bikaner, which are
very much relevant for studies on Sikh history. Both these
scholars also advised that in order to retrieve the information,
one is required to sit with patience and painstakingly sift the
hand written documents preserved in the aforesaid Archives.
As T was interested in finding out new sources on the history
of the Sikhs, naturally my interaction with these scholars
aroused my curiosity. Secondly, both the scholars are highly
professional historians in their own right and are well
recognized for their pioneer and scholarly works; thus their
sane counsel deserved serious and sincere follow up.
Though I have a very strong connection with Rajasthan
but before that I never thought of looking into the Rajasthani
sources for the purpose of probing into the Sikh history.
Eventually, during the winter vacations in December 1998,
my quest for Rajasthani material drove me to the Rajasthan
State Archives at Bikaner. Though it was a short trip but
fortunately, it yielded rich dividends in the form of retrieval
of very important documents on Banda Singh Bahadur. After
a couple of days’ labour, I realised that this Archives is
virtually a mine of historical documents on medieval India
and to unearth it, regular and systematic follow up is required.
I was of the knowledge that with the exception of Prof. Ganda
Singh, no other Punjab historian has utilized material from
this Archives for the purpose of writing history of the Sikhs.
All these factors coupled with curiosity to know more drove
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Prologue 11

me to take a plunge which has since proved to be very
rewarding and academically satisfying adventure.

The Rajasthani documents, with which we are presently
concerned, are basically found in archival form in Rajasthan
State Archives, Bikaner. These documents owe their origin to
different factors and have come to us in various forms and
categories. The authors of these documents belonged to a rare
breed of Vakils, who like the present-day diplomats,
represented the Rajput chiefs at the Mughal court. Besides
putting up the petitions of their masters, they used to keep a
vigil on the events taking place at the royal court. On the basis
of their observations, they submitted regular reports to their
masters which may be called dossiers in the modern sense.
It may be recalled that instead of Persian, this material is
recorded in the pre-modern Devnagari script. The style and
language coupled with some other features indicate towards
the confidential nature of these documents. The language
employed is medieval Marwari which is interspersed with
vocabulary taken from Persian and local dialects. The
orthographic style varies and absence of vowels is quite
prominent in many of the documents. Even some of the
documents are in coded language. All these factors make it
difficult to decipher them correctly.

Beginning in December 1998 till 2008, 1 visited Rajasthan
several times especially the Rajasthan State Archives, Bikaner.
All this while, I made sincere efforts to retrieve the relevant
material stored therein. Fortunately, I laid my hands on
hundreds of documents that are very useful for doing
eighteenth-century Sikh history. Though utmost care has been
taken to examine thousands of documents, yet possibility of
many more such documents coming to the surface cannot be
ruled out. It may be mentioned here that a part of this study
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12 Prologue

formed a part of the projects that were submitted in 2009 to
the Department of Guru Nanak Studies, GND University
under the DRS scheme of U.G.C. Thereafter, due to the
academic and administrative commitments, chiefly the
establishment of Centre for Studies on Sri Guru Granth Sahib
in GND University, Amritsar, I could not devote much time
to carry forward my research on the Rajasthani sources of
Sikh history. Obviously, it has taken too much time for which
I offer my sincere apology.

The present study which is the product of author’s tryst
with the Rajasthani sources brings into focus the Rajasthani
perspective on the Sikh struggle against the Mughal Empire
under the stewardship of Banda Singh Bahadur. It deals with
the extracts culled from sixty-seven documents which are
directly related with the Sikh uprising under Banda Singh
Bahadur. These documents inform us about the events that
took place between December 1710 and May 1715. Obviously,
they do not cover the whole period of Banda Singh Bahadur,
but it is worth noting that these are the reports that have been
filled by the persons who were eyewitness to the events. Some
of the reports carry graphic account of the battlefield and
describe the hardships and even reveal the crisis within the
Mughal army. These documents not only bear testimony to the
nature and extent of Sikh uprising but also divulge the parties
and politics at the Mughal court. Besides offering contemporary
evidence on the leadership and statesmanship of Baba Banda
Singh Bahadur, they provide significant insights into the
strategy and measures taken by the Mughal authorities to
suppress the Sikh struggle. Evidence offered by them is unique
as it does not carry the sectarian bias which is the hall-mark of
contemporary Mughal chronicles. It not only supplements our
earlier information but also throws fresh light on some of the

ISikhBookCLub. com



Prologue 13

lesser-known facets of the history and personality of Banda
Singh Bahadur. Alike the Persian chronicles, the authors of
these documents also have mistakenly addressed Banda Singh
Bahadur as the Guru; therefore, the readers are requested to be
cautious about this lapse on their part.

The study has been presented purely in a professional
but a reader-friendly manner, As these documents are related
with the Sikh struggle under Banda Singh Bahadur, therefore
a brief account of his life has been included which will help
the reader to understand the historical context in which these
documents have originated. Then it provides a bird’s eye view
of the contents of the documents in chronological order.
Thereafter, it takes into account the origin, nature and other
features of the documents under study. It also attempts to look
into the significance of evidence offered by them. These
documents have been written in medieval Rajasthani/Marwari
language which many of the readers may find difficult to
understand. Thus an English rendering of them has been
presented in chronological order. All these documents carry
file number of the Archives and the date in Bikrami (lunar)
era in original. For the benefit of the readers, these dates have
been converted into Common Era and for that Pal Singh
Purewal’s very accurate and dependable tables, Jantri 500
Years, have been relied upon. For any addition and explanation
in the text square [ ] and rounded ( ) brackets respectively
have been employed. With a view that the reader should not
miss the original flavour, the text of all these documents in
Hindi has been included as well. Meanings of Rajasthani/
Marwari words and phrases have been explained in the foot
notes. Besides, a glossary at the end helps the reader to
comprehend the peculiar and difficult terms that occur in
these documents. Similarly, a biographical index of the

SiRhBookCLib. com.



14 Prologue

persons that find mention in the reports has been appended.
It helps to understand the role of these persons and characters
in a broader historical perspective.

Towards the end, we can say that these Rajasthani
documents, which are being introduced for the first time, are
very useful to fill the gaps that we encounter in the history of
Sikh struggle against the Mughal Empire under the leadership
of Banda Singh Bahadur. I am extremely thankful to the
authorities of Rajasthan State Archives, Bikaner for allowing
access to these documents. Prof. Dilbagh Singh, Jawahar Lal
Nehru University, New Delhi and Prof. G.S.L. Devra, formerly
Vice-Chancellor, Open University, Kota were of immense
help to begin with; both of them deserve my sincere gratitude.
I am also thankful to the U.G.C. for providing assistance to
this project under its scheme of SAP. All my colleagues in the
Centre for Studies on Sri Guru Granth Sahib and friends in the
GND University deserve my special thanks for their valuable
input. Mrs. Bindu, Senior Project Fellow in the Centre,
deserves appreciation for the zeal with which she has composed
the matter for publication. As the publication of this material
has been long due, yet my wife Dr. Usha Dhillon has worked
as a healthy critic at home. She has been reminding me
constantly that instead of talking about these documents,
complete the work without any more delay; thus my thanks
to her also. S. Gursagar Singh of Singh Brothers, Amritsar,
deserves thanks and appreciation for his co-operation in
bringing out this book in a minimal time. It is just a beginning
and another volume on the Rajasthani sources of Sikh history
will follow in the near future. Hopefully, this study will open
up new vistas for research on the Sikh history.

Amritsar Balwant Singh Dhillon (Dr.)
9 June 2016
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Historical Setting

The Rajasthani documents under study predominantly deal
with the early eighteenth-century Sikh struggle against the
Mughal Empire. Significantly, most of the documents focus
upon the military exploits of Banda Singh Bahadur and the
measures taken by the Mughal authorities to suppress the
Sikh uprising. Occasionally, these documents also make
reference to the parties and politics at the Mughal court. There
are so many Mughal nobles and other persons who find
mention in them. Similarly, these documents take into
account the events that had taken place between 1710 and
1715. Since, these documents do not betray regular and
systematic account of the events, there are big gaps in them.
Consequently, the information contained in them may look
disjointed or uneven and may prove cumbersome to grasp the
true historical value of these documents. Moreover, due to the
peculiar orthographic features and style of these documents,
one may encounter difficulty in deciphering the text correctly.
Actually, knowledge of the events and characters participating
in them is a priori to understand the Rajasthani documents
properly. Therefore a brief discussion on the historical
setting, especially the life and struggle of Banda Singh
Bahadur or the broad historical context in which these
documents originated, holds merit to evaluate the evidence
available in these documents.

Banda Singh Bahadur, the founder of first Sikh Rule
(May 1710—Dec.1715) was a unique and charismatic Sikh
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16 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

personality of early eighteenth century. His military exploits
against the Mughal Empire of India, administrative and
revenue reforms introduced by him in the polity of Punjab and
the way he courted martyrdom are well recorded in the annals
of medieval Indian history. It goes to his credit that he gave
a foretaste of political authority to the Sikhs who later on
succeeded in establishing sovereign Sikh rule in the North-
West of India. Though he was a great hero for the Sikhs, yet
he was an enigma to the Mughals whose scorn is well-
reflected in the contemporary Mughal chronicles. In spite of
his extra-ordinary achievements, some aspects of his life and
personality are still shrouded in mystery. It is a pity that we
know very little about his childhood and early life. Fortunately,
we have enough eyewitness and contemporary evidence in
Persian and Rajasthani chronicles which offer significant
insights into the most active phase of his life.

Our sources reveal that since July 1707, Guru Gobind
Singh had been in contact with the newly anointed Mughal
Emperor, Bahadur Shah. The Mughal chronicles as well as
the Sikh sources confirm that Guru Gobind Singh had
travelled to the Deccan in the company of the Mughal
Emperor, Bahadur Shah.' The purpose of the Guru’s itinerary
was to continue the parleys with the Emperor to apprise him
about the injustice done to him by the Mughal officials of
Punjab. However, on reaching Nanded towards the beginning
of September 1708, the Guru realized that the Emperor would
not take any action against the officials responsible for the
wrongs done to him and the Sikhs. Therefore he separated
himself from the Emperor and decided to encamp at Nanded.
Here he met Madho Das, a bairagi, who was well-known to
all the mendicants roaming in and around Nanded.

According to Rattan Singh Bhangu, Guru Gobind Singh
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Historical Setting 17

had come to know about the personality of Madho Das from
Mahant Jait Ram of Dadupanth of Naraina (Rajasthan) when
he had the chance to interact with him on his onward journey
into the Deccan. The said Mahant had also forewarned the
Guru about the utter disrespect shown to religious persons by
Madho Das.? According to the author of Amarnama, on the
day of solar eclipse i.e. 3 September 1708 when Guru Gobind
Singh visited the hermitage of Madho Das, he was not there.*
It is said that the Guru occupied a cot which was probably the
seat of Madho Das. The Sikhs of the Guru captured a goat of
the math, slaughtered it and started cooking its meat. It was
taken as an affront by the disciples of Madho Das. They
thought that he would wreak a great vengeance upon the
intruders. On getting information, Madho Das rushed to his
monastery. However, extra-ordinary conduct and behavior of
Guru Gobind Singh and his Sikhs was enough to convince
him that his magical skills and incantations were of no avail.
In fact, he lay totally humbled in his own retreat.

On coming face to face with the Guru, conversion took
place in his heart and at the spur of moment, he was totally
a transformed person. He fell submissively at the feet of the
Guru. The conversation that took place between the two at
that time is found recorded in Tarikh-i-Punjab of Ahmed
Shah Batalia. Interestingly, similar impression is found
recorded in the Sikh sources. It is said that Guru Gobind
Singh admonished Madho Das for his derision of the saintly
persons. At this Madho Das acclaimed: “Now I am your Sikh
and you are my Master. Forgive me, 1 am your slave.
Whatsoever you order, I will obey it. Please admit me into
your fellowship and allow me to be in your presence.”™ The
Guru took him as his disciple and taught him what it meant
to be a Sikh. The Sikh and Persian sources reveal that Madho
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18 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

Das was baptized into the Khalsa brotherhood and was given
the new name of Banda Singh.’

We find that proximity between the Guru and the
Emperor had alarmed Wazir Khan, the faujdar of Sarhind. He
feared that ongoing dialogue between the Emperor and the
Guru was detrimental to his position and interest. On
reaching Nanded after a few days’ company with the
Emperor, Guru Gobind Singh separated himself from the
royal camp. The Guru stayed back at Nanded while Bahadur
Shah marched on towards Hyderabad. At Nanded, the Guru
engaged himself in preaching his mission among the local
people. Here, two Pathans who were perhaps on a secret
mission developed acquaintance with the Guru. One evening,
one of them struck the Guru fatally with a dagger.® We can
say with certainty that the said Pathan was well-known in the
Mughal circles and held an office in the Mughal army.” It
convinced the Guru that the attack on him was the result of
conspiracy hatched by the Mughal officials, especially Wazir
Khan. As the nature of injury was very serious, his return to
the Punjab in near future was not possible.

It looks quite plausible that before his demise on
October 7, 1708 at Nanded, Guru Gobind Singh had
commissioned Banda Singh Bahadur to wage a war against
the Mughal authorities of Sarhind who were responsible for
the injustice done to the Guru, his family and the Sikhs in
general. The Guru bestowed upon him the title of Bahadur
(the brave) and gave him a sword, five arrows from his quiver
as a pledge and token of victory. A council of five Singhs was
appointed to assist him. A nishan sahib (flag) and a nagara
(drum) were also bestowed upon him as emblems of temporal
authority.® The Guru also handed over him the hAukamnamas
which were addressed to the Sikhs of Punjab enjoining upon
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them to join him in his mission.” Thus, in the company of
about twenty five Sikhs, he set out from Nanded for the
Punjab.

It is assumed that while moving at the head of a small
band of Sikhs who were known to be Sikhs of Punjab, Banda
Singh Bahadur kept a low profile, obviously to avoid any
hindrance at the hands of Mughal posts. Gradually and slowly
his small band reached the outskirts of the province of Delhi.
Before marching into the Punjab, Banda Singh Bahadur
thought it prudent to contact the Sikhs in Punjab so that he
may mobilize his military resources. For that he established
his base camp in the vicinity of Sehari and Khanda, two
villages in the pargana of Kharkhoda near Sonepat.'’ From
here, he dispatched the letters of Guru Gobind Singh
enjoining upon the Sikhs of Punjab to join and support the
intended campaign against the faujdar of Sarhind. Similarly,
the Sikhs accompanying him wrote to their relatives and
friends informing them about the mission assigned by the
Guru to Banda Singh Bahadur and requested them to rally
round his standard. The Sikhs of Punjab responded to the call
very enthusiastically. Even some of the Sikhs like Ali Singh
and Mali Singh who were employed under the Mughal
administration of Sarhind left their jobs and rushed to meet
him.! The Sikhs of Malwa who were nearer to the base camp
lost no time and without any fear and hesitation came forward
to support the campaign with men and material.’> Most of the
people were fired with religious fervor and belonged to
agriculturist and professional classes. In order to consolidate
his position, Banda Singh Bahadur took initiative to win over
the confidence and support of local people who readily
promised to provide provisions on the condition of security
and protection to them." In a couple of months, Banda Singh
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20 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

Bahadur had rallied round himself a considerable body of
Sikhs equipped with traditional arms. Its armed strength was
sufficient to confront with the pargana level Mughal
administration. Persian sources inform that first of all, Banda
Singh Bahadur raided Sonepat which was not far away from
his base camp. According to Muhammad Shafi Warid, the
faujdar of Sonepat could not withstand the Sikh attack and
fled to take shelter in Delhi.'* The taste of first victory was
not only a morale booster, it also helped Banda Singh
Bahadur to assess the striking power of the Sikh body under
his command. Satisfied over the victory, subsequently step by
step. he took control of all the parganas situated on the south-
east of Sarhind.

In November 1709, he occupied an important seat of
Mughal administration, Samana, which was a serious blow
to the authority of Wazir Khan." From there instead of
* heading towards Sarhind, he made his way to the north-east
of Sarhind up to Sadhaura in the foot-hills of Shivalik. He
very carefully and systematically decimated all the strongholds
of Mughal administration.'® A number of Mughal and Afghan
zamindars including the Sufi Pirzadas settled in this area
were the strong allies of Wazir Khan. They had enjoyed
political authority and revenue-free grants for generations
and thus formed the back-bone of Mughal administration.
However, because of their haughty and atrocious behaviour,
they had lost the goodwill of common people. Banda Singh
Bahadur expelled the Mughal revenue collectors from these
parganas and appointed his own people on these posts.
Having secured Sadhaura, Banda Singh Bahadur encamped
here for a couple of months obviously to make preparations
to attack Wazir Khan, the faujdar of Sarhind. News of his
military exploits against the Mughal zamindars and officials
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had won the hearts and sympathy of the masses. Soon it
caught the imagination of people who had no qualms to join
in uprooting the corrupt and unjust Mughal rule. We are told
that until now Banda Singh Bahadur had assembled thousands
of armed persons recruited chiefly from the countryside and
lower strata of society.

It may be mentioned that when Banda Singh Bahadur
was busy in wiping out the Mughal authority in the north-east
of Sarhind, at the same time the Sikhs in and around Amritsar
had also arisen against the Mughals."” For the Sikhs, Sarhind
was a cursed city and to attack it with a motive to punish its
tyrannical administrator was just like a holy war for them. A
considerable body comprising the Sikhs of Majha and Doaba
had set out to join the intended Sikh attack on Sarhind. Before
invading Sarhind, Banda Singh Bahadur thought it prudent to
wait for a while until they arrived in the neighborhood of
Sarhind. It was very much desirable and crucial to supplement
his military resources in the form of men and material. Wazir
Khan had dispatched a column of Mughal soldiers under the
command of Sher Muhammad Khan of Malerkotla to
obstruct the Sikhs from crossing over the river Sutlej near
Ropar.'® However, it could not thwart the Sikhs from their
intended advance to join the main Sikh body which under the
command of Banda Singh Bahadur had arrived at Banur. He
came forward to receive them somewhere between Banur and
Kharar and pitched his camp on a strategically located high
ground of Chapparchiri. Obviously, count down for the Sikh
attack on Sarhind had begun.

So far, Wazir Khan, who was considered a very competent
and experienced Mughal administrator and was known for his
ruthlessness, had fully realized the gravity of the Sikh uprising.
He knew well that the Mughal reinforcement to his rescue was
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22 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

nowhere to come from. However, to deal with the imminent
crisis of Banda Singh Bahadur’s invasion, he had mobilized
all available military resources in the recent months. He had
also stockpiled arms, ammunition and batteries of artillery,
besides giving a call to the Muslim populace to join the holy
war against the Sikhs. Although he knew well the chief
objective of Banda Singh Bahadur, yet he had not ventured out
to confront the Sikhs who had taken control of most of the
parganas under his jurisdiction. The Sikh build-up in the
ground of Chapparchiri, which was so close to Sarhind, could
not be overlooked any more. Ultimately, Wazir Khan at the
head of a strong Mughal army comprising horsemen, foot
soldiers, matchlock men and bowmen supported by canons
and elephants marched out of Sarhind, to give a fight to the
Sikhs. Our sources reveal that in the ensuing battle, that took
place on 12 May 1710, initially Mughal army led by Wazir
Khan had an upper hand."” However, Banda Singh Bahadur
personally joined the battle front and prevailed upon the Sikhs
to hold their ground. Encouraged by his presence, the Sikhs
fell upon the Mughal batteries of artillery and elephants with
such a tremendous force that in the ensuing fight enemy’s
battle lines were thrown in disarray.” It turned the tables on the
Mughals. Subsequently, confusion arose in the Mughal ranks.
Wazir Khan was killed along with some leading Mughal
nobles. The baggage of the Mughal army, canons, horses and
elephants fell into the hands of the Sikhs. When news of the
rout of Wazir Khan and his army in the battle of Chapparchiri
broke out, many of the traders, bankers, well to do Muslims,
Mughal nobles and ulemas of Sarhind fled and took the road
to Delhi.”!

Next day after the battle of Chapparchiri, the Sikhs led
by Banda Singh Bahadur invaded the fort of Sarhind. Though,
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there was a feeble resistance, yet it could not match the fervor
of the Sikhs. Consequently, on 14 May 1710, the town of
Sarhind was fully in control of the Sikhs.” There are
conflicting reports about the fate and treatment of its
inhabitants at the hands of the Sikhs. Most of the Mughal
chronicles allege that Banda Singh Bahadur put the whole
city to plunder, indulged in large scale killing of the Muslims
and desecrated the Muslim places of worship.” At the same
time, Akhbarat-i-Darbar-i-Mualla reports that Banda Singh
Bahadur had issued strict orders to the Sikh soldiers that there
should be no harm to the civilians and their property.** Having
taken control of Sarhind, Banda Singh Bahadur went on to
occupy the area towards the west of Sarhind.* According to
the cotemporary chronicles, the writ of Banda Singh Bahadur
was so large and effective that Asad Khan, vicegerent and
governor of Delhi province of which Sarhind formed a part,
did not dare to move out of Delhi to confront the Sikhs.*
Now, the province of Sarhind comprising twenty eight
parganas extending from Ludhiana on the left bank of river
Sutlej in the west to Taraoari in the east, yielding revenue of
Rs. 36 Lakh was under the control of Banda Singh Bahadur.
Firstly, he thought it fit to establish its administrative set up.
Though he was a novice, yet very judiciously he worked over
to evolve the administrative set up and successfully established
the Sikh rule over this area. For example, Baz Singh who had
accompanied him from Nanded was appointed the governor
of Sarhind and Ali Singh was made his deputy; Bhai Fateh
Singh was given the charge of Samana whereas Ram Singh
and Binod Singh jointly held Thanesar.”’ Muhammad Shafi
Warid, a contemporary historian testifies to the fact that: “In
the parganas occupied by the Sikhs, the reversal of previous
customs was striking and complete.” He further adds: “A low

IStRhBookCLub . com!



24 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

scavenger or leather-dresser, the lowest of the low in Indian
estimation, had only to leave home and join Banda Singh
Bahadur and, in a short span of time, he would return to his
birth-place as its ruler, with his order of appointment in his
hand. As soon as he set foot within the boundaries of his
village, the well-born and wealthy went out to greet him and
escort him home. Arrived there they stood before him with
Jjoined palms, awaiting his orders.”” Banda Singh Bahadur
repaired the old depleted fort of Mukhlisgarh, renamed it as
Lohgarh and made it the capital of Sikh rule. It was strategically
situated on a hillock in submontane area of Sirmaur hills.
Here, he struck the coin in the name of Guru and also issued
a seal which was put on official documents of Sikh rule.”
When Bahadur Shah was busy in the Deccan to suppress
Kam Bakhsh, the Rajput chiefs had again resorted to
rebellion. The Mughal sources reveal that in November 1709,
the Emperor had also got the news of Sikh uprising in the
Punjab.* It compelled Bahadur Shah to make haste to the
Hindustan. Accordingly, he crossed Narbada on December
25, 1709 to reach in the vicinity of Ajmer on May 15, 1710.
On the intercession of Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan, Bahadur
Shah had to adopt conciliatory approach to settle the issue
with the Rajputs.”’ When the negotiations with the Rajputs
were going on, the Sikhs under the leadership of Banda Singh
Bahadur had taken possession of Sarhind on May 12, 1710.
Muhammad Hadi Kamvar Khan, the author of Tazkirat-ul-
Salatin Chughatayia informs that the news of Wazir Khan’s
death in the battle of Chapparchiri and subsequently the
occupation of Sarhind by the Sikhs was brought to the notice
of Bahadur Shah on May 20, 1710, when he was approaching
Ajmer on his return march from the Deccan.’® Bahadur Shah
thought it prudent to resolve the Rajput crisis at the earliest
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as the uprising of the Sikhs under Banda Singh Bahadur was
of more serious nature.

On June 21, 1710, Bahadur Shah patched up with the
Rajputs and thereafter devoted his full attention to quell the
Sikh uprising in the Punjab. Our sources confirm that under
the leadership of Banda Singh Bahadur, the Sikhs had not only
expelled the Mughal officials, subsequently to establish their
own authority in and around Sarhind but had also subdued the
Hill-chiefs who had allied with Wazir Khan against Guru
Gobind Singh. In October 1710, the whole of Jalandhar-Doab
had come under the control of the Sikhs.* The Sikhs of Majha
were already up in arms against the Mughals. With the
exception of Kasur and Lahore, they over-ran the whole Bari-
Doab tract and were fully in control of Guru ka Chak
(Amritsar).* Aslam Khan, the Mughal subadar of Lahore was
no match to contain the Sikh rebellion. As the Sikhs had
started hitting the outskirts of Lahore, its security was in great
danger. Muhammad Qasim Lahori informs that the ulemas of
Lahore tried to whip up religious frenzy of Jihad against the
Sikhs but failed to evict them from the country side parganas
in their control.® Towards the end of 1710, the Sikhs had
become virtually the masters of a large tract extending from
Panipat to Pathankot.* The Mughal commanders who had
been assigned the military campaign to suppress the Sikhs had
very little or limited success. It brought the Emperor to the
battle scene in the Punjab to personally supervise the campaign
against Banda Singh Bahadur. The alacrity with which Banda
Singh Bahadur moved from one place to another. coupled
with his power to strike the Mughal centers of power, was a
serious challenge to the Mughal authority. Consequently, the
Emperor ordered a general mobilization of all the Mughal
forces in and around Delhi and also called for volunteers for
Jihad against the Sikhs.
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Towards the end of November 1710, Bahadur Shah at
the head of a huge battle train encamped at Sadhaura. Besides
the three Shahzadas, prominent Mughal nobles such as Khan-
Khanan Munaim Khan, Rustam Dil Khan, Muhammad Amin
Khan, Mahabat Khan, Hamid Khan, Feroz Khan Mewati,
Sattarsal Bundela, Raja Udit Singh Bhadoria etc. were the
Mughal commanders who were heading the different wings
of Mughal army that had besieged the fort of Lohgarh.”
However, in the beginning of December 1710, after giving a
fight to the Mughal forces, Banda Singh Bahadur had made
good his escape into the Sirmaur hills. For more than three
months Bahadur Shah remained encamped in Sadhaura in the
hope that the Mughal army with the help of Hill-chiefs would
be successful in arresting him. A lot of pressure was put upon
the Raja of Nahan but it was all in vain. Meanwhile reports
of disturbances at the hands of the Sikhs towards the side of
Lahore had started pouring in. On 6 March 1711, Rustam Dil
Khan brought the news that the Sikhs were assembling in the
area surrounding Lahore.” The Emperor was informed that
Banda Singh Bahadur has appeared in the Bari-Doab where
he has waylaid the parganas of Kalanaur and Batala.” It was
also reported that the provincial capital city of Lahore is not
safe from the Sikh onslaughts.*” On 11 March 1711, it was
reported to the Emperor that Bayzid Khan (also known as
Qutubuddin Khan), the faujdar of Jammu and his nephew
Shamas Khan, the former fawjdar of Jalandhar-Doab had
been killed in a battle with the Sikhs.*' There was strong
apprehension in the Mughal circles that Banda Singh Bahadur
might be thinking to invade the city of Lahore.* We find that
the Mughal provincial authorities of Lahore including the cry
of Jihad by the ulemas of Lahore were of no consequence to
contain the Sikhs. We observe that the theatre of Sikh war had
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shifted close to the provincial capital of Lahore and the
situation was worsening day by day. Thus, once again
Emperor Bahadur Shah was compelled to mobilize all the
military resources including that of the Rajput chiefs in order
to suppress the Sikhs.

Subsequently, on 22 March 1711, the Emperor
commenced on his march towards Lahore and en route on 7
April 1711, he was again informed that the Sikhs were moving
in the vicinity of Lahore and they had set up their chowkis in
the Bari-Doab and Kehlur hills and the zamindars of the
surrounding areas including that of Jammu had associated
themselves with the Sikhs.* Before the situation went out of
control, on 5 May 1711, the Emperor ordered Muhammad
Amin Khan to move at the advance guard towards Lahore and
expel the Sikhs from there. Similarly, on 14 May, Rustam Dil
Khan was also assigned to go ahead and exterminate the
Sikhs.* According to the Mughal chronicles, in May-June
1711, a couple of times the Mughal army engaged the Sikhs
in pitched battles, but in spite of inflicting heavy casualties on
the Sikhs, it failed to apprehend the Sikh leader.* Towards the
beginning of August 1711, the Emperor had arrived in Lahore
but we find that towards the beginning of September 1711,
Banda Singh Bahadur had very skillfully and tactfully shifted
again the theatre of war to the Shivalik and Sirmaur hills.
Evidence at hand confirms that with the exception of a few
cities, the Sikhs had again occupied the areas around Sarhind
and Sadhaura.* Bahadur Shah died in February 1712, without
fulfilling his desire to exterminate the Sikhs. It may be
mentioned that during Bahadur Shah’s reign prohibitory
orders against the Sikhs were passed and to identify them, all
the Hindu officials employed in the imperial army were asked
to shave off their heads and beards.*’ To exterminate the Sikhs
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as a religious community, the Emperor had issued a general
order for all the Mughal fawjdars to kill the Sikhs wherever
found.® All these draconian measures could not deter the
Sikhs from their fight against the Mughal rule.

With the death of Bahadur Shah on 16-17 February
1712, the war of succession broke out among the Mughal
princes. Though, on 19 March 1712, Jahandar Shah had
ascended the throne but his short reign was marked by court
intrigues and political instability. It may be mentioned that
when the Mughal princes were busy in internecine dispute,
there was complete anarchy, chaos and instability in Delhi.
It offered an opportunity to Banda Singh Bahadur to re-
establish his authority over the area that he had once ruled.
He sallied out from his haven of Jammu hills and moving
with a lightning speed in May 1712, once again took control
of Sadhaura and Lohgarh.* Zainuddin Khan, the new faujdar
of Sarhind on 22 May 1712, informed Jahandar Shah of this
development when he was on his way to Delhi and was
camping at Sarhind.® The Emperor ordered to raise a new
army and, to deal with the Sikhs, assigned the campaign to
Muhammad Amin Khan and Zainuddin Khan. Some
reinforcement from Lahore was also dispatched to assist
them.” Though, Muhammad Amin Khan supported by other
Mughal nobles laid a siege of Lohgarh, but it was of no avail.
Desultory warfare continued for some time. In the meantime
Farukhsiyar, who was at Patna at that time, had set out for
Delhi to lay his claim to the Mughal throne. However, in the
wake of this crisis, towards the end of December 1712,
Muhammad Amin Khan was asked to abandon the Sikh
campaign and was called to Delhi,” obviously to assist
Jahandar Shah in the forthcoming war of succession. Zainuddin
Khan, the faujdar of Sarhind who was left behind to deal with
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the Sikhs half-heartedly continued the campaign but without
any success. Thus, before the ascension of Emperor
Farukhsiyar in Feburary 1713, Banda Singh Bahadur was
fully in control of Lohgarh.

We find that the war of succession that was fought on
31 December 1712 in the environs of Agra had sealed the fate
of Jahandar Shah. Farukhsiyar followed it up and marched
towards Delhi. On 2nd February 1713, he left Khizrabad and
marching in a state into Delhi, took possession of the palace
in Red Fort.>* For a few days, he remained busy in making
new appointments and bestowing rewards on choicest Mughal
nobles. In order to refurbish the Mughal administration in the
Punjab on 12 February 1713, he appointed Abdus Samad
Khan, the subadar of Lahore and his son Zakariya Khan was
made faujdar of Jammu. The father-son duo supported by
other Mughal commanders was given the assignment to expel
Banda Singh Bahadur from Sadhaura.>® Evidence at hand
suggests that Abdus Samad Khan took quite some time to
take up this assignment; perhaps, he was reluctant to lead the
Mughal campaign against the Sikhs. Anyway, we are informed
that on 28 June 1713, the Emperor was informed that on 22
June 1713, Abdus Samad Khan along with other Mughal
commanders had besieged the fortress of Sadhaura.” As
Banda Singh Bahadur and his companions had made good
preparation and were well entrenched in Lohgarh, they were
quite successful to keep the Mughal army at bay for about five
months. However, compelled by shortage of provisions
Banda Singh Bahadur on 16 November 1713, again quietly
retreated into the Sirmaur hills to the utter embarrassment of
Abdus Samad Khan.*®

Though, he had disappeared into the hills, but the
Akhbarat-i-Darbar-i-Mualla reports confirm that the Sikhs
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were active in Sarhind, Sunam, Ropar, Bari Doab, Kehlur and
Jammu hills and by their depredations they had kept the
Mughal faujdars of Punjab on their tenterhooks.”” On 11
March 1714, it was reported that Banda Singh Bahadur
intended to go towards Batala.*® Vakil reports of 24 February
and 28 February 1714 refer to his takeover of the parganas
of Kalanaur and Batala.” On 19 March 1715, it was reported
that the Sikhs have taken control of Bari-Doab area. It adds
further: “They had reached up to a distance of 12 kos from
the city of Lahore. The faujdar of that district had fled away.
The people had run away from their parganas and had come
to live in the towns. In the mahals or territories referred to
above the rebels had set up their own government.”® On
hearing these reports, Emperor Farukhsiyar was very much
annoyed with Abdus Samad Khan for his failure to curb the
Sikhs. Subsequently, strict orders were issued to him to
immediately march against Banda Singh Bahadur who had
entrenched with his companions in the mud fort of Gurdas
Nangal. Besides asking a host of hill-chiefs, a number of
Mughal nobles were ordered to proceed with their men and
material to reinforce the army of Abdus Samad Khan. Thus,
began a long siege in the annals of military history which was
a litmus test of the Sikh spirit of defiance and determination
as they were made to fight against heavy odds.

The Mughal chronicles confirm that in April 1715, Baba
Banda Singh Bahadur and his associates were besieged in the
mud fort of Gurdas Nangal. After eight months’ long siege. the
plight of the Sikhs in the fort had become highly critical. They
were starving to the point of death. At last on 7 December
1715, Baba Banda Singh Bahadur and his Sikh companions
fell into the hands of the besiegers.”” They were taken
prisoners. Firstly, they were taken to Lahore from where they
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were taken in a victory procession to Delhi and presented
before the Emperor. On the order of Emperor Farukhsiyar, the
carnage of the Sikhs began on 5 March 1716, opposite the
Chabutra Kotwali in Delhi and one hundred Sikhs were
executed every day.* Though, they were offered remission on
the condition of their conversion to Islam but none of them
renounced his faith.® Before his execution in accordance with
the imperial order, Baba Banda Singh Bahadur was tortured in
full public glare in the most barbaric manner and on 9 June
1716, and thus he died as a martyr in the cause of Sikh Panth.*
To recapitulate, the Sikh rule established by Baba Banda
Singh Bahadur could not last long as it lacked the military
resources compared to the Mughal Empire. The foregoing
discussion reveals that Banda Singh Bahadur was not only a
brave soldier but also an astute statesman who may rightly be
called the harbinger of Sikh polity. His rule was no less than
a revolution in many of its socio-political aspects. Instead of
in his own name, he struck the coin in the name of the Guru.
It carried the following inscription on it:
Sikkah zad bar har do alam tegh-i-Nanak wahib ast
Fateh Govind Singh Shah-i-shahan fazl-i-Sacha Sahib ast ©
(By the grace of the True Lord is struck the coin in the two

worlds; The sword of [Guru] Nanak is the granter of all boons,
and the victory is of Guru Gobind Singh the king of kings)

He also issued a seal which was put on official
documents of Sikh rule. It carried the following inscription
on it:

Deg o teg o fateh o nusrat bedirang
Yaft az Nanak Guru Gobind Singh *
(The Kettle and the Sword (symbols of Charity and Power),

Victory and ready Patronage have been obtained from Guru
Nanak-Gobind Singh)
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Alike the Mughal sovereigns he renamed some of the
cities and towns.”” He started a new regal calendar that began
from the first year of the establishment of Sikh rule.*® He
abolished the much exploitative zamindari system and
conferred proprietary rights upon the cultivators of soil.
Socially speaking, it was quite a revolution.”” Muhammad
Shafi Warid, a contemporary Persian historian remarks: “A
Sikh soldier of lowly origin used to take food from the same
vessel along with a high ranking Sikh noble.”” Banda Singh
Bahadur also recruited Muslim soldiers into his army and
they enjoyed complete freedom of worship.” Some of the
Mughal officials viz, Nasir-ud-Din Khan, wagia-nawis of
Sarhind; Dindar Khan, a Ruhela noble etc. felt attracted to
Sikhism thus abandoning their faith joined the ranks of
Khalsa.” He tried his best to forge a grand alliance against
the Mughal Empire and for that invited the Rajput chiefs and
Hill chiefs to join in the Sikh struggle.” Unfortunately, it
could not mature due to the vested interest of Rajput chiefs.
His strategy of warfare and innovative methods to combat the
enemy speak volumes of his leadership in the battlefield. In
this way, the first Sikh rule that was established in the Punjab
under the leadership of Baba Banda Singh Bahadur was very
unique in its nature. Really, it had ushered in a new era in the
polity of Punjab. Banda Singh Bahadur was instrumental in
wiping out the Mughal authority from the country situated
between Panipat and Pathankot. He had made a serious dent
into the Imperial authority. It reduced the royal Mughal
dignity and status to dust. The myth of invincible nature of
the Mughal Empire was shattered to pieces. Politcally, it was
such a serious blow that Mughal Empire could not recover
from its effect and the process of its fait accompli i.e. down
fall had been initiated.
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On the basis of evidence, we can say that he was a
baptized Sikh and remained faithful to the Guru till the last
drop of his blood. Neither he was against the Muslims nor he
desired extermination of Islam. His mission of armed
struggle was not limited to punishing Wazir Khan, the faujdar
of Sarhind who was responsible for the martyrdom of the
Guru’s sons; in fact it was aimed at to throwing away the
corrupt, unjust and atrocious Mughal rule from Punjab.
Consequently, he established the first Sikh Rule and thus
gave a foretaste of political authority to the Sikhs. He
introduced reforms of far-reaching consequences in the
administration. He conferred proprietary rights on the peasantry
and the Sikhs belonging to lower castes enjoyed participation
in political authority. The First Sikh Rule established by him
extended from Panipat in the east to the outskirts of Lahore
in the west, and from Lakhi Jungle in the south to the hills
of Jammu in the north. Justice, righteousness and welfare of
the people were the principles of his rule. So in the matter of
polity, we can say that he was a forerunner of Maharaja Ranjit
Singh.
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Chronology and Subject Matter

Arzdasht No. 195; Magh Vadi 2, 1767 / Dec. 26, 1710
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh.
Informs that Emperor Bahadur Shah had encamped in
Sadhaura; Banda Singh Bahadur had escaped into the
hills of Nahan; Diwan of Raja of Nahan arrested;
Sattarsal Bundela prevailed upon Raja Bhup Parkash of
Nahan to present himself at the Royal court; Sattarsal
got permission to depart for his country; Khan Khanan,
Munaim Khan took custody of the Raja of Nahan, who
was disarmed and put under arrest; pressure put upon
him to produce Banda Singh Bahadur; arrival of the
Rajput chiefs eagerly awaited at the Mughal court.
Vakil Rep. No. 21; Magh Sudi 3, 1767 / Jan. 10, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Mughal Emperor puts pressure on the hill rajas to arrest
Banda Singh Bahadur; Diwan of the Raja of Nahan, who
was a Sikh of the Guru, arrested and tortured: mother of
Raja of Nahan submitted petition not to dishonour his
son as she is in search of Banda Singh Bahadur.
Vakil Rep. No. 23; Magh Sudi 11, 1767 / Jan. 19, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Informs about incessant rain, shortage of ration in the
royal camp, large scale casualties of horses and beasts
of burden; epidemic type situation at the battlefield;
Banda Singh Bahadur had moved further into hills,
besieged in a deserted house by the soldiers of Nahan
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and other hill chiefs; it was rumoured that he was
arrested but after giving a fight he had further slipped
into the hills; very difficult to arrest him.

Vakil Rep. No. 36; Magh Sudi 11, 1767 / Jan. 19, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
Whenever Banda Singh Bahadur is arrested, it will be
reported.

Vakil Rep. No. 25; Phagun Vadi 4, 1767 / Jan. 27, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

There was a rumour that Banda Singh Bahadur was
arrested and mother of Raja of Nahan is bringing him
along with his two ladies to the court but confirmation
of it is awaited; on January. 24, 1711 imperial camp has
moved away from Sadhaura; Emperor has ordered a gift
of jewellery valued Rs. one Lakh to the mother of Raja
of Nahan.

Vakil Rep. No. 27; Phagun Vadi 13, 1767 / Feb. 4, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Emperor set out for Saharanpur and Buria; Khan
Khanan, Munaim Khan indisposed; Banda Singh
Bahadur supported by 8000 horsemen and foot soldiers
still in the hills, well prepared to give a fight; due to
heavy snow, passage blocked and hill chiefs could not
arrest him; movement of the Emperor not certain but
there was a rumour that he will go to Guru ka Chak
(Amritsar) via Ludhiana.

Vakil Rep. No. 27; Phagun Sudi 2, 1767 / Feb. 8 , 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Informs that Emperor has encamped in Buria, prince
Jahandar Shah has gone on a hunting spree; Banda Singh
Bahadur after giving fight to the forces of Nahan is
reported to have gone towards Kulu-Bhuntar.
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Vakil Rep. No. 37; Phagun Sudi 2, 1767 / Feb. 8 , 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Banda Singh Bahadur has escaped into the hills of Kulu-
Bhuntar; description of the cage which had been made
to imprison Banda Singh Bahadur.

Vakil Rep. No. 33; Chait Vadi 8, 1767 /March 1 , 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

The Emperor has encamped near Saharanpur; fear of
Banda Singh Bahadur is so wide spread that the Mughal
officials and general public do not move out of the cities.
Vakil Rep. No. 351; Chait Vadi 13, 1767 /March 6, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Informs that Rustam Dil Khan assisted by Hamid Khan
and Isfandyar Khan has been deputed to chastise Banda
Singh Bahadur who had appeared in the hills of Kulu;
it is said that an army of 40000 soldiers is at his
command; the impact of Sikh uprising very severe in the
direction of Lahore.

Vakil Rep. No. 311; Chait Vadi 14, 1767 /March 7, 1711
Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It refers to the politics at the Mughal court, dissension
and disunity among the princes; the Sikhs have
established complete sway up to the outskirts of Lahore,
consequently city’s outer market has moved inside the
city.

Vakil Rep. No. 44; Chait Sudi 5, 1768 / March 13, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

The Mughal army has set out towards Lahore; the
Rajput chiefs asked to join the Mughal forces with
immediate effect; the Sikhs had occupied Guru ka Chak
(Amritsar), they had beaten back Shamas Khan and
Bayzid Khan who had gone there to expel them: the
Sikhs are preparing for assault on Lahore; the Rajput
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chiefs have lost the earlier opportunity to eliminate
Banda Singh Bahadur but now they have got another
chance to liquidate the Sikhs, let it should not go waste;
each stage of royal halt en route to Lahore has been fixed.
Vakil Rep. No. 45; Chait Sudi 9, 1768 / March 17, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

The Emperor is very eager to march into Lahore; there
was a news that Shamas Khan and Bayzid Khan have
been killed in a battle with the Sikhs; proposal to
dispatch Shahzada Jahandar Shah towards Lahore with
the motive to liquidate the Sikhs; the Raja of Nahan
imprisoned in the cage: strong apprehension in the
Mughal circles that many more zamindars of the ilk of
Raja of Nahan may join the Sikhs.

Vakil Rep. No. 46; Chait Sudi 12, 1768 / March 20, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It confirms the death of Shamas Khan and Bayzid Khan
in a battle with the Sikhs; people of Batala have fled
away in the wake of Sikh attack; Emperor ordered to
chop off the head of wagia-nawis for dispatching such
a nasty report; halts and stages have been fixed for
Emperor’s march towards Lahore.

Vakil Rep. No. 47; Chait Sudi 15, 1768 / March 23, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

The Emperor marching rapidly towards Lahore along
the Shivalik hills; ordered the imprisonment of Raja of
Nahan in Salimgarh (Delhi); it is the opportune time to
join the Emperor in his campaign against the Sikhs.
Vakil Rep. No. 48; Vaisakh Vadi 1, 1768/ March 24, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
Informs about Inayatullah Khan’s growing influence at
the royal court and his advice to the Rajput Rajas to join
the Emperor immediately; the Rajas feared arrest as
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Mahabat Khan had already betrayed the Raja of Nahan
resulting in his imprisonment; the Sikhs have arisen in
and around Guru ka Chak and have extended their
control up to Shahdara (Lahore); third stoppage of the
Emperor would be at Ambala.

Vakil Rep. No. 49; Vaisakh Vadi 11, 1768 / April 2, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Informs that the Emperor is immobilized because of
baltod (boils); express orders issued to the Rajas asking
them to join the expedition against the Sikhs; rise in
price of grain in the royal lashkar, consequently scarcity
of ration.

Vakil Rep. No. 50; Vaisakh Vadi 13, 1768 / April 4, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Rustam Dil Khan informed that the Sikhs have created
great disturbances towards the side of Lahore; he may
be assigned the expedition to expel them; the Emperor
told that he himself will be going there.

Kharita No. 58; Vaisakh Sudi 6, 1768 / April 13, 1711;
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
Information regarding revolt of Banda Singh Bahadur
has already been submitted; advises the Rajput chiefs to
reach immediately at the royal court.

Vakil Rep. No. 51; Vaisakh Sudi 11, 1768/ April 18, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

In response to an enquiry it reports that Raja of Nahan has
been put in the prison of Salimgarh (Delhi); the Emperor
arrived in Chhat-Banur, bridge over Sutlej getting ready;
animals of the people of Sadhaura taken away by the
Sikhs; Vanjaras of that place helping the Sikhs.

Vakil Rep. No. 52: Jeth Vadi 5, 1768 / April 26, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
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It informs about the plan to celebrate the fifth anniversary
of accession of Bahadur Shah on the Mughal throne on
the banks of river Sutlej; the Emperor gave Ropar a new
name of Jahangirpur; strategy to establish a base camp
of Mughal army at Ropar with the objective to block
egress and ingress of the Sikhs into the hills; Rustam Dil
Khan requested the Emperor to assign him expedition to
suppress the Sikhs which was accepted; it was reported
that Aghar Khan and his son and others are trying their
best to defend Lahore; security of Lahore from the
onslaughts of the Sikhs is at great risk; presence of the
Rajput chiefs in the Royal court at this juncture will be
of great benefit. <
Vakil Rep. No. 55; Jeth Vadi 14, 1768 / May 5, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It refers to politics at Mughal court, talks about disunity
and jealousy among the princes; restrictions on the
Mughal nobles on their meetings with the princes.
Vakil Rep. No. 260; Jeth Sudi 3, 1768 / May 9, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It states that Banda Singh Bahadur has established
himself at Kalanaur; the Hindus and Muslims are
joining his army; the Emperor has crossed the river
Sutlej and advancing towards Kalanaur; Muhammed
Amin Khan along with Raja Mohkam Singh has been
assigned expedition against the Sikhs.

Vakil Rep. No. 57; Jeth Sudi 11, 1768 / May 17, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Informs about high handedness of Rustam Dil Khan in
levying the toll at the bridge on Sutlej; the Emperor
displeased over it; Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan’s
confrontation with Rustam Dil Khan over the bridge;
devastation in rain and hailstorm; Bassi Pathanan
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attacked and Pathans put to sword by the Sikhs;
everywhere authority of the Sikhs on the rise; rumours
that Banda Singh Bahadur will go towards Lakhi Jungle.
Vakil Rep. No. 59; Asadh Vadi 8, 1768 / May 28, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Banda Singh Bahadur has moved towards river Ravi;
Hamid Khan devastated the villages around Kalanaur of
which people had joined the Sikhs; Banda Singh Bahadur
came back, confronted Hamid Khan and defeated him in
a battle near Kalanaur; he has recruited many people into
his army; Rustam Dil Khan asked to build a bridge over
Beas at Rohila Ghat (Sri Hargobind Pur).

Vakil Rep. No. 261; Asadh Vadi 8, 1768 / May 28, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It mentions that on the instigation of Mahabat Khan. the
Mughal soldiers clashed with the pay master, Hidayatullah
Khan, over non-payment of their salary; Emperor
annoyed over this happening; Banda Singh Bahadur
has vacated Batala and it is rumoured that he may go
towards Lakhi Jungle.

Kharita No. 59; Asadh Vadi 12, 1768 / June 1, 1711
Choube Jeth Mal to Lala Nihal Chand

Though the Mughal army has established its camp at
Batala but it could not confront the Sikhs as Banda Singh
Bahadur has a good number of horsemen at his command;
the Sikhs put Batala to plunder; there is no one who can
take upon the Sikhs.

Vakil Rep. No. 61; Asadh Vadi 14, 1768 / June 3, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Informs that Mahabat Khan had enquired about the
movement of the Rajas and reason of their delay as there
were various types of allegations regarding the intention
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of the Rajput chiefs; the Emperor displeased with
Mahabat Khan over the mishandling of case relating to
the Rajas; expedition against the Sikhs has been assigned
to Muhammad Amin Khan and Rustam Dil Khan.
Vakil Rep. No. 60; Asadh Vadi 14, 1768 / June 3, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Banda Singh Bahadur has moved beyond river Ravi; it
is also said that he has escaped into the hills of Jammu:
Muhammad Amin Khan is giving a hot pursuit; there are
strong apprehensions in the official circles about the real
motives of the Rajput chiefs; overall impression at the
court is that they will never turn up at the Mughal court;
Ajit Singh (adopted son of Mata Sundri) has an audience
with the Emperor; Guru ka Chak (Amritsar) conferred
upon him in jagir.

Arzdasht No. 203; Asadh Sudi 5, 1768 / June 9, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
Services of the Rajput chiefs are urgently required to
deal with the crisis of Banda Singh Bahadur; Muhammad
Amin Khan and Isa Khan Manj engaged the Sikhs in a
battle near Sialkot; Banda Singh Bahadur slipped into
the hills of Jammu; there were rumours that he has been
captured; writer wishes that he ought not to be captured
thus Emperor may remain entangled in this country.
Kharita No.73; Asadh Sudi 9, 1768 / June 13, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Bihari Das

. It refers to a report from Agra that Kharag Singh and

other Sikhs have been captured; from them a letter of
Banda Singh Bahadur written to the Rajput chiefs was
recovered; such type of negligence is very harmful and
in future be careful; Banda Singh Bahadur is said to have
gone towards Lakhi Jungle with a motive to reach Ajmer.
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Vakil Rep. No. 62; Asadh Sudi 10, 1768 / June 14, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Banda Singh Bahadur has inflicted heavy casualties on
the Mughal forces and escaped into the hills; Muhammad
Amin Khan, Isa Khan Manj and zamindars of the area
are after him; shops of bankers accompanying royal
entourage robbed.

Vakil Rep. No. 17; Asadh Sudi 11, 1768 / June 15, 1711
Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

After giving a fight to Muhammad Amin Khan and
Rustam Dil Khan, Banda Singh Bahadur has forced his
way into the hills of Jammu: it is rumoured that he will
go towards Daber.

Vakil Rep. No. 66; Sawan Vadi 5, 1768 / June 24, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
Divulges differences between Mughal nobles; the Mughal
soldiers misbehaved with the pay master over non-
payment of their pay; consequently Mahabat Khan fell
from grace of the Emperor, Rajas were advised to put
their stay in the vicinity of Kurukshetra and wait for the
grant of their jagir; Muhammad Amin Khan, Rustam Dil
Khan and other zamindars are in pursuit of Banda Singh
Bahadur, rumoured that he will go towards Bareilly.
Vakil Rep. No. 67; Sawan Vadi 13, 1768 / July 2, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
Emperor remarked that though two encounters had
taken place but the Mughal army failed to apprehend
Banda Singh Bahadur; no Mughal noble dares to march
against the Sikhs; strategy to fight the Sikhs that one
column of Mughal army be stationed towards the east of
river Beas and another in the foothills of Shivalik; the
Emperor ordered the Rajput chiefs to take position on
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the left bank of river Sutlej and chastise Banda Singh
Bahadur in case he makes his appearance there.

Vakil Rep. No. 63; Sawan Sudi 3, 1768 / July 7, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

The Emperor crossed the river Beas, royal camp flooded
because of sudden spurt of rain water and bridge over
river Beas washed away: Banda Singh Bahadur has
slipped into the hills, he has a large force at his command
and the Mughal army assisted by the hill chiefs is
pursuing him hotly; the author advises the Rajas to move
slowly in case of rain and encamp near Kurukshetra.
Arzdasht No. 90; Sawan Sudi 14, 1768 / July 17, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
Amir-ul-Umra, Muhammad Amin Khan is said to have
been assigned the expedition to subdue Banda Singh
Bahadur; Emperor would stay in Lahore; from there he
intends to go to Ajmer.

Vakil Rep. No. 70; Bhadav Vadil, 1768 / July 19, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan and Mahabat Khan deeply
concerned over the delay and lame excuses on the part
of Rajput chiefs as Emperor is very much annoyed over
their delay; assures them that their interest will be taken
care of; Banda Singh Bahadur is in the hills and Rustam
Dil Khan has gone to chastise him; Emperor encamped
at Chamiari which is at a distance of 15 kes from Lahore.
Vakil Rep. No. 72; Bhadav Vadi 11, 1768 / July 30, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Instead of presenting at the Mughal court the Rajput
chiefs were ordered to move quickly and take position

‘at Sadhaura.

ArzdashtNo.212; Bhadav Sudill, 1768/ August 13, 1711
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
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Emperor encamped near Shalimar garden in Lahore; due
to heavy rain surroundings flooded; Banda Singh Bahadur
still in the hills; Rustam Dil Khan has established
Mughal army’s camp in the foot-hills; the Rajput chiefs
have arrived in the vicinity of Delhi.

Vakil Rep. No. 75; Dutia Bhadav Vadi 2, 1768 / August
19, 1711

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Informs that during the month of Ramzan the Emperor
would stay in Lahore; Banda Singh Bahadur encamped
on the bank of river Beas: according to the author now
it is the opportune time for the Rajas to liquidate Banda
Singh Bahadur; advises the Rajas to comply with the
royal edict and set out immediately for Sadhaura.
Vakil Rep. No. 76; Dutia Bhadav Vadi 5, 1768 / August
22, 1711

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
Negotiations of Vakil of Jaipur with Mughal officials
regarding the grant of jagir to the Rajput chiefs; firstly
arrive at Sadhaura then put a petition to the Emperor.
only then the order of sanctioning of jagir will be issued.
Vakil Rep. No. 77; Dutia Bhadav Vadi 5, 1768 / August
22, 1711

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Refers to consultation over the issue of royal order
regarding jagir to the Rajas; the Emperor would stay for
a couple of months in Lahore: Banda Singh Bahadur has
moved towards Sadhaura.

Vakil Rep. No. 79; Dutia Bhadav Vadi 9, 1768 / August
26, 1711

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Rustam Dil Khan and Muhammad Amin Khan ordered
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to cross river Beas and chastise Banda Singh Bahadur;
Rustam Dil Khan ignored royal order and returned to
Lahore; Emperor annoyed, ordered his arrest and
imprisonment.

Vakil Rep. No. 80; Dutia Bhadav Vadi 9, 1768 / August
26, 1711

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It refers to Rustam Dil Khan's imprisonment in the fort
of Lahore; explains the reason for his disgrace that
instead of supporting Muhammad Amin Khan and others
who were in pursuit of the Sikh leader, he had deserted
his position; it also refers that Banda Singh Bahadur has
ravaged the countryside:; consequently towns and cities
are deserted; after giving a fight to Muhammad Amin
Khan, he has escaped towards Sadhaura.

Vakil Rep. No. 265; Dutia Bhadav Vadi 9, 1768 / August
26, 1711

Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

After yearly jashan the Emperor will depart for Delhi;
month of Ramzan will be observed en route; Emperor’s
annoyance with Rustam Dil Khan is in the interest of the
Rajput chiefs; In this crisis no one is in good books to
whom the Emperor can assign the campaign of Sadhaura;
the rajas are requested to avail the opportunity and join
the Mughal expedition; also refers to acute shortage of
grain in the royal army;. unrest among the ulemas of
Lahore over the issue of khutba.

Vakil Rep. No. 143; Dutia Bhadav Vadi 10, 1768 /
August 26, 1711

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It informs that messenger along with the Parwanas
drowned when the boat in which he was crossing the
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river capsized; requests the Maharaja to instruct the state
officials that in future dispatch state papers wrapped in
a water-proof (momjama) bag; and put your petition
through the good office of Raja of Jaswan; it refers to
poll tax levied on the Hindu pilgrims on their entry into
Kurukshetra; consequently it would be levied on the
Rajas also; thus on reaching Karnal instead of advancing
towards Kurukshetra take the route of Sadhaura via
Indri.

Vakil Rep. No.81; Dutia Bhadav Vadi 11, 1768 / August
28, 1711

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It refers to Emperor’s displeasure over Raja Ajit Singh’s
conduct; Banda Singh Bahadur has again established his
camp in Sadhaura; it is the opportune time for the Rajas
to join the expedition against him; the Raja is advised
to put his petition for increase in mansab and jagir only
after taking position at Sadhaura.

Vakil Rep. No.83; Dutia Bhadav Vadi 13, 1768 / August
30, 1711

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

The writer advises Raja Jai Singh to prevail upon Raja
Ajit Singh and counsel him to render the Mughal service
with zeal; the Emperor has ordered the Rajas to confront
Banda Singh Bahadur at Sadhaura, liquidate him and
earn the royal favour.

Vakil Rep. No.317; Asoj Vadi 1, 1768 / September 16,
1711

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It informs that Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan enquired why
the Rajas were dilly-dallying campaign assigned to
them; the Vakil of the Rajas reminds the Shahzada the
fate of Munaim Khan and Rustam Dil Khan that they
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had met during their campaign against the Sikh leader:
strong apprehension in the Mughal circles that the Rajas
has entered into an alliance with Banda Singh Bahadur;
reports unrest in the Mughal army over non-payment of
salary.

Vakil Rep. No.90; Asoj Vadi 8, 1768 / September 24,
1711

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It deals with the uproar raised by the ulemas of Lahore
over the issue of khutba.

Vakil Rep. No.100; Katik Vadi 8, 1768 / October 23,
1711

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It informs that the Emperor has enquired from Mahabat
Khan about the decision taken regarding the case of
Rajput chiefs; it was submitted that in accordance with
the royal edicts both the Rajas have arrived at Sadhaura;
the Emperor wanted to know why the Rajas entertain so
much distrust?

Vakil Rep. No.106; Katik Sudi 6, 1768 / November 4,
1711

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It refers to the royal order that in case Banda Singh
Bahadur attacks Muhammad Amin Khan, eventually the
Rajas should rush to the support of him and liquidate the
Sikh leader.

Vakil Rep. No.114; Maghshir Sudi 9, 1768 / December
7, Yl :

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
Informs that Mahabat Khan has asked the Rajas to stay
for a few more days in Sadhaura in order to quell Banda
Singh Bahadur; however before the gurjbardar arrives
the Rajas had already departed.
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Vakil Rep. No.118; Pos Vadi 5, 1768 / December 19,
1711

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It refers to deployment of another column of Mughal
army under Hoshdar Khan in the Jalandhar Doab; the
royal edict that followed the earlier one, asked the
Rajput chiefs to remain stationed in Sadhaura until the
Mughal army under Hoshdar Khan takes its positions
there; due to misinformation on the part of their Vakils
the Rajas had already left Sadhaura; later on they were
asked to spare 1000 sawars each for deployment at
Sadhaura; ultimately they agreed to spare 500 sawars
each for the above purpose.

Vakil Rep. No. 121; Pos Sudi 10, 1768 / January 7, 1712
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It refers to efforts being made for the sanction of jagir;
the Maharaja after performing holy pilgrimage has left
Haridwar for homeward journey.

VakilRep.No.266; Phagun Sudi 13, 1768 /March 10, 1712
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Banda Singh Bahadur at the head of 4000-5000 Sikh
soldiers encamped in Sadhaura; people are joining his
ranks and fear of him in this pargana is vide spread;
Muhammad Amin Khan has marched from Sarhind
towards Sadhaura with a motive to confront him.
Vakil Rep. No. 267; Phagun Sudi 13, 1768 / March 10,
1712

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Banda Singh Bahadur has occupied Daber and writing
letters to different places; faujdar of Ambala has
mobilized an army of 1200 sawars and Sher Afghan,
faujdar of Ujjain has also arrived in Panipat; they will
jointly take action against the Sikhs.
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Vakil Rep. No. 270; Chait Vadi 13, 1769 / March 24,
1712

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
Shahzada Jahandar Shah has succeeded on the Mughal
throne; refers to politics at the Mughal court, confusion
and corruption regarding the confirmation of jagirs;
talks about new assignments and promotion of Mughal
nobles; jealously among the Iranian and Turani nobles.
Vakil Rep. No. 145; Vaisakh Sudi 8, 1769 / May 3, 1712
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Informs about the new appointments to the various posts
at the Mughal court; preparations for war of succession
with Farukhsiyar.

Vakil Rep. No. 286; Jeth Sudi , 1769 / May, 1712
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It informs that Banda Singh Bahadur has reoccupied
Mukhlispur; fort constructed; the Sikh thanas established;
Muhammad Amin Khan has engaged him in fighting;
now he is preparing for an attack on Lohgarh.
Arzdasht No. 145; Vaisakh Vadi 1770 / April 1713
Chaube Jeth Mal to Maharaja Jai Singh

Muhgal army is preparing for attack on Lohgarh; Abdus
Samad Khan has taken position there and pitched battle
is expected; Banda Singh Bahadur encamped inside the
fort; has made good preparation to give a tough fight to
the Mughal army.

Arzdasht No. 139; Bhadav Vadi 12, 1770 / August 6,
1713

Chaube Jeth Mal to Maharaja Jai Singh

Lohgarh besieged by the Mughal army; heavy down-
pour; the Sikh strategy of warfare and fortification of
Lohgarh; sudden Sikh attacks on the Mughals.
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Arzdasht No. 161; Asoj Vadi 3-5, 1770 / August 27-29,
1713

Chaube Jeth Mal to Maharaja Jai Singh

It refers to Abdus Samad Khan's plan to raid Lohgarh
and Staragarh; clashes between the Mughal and Sikh
forces and losses on the side of Mughals; impression
about Abdus Samad Khan that he is a coward and there
is no unity among the Mughal nobles.

Vakil Rep. No. 245; Chait Vadi 6, 1771 / February 24,
1714

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

Refers to widespread disturbances created by the disciples
of Guru Nanak; people of Lahore scared; Abdus Samad
Khan assigned the expedition to punish the Sikhs.
Vakil Rep. No. 244; Chait Vadi 10, 1771 / February 28,
1714

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It describes that pargana of Batala has been way laid by
the followers of Guru Nanak; the Sikh uprising is of very
serious nature; consequently the security of city of
Lahore is at great risk and people are greatly scared of
the intended attack by the Sikhs; Abdus Samad Khan has
been asked to come back from his campaign against the
Bhattis of Multan; and supported by other nobles he has
been assigned the campaign to expel the Sikhs.

Vakil Rep. No. 282; Bhadav Sudi 11, 1772 /August 29,
1715

Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai Singh

It informs that Emperor Farukhsiyar suffering from
fistula: treatment by the European doctor; pargana of
Sarhind laid waste by the Sikhs; Tagarab Khan failed to
deposit the stipulated money (ijara) in the royal treasury.
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Origin and Nature of the Documents

The state of Rajasthan, popularly known as Rajputana, the
land of Rajputs, is situated in the southwest of Punjab. Before
the independence of India, it comprised a number of Rajput
principalities of which Jaipur, Jodhpur, Jaisalmer, Bikaner,
Udaipur, Alwar, Kota and Bundi were the prominent ones.
Besides the tradition of chivalry, Rajputana is well-known for
its rich cultural and literary heritage. Even in the present
times, it abounds in rich collections of manuscripts preserved
in various private as well as public libraries. Being away from
the invading hordes coupled with moisture free weather of
Rajasthan, these documents were less prone to the vagaries
of time. The Rajasthani sources with which we are concerned
with are basically found in archival form. Before finding way
to their new house i.e. Rajasthan State Archives, Bikaner, this
material since its origin had been in the custody of erstwhile
state of Jaipur. These documents have come to us in various
forms, namely Furmans, Vakil Reparfs. Arzdashats, Kharitas,
Khatoots, Siyah Hazur, Dastur Kaumwar, Wahis, and
Vanshavalis. Presently, we are only concerned with the first
three categories of which many of the documents date back
to the seventeenth century. Before proceeding further these
categories of documents deserve a brief introductory comment
on their origin and nature.

It is well known that during the medieval times, the
Kachhwaha Rajputs of Jaipur held a considerable political
clout at the Mughal court. Since the times of Emperor Akbar,
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they had come under the Mughal suzerainty and had joined
the mansabdari system to serve the Mughal Empire. Besides
holding independent charges of their principality, they served
the Mughal administration in the capacity of subadars and
participated in the Mughal campaigns as well. Since they
were not obliged to attend the Mughal royal court in person,
thus to manage their affairs they had appointed their
representatives at the royal court who were known as Vakils.
Their chief responsibility was to take care of the interest of
their master, besides keeping a vigil on the parties and politics
at the Mughal Court. They used to move with the royal camp
and whenever required they held discussions on the issues of
mutual concern with the Mughal authorities. Whatever the -
Mughal court desired from the Jaipur house, it was first
conveyed to its Vakils. Similarly, the demands and petitions
of the Rajas of Jaipur were put up in the royal court by these
Vakils. There is no denying the fact that these Vakils were
highly professional courtiers and their duties and functions
were very much akin to the modern day diplomats. They used
to send their dispatches for their masters in Jaipur. These
dispatches were known as Vakil reports. These reports are
found written in pre modern Devnagari and Persian as well.
Bulk of these reports is now preserved in Rajasthan State
Archives, Bikaner: Similar to the Vakil reports, there is
another category of documents which are called Arzdashis.
Literally speaking, the word Arzdasht means a petition
submitted by a lower level person to a superior authority. In
the present case, these Arzdashts are the dispatches of Jaipur
Vakils that had been addressed to their master at Jaipur.
However on close examination we do not find much
difference between a Vakil report and an Arzdasht. Another
category of documents relates to the Kharitas or Khatoots.
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These are the letters that had been exchanged between the
Rajput states and their officials. The word Kharita in Persian
means a bag; and because of the confidential nature of
correspondence these letters were enclosed in a bag and hence
they were known as Kharitas. Obviously, all these documents
owe their origin to different factors and persons.

A cursory glance over these documents reveals that these
documents have been recorded in Devnagari script. But its
orthographical features are not identical with the modern
Devnagari script. The orthographic style varies and absence
of vowels is quite visible in many of the documents. One may
also come across documents recorded in coded language.
Sometimes vowel signs are missing and abbreviations have
been employed. Words and phrases are not separated but
joined by a line at the top. Similarly, no sign of punctuation
or full-stop has been used to complete a sentence. All these
factors make it quite difficult and cumbersome to decipher
the documents properly and satisfactorily. A good working
knowledge of the pre-modern Rajasthani language and its
nuances is a pre-requisite for venturing into this field.
Similarly, prior knowledge of the milieu, its events and
characters participating in it may prove of immense help for
proper understanding of the text.

These documents are attributed to different persons and
out of them Pancholi Jagjiwan Das, Bhandari Khiwasi and
Jeth Mal figure out prominently. Compared to the Kharitas,
the Vakil reports and Arzdashts carry a very few corrections
and additions. We are not sure whether the above mentioned
Vakils had recorded themselves or they had the services of
professional scribes at their disposal. These documents are
recorded in medieval Rajasthani/Marwari language which
betrays influence of Dhundari, the language of eastern
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Rajasthan. There is a fair sprinkling of Persian vocabulary
and it carries a strong flavour of phrases taken from the local
dialects of Rajasthan.

Majority of the documents begin with an invocation
such as Sidhi, Shri Gopal Ji Sahay and Shri Ram Ji. Then the
author resorts to customary salutation to the Maharaja,
eulogizes him in superlative terms and then to prove his
fidelity and faithfulness pays him his obeisance in a most
submissive and humble manner. In many cases author refers
to the date on which earlier report had been submitted. Then
the author takes a broad variety of issues and places them
according to their significance and priority. These issues may
deal with military campaigns, revolts, battles, promotions,
assignments, confirmation of jagirs and parties and politics
at the Mughal court. All the documents carry date at the end.
In case the issue undertaken by the author requires more
details than dates of events mentioned in it are recorded in
chronological order. Dates have been recorded in accordance
with the Bikrami/Samat (lunar) calendar. In this regard the
authors were very particular because along with the date,
month and year, day of the week also finds mention. Even in
some cases particular place of recording and time of dispatch
have been mentioned. The date on which these dispatches
were received in Jaipur, has been marked on the reverse side
of the last page of the document. On the basis of our
experiénce, we can say that the accuracy of these dates is
beyond any doubt.

It is worth noting that these are the reports that were
submitted by the Vakils of Jaipur who were either present at
the battlefield or were witnesses to the developments taking
place at the Mughal imperial court. These reports provide
significant insights into pre-modern Indian diplomacy at
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work. They also present a fine example of communication
and information gathering apparatus and a peep into the
functioning of medieval Indian bureaucracy. These documents
also offer contemporary evidence on the eighteenth century
Sikh-Rajput and Sikh-Jat relationship.

A close look at the Rajasthani documents under discussion
reveals that unlike the contemporary Mughal chroniclers, the
authors of these documents do not betray any religious
prejudice against Banda Singh Bahadur in particular and the
Sikhs in general. Neither they found him an enemy of Islam
nor did they depict him a blood thirsty monger who indulged
in large scale killing of the Muslims. Similarly, in these
documents we do not come across any incidence which is
remotely concerned with the desecration and destruction of
Muslim places of worship by the Sikhs. On the contrary these
sources testify that thousands of Muslims had joined the Sikh
army on their own or voluntarily to fight against the unjust
and corrupt Mughal administrators of Punjab.! Significantly,
the authors of these documents do not address the Sikhs in
a derogatory and uncivilized manner and do not indulge in
foul language to denigrate them.

We also observe that compared to their Persian
counterparts, the authors of Rajasthani sources discuss the
developments taking place at the Mughal court in more detail
and do not hesitate to comment upon the parties and politics
at the royal court; the environment of dissensions and
intrigues that had resulted in disunity among the Mughal
ranks. The authors of these documents were eyewitness to the
rivalry among the Mughal princes;” how the Mughal royal
house was divided into two rival groups;’ the way Mughal
nobility had been split into two opposite ethnic factions of
Iranis and Turanis; instances of insubordination on the part
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of high profile nobles like Rustam Dil Khan;’ disputes of
princes with high ranking nobles:® the Mughal officials’
indulgence in corruption and extortion;’ dissent among the
Mughal soldiers on account of non-payment of their salaries;"
controversy over the khutba and uproar of the ulemas of
Lahore on this issue;” all these incidents which had been
down played by the contemporary Mughal chronicles, find
adequate coverage in the Rajasthani sources under discussion.
The factors given above suggest that there was no discipline
and unity in the ranks of Mughal army.

These sources reveal that Emperor Bahadur Shah was so
sure of his success against Banda Singh Bahadur that he had
already got made a special cage in which he desired to
imprison him."” But to his dismay, Banda Singh Bahadur not
only gave a tough fight to the Mughal army, but also
succeeded in, making good his escape into the Sirmaur hills.
The Emperor had put a lot of pressure on the Raja of Nahan
and subsequently waited in vain for almost three months that
the hill chief assisted by the Mughal army would be
successful to apprehend him. While the Emperor was still
camped in Sadhaura, Banda Singh Bahadur had very tactfully
and swiftly shifted the theatre of war to the Bari-Doab. It took
the imperialists by surprise as they were caught napping and
thus were totally ill-prepared to meet the exigency.

An analysis of the documents under discussion suggests
that before Banda Singh Bahadur’s entry into the Bari-Doab,
the Sikhs of this area were already up in arms against the
Mughal authorities. A Vakil report of 6 March 1711, confirms
that impact of the Sikh uprising is very severe in the direction
of Lahore." Another report of 7 March 1711, mentions that
the Sikhs have established complete sway up to the outskirts
of Lahore and consequently the suburban markets of Lahore
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have moved into the city.”? Similarly, a report of 13 March
1711, states that Shamas Khan and Bayzid Khan along with
1500 sawars had raided Guru ka Chak (Amritsar) to expel the
Sikhs from there but they were beaten back and now the Sikhs
were preparing for assault on Lahore.”” Notably, a Vakil
Report of 20 March 1711 mentions that when the Emperor
was informed of the death of Shamas Khan and Bayzid Khan
in a battle near Batala, besides the desertion of this pargana
by its people, he was so angry with the report of wagia-nawis
that he ordered to chop off the head of him for dispatching
such a nasty report.' It reflects Emperor’s restlessness and
frustration over the utter failure of Mughal campaign against
the Sikhs. Interestingly, three more Vakil reports that were
submitted on 24 March, 4 April and 26 April 1711, affirm that
the Sikhs have arisen in great number in and around Guru ka
Chak and have extended their control up to Shahdara near
Lahore;" the disturbances created by the Sikhs are very
serious;'® and because of the Sikh onslaughts security of
Lahore is in great danger."” Resultantly, the Emperor was
compelled to make haste towards Lahore where he died in
February 1712 without accomplishing his cherished desire to
exterminate the Sikhs as a religious community.

These sources inform that when Bahadur Shah was en
route to Lahore and was still in the vicinity of Rahon, that on
May 17, 1711, he got a very disturbing news that the Pathans
of Bassi Pathanan, a village near Sarhind who so far had
defended themselves from the Sikhs, came under their attack
and the whole Pathan tribe had lost their lives.' These reports
suggest that the Mughal authority was confined to the urban
centers, whereas the countryside was in the possession of the
Sikhs. On 28 May 1711, in a battle fought across the river
Ravi, the Sikhs had an upper hand over the imperialists.'® In

iSTkhBookClLub. com



Origin and Nature of the Documents 61

May-June 1711, Banda Singh Bahadur had evicted the
Mughal officials from the parganas of upper Bari-Doab. It
was reported that he might go towards Lakhi Jungle with a
motive to reach Ajmer.”” What was the objective of such a
move, in the absence of evidence, it is only a matter of
speculation. As we will discuss later on, perhaps Banda Singh
Bahadur desired to establish a Sikh-Rajput axis with a view
to fight against the Mughal Empire. However, instead of
going towards Lakhi Jungle, Banda Singh Bahadur had made
a tactical retreat across the river Ravi. The Vakil reports under
study describe in detail a pitched battle fought between the
Sikhs and the Imperialists at Chaprari near Pasrur and inform
that after inflicting heavy casualties on the Mughal forces,
Banda Singh Bahadur had slipped into the Jammu hills.*' On
2 July 1711, it was reported that *he is still in the hills but it
is also in the air that he may go towards Sadhaura.”® There
is enough evidence to prove that in the wake of Mughal war
of succession after the death of Bahadur Shah, Banda Singh
Bahadur lost no time to re-occupy his seat at Lohgarh. For the
Mughals, in spite of the mobilization of a huge army, the
situation was back to square one.

Another fact that emerges out of these documents is that
the majority of the Mughal nobles did not dare to march
against Banda Singh Bahadur. Chaube Jeth Mal in his
Kharita dated June 1, 1711, observes that there is no one
among the Mughal nobles who can take upon the Sikhs.”
Even the Mughal grandee and war veteran like Rustam Dil
Khan feared Banda Singh Bahadur so much that in spite of
the strict royal order, he had withdrawn from the battlefront,
subsequently to face the royal wrath.** The Emperor was
highly disappointed to know that the Mughal forces had
failed to put full pressure upon the Sikhs. He had realized that
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‘no one in the Mughal army has the courage to confront
Banda Singh Bahadur.'® An Arzdasht of 6 August 1713
depicts the battle lines in a vivid manner and rgmarks that the
Mughal soldiers lacked courage to challenge the Sikhs.*
Similarly, another Arzdasht of 27-29 August 1713 by Chaube
Jeth Mal alleges that Abdus Samad Khan, the commander of
the Mughal army that had besieged Lohgarh at that time, was
totally a coward.”” Obviously, such an army and its officers
could not accomplish the mission assigned to them.

Besides the spirited resistance on the part of the Sikhs,
there were some unforeseen factors that had a heavy toll on
the Mughal army. A Vakil report of 19 January 1711 describes
the battle scene of Sadhaura that: “There has been incessant
rain for the last five weeks. And even for a ghari there has
been no respite from it. Besides the soldiers, camels, oxen and
horses have perished in such a big number that it is beyond
description. The scarcity of grain is very acute and consequently
supply of ration has been obstructed. Prices of grain have shot
up.”?® Other reports also testify to the fact of exorbitant
charges of grain, acute shortage of supply in ration for
soldiers and fodder for the animals of royal laskar.* The
authors of these reports do not miss to include incidents of
hail storms, flash floods and washing away of bridge built
over river Beas. All these factors were severe deterrent in the
smooth movement of the Mughal army and its morale.

An analysis of these documents reveals that Banda
Singh Bahadur enjoyed the support and goodwill of masses.
A Vakil report of 9 May 1711 discloses that he has established
his camp in Kalanaur and many of the Hindus and Muslims
were joining his army.** Another report of 28 May 1711
besides reiterating the same fact informs that the Mughal
army had destroyed so many villages only because the people
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of these places had joined the Sikhs.” Another report
mentions that Vanjaras settled around Sadhaura were the
supporters of Banda Singh Bahadur.* It is a fact that Banda
Singh Bahadur enjoyed the support of several hill chiefs.
There were strong apprehensions in Mughal circles that if the
Raja of Nahan was not punished, then many more zamindars
of his ilk could join the Sikhs.** A close reading of these
reports suggests that the Mughal officials knew well that
Banda Singh Bahadur had established his contact with the
Rajput Rajas with a view to forge an alliance against the
Mughal Empire. All these developments were detrimental to
the interests of Mughal Empire

One can glean from these reports that tactical retreat into
the hills, swift and sudden attacks on the Mughal centres of
power and constant shift in theatre of warfare had convinced
the Mughal Emperor that to suppress the Sikh uprising was a
gigantic task. Thus he was compelled to redraw his strategy to
contain the Sikhs. A Vakil report of 26 April 1711 unfolds that
while celebrating fifth anniversary of his coronatior, the
Emperor told the Shahzadas and nobles that: “We are going to
establish a military camp at Ropar and all of you build your
havelis here. I have renamed it Jahangirnagar. It is strategically
located because Shahjahanabad and Lahore are at equal
distance from it. The entry of the passage that leads into the
hills will be closed. Neither the hill chiefs could come to the
help of the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] nor he would be able
to escape into the hills.”* There is no doubt that the Emperor
besides mobilizing the resources of Mughal Empire tried hard
to enlist the support of hill chiefs. Similarly, he worked over
time to exhort the Rajput Rajas to join the Mughal campaign
immediately. According to the new strategy, one column of the
Mughal army was to be deployed to the east of river Beas,
another was to be stationed in the foot-hills of Shivalik while
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the Rajput Rajas were asked to take position on the left bank
of river Sutlej.”® A Vakil report of 19 December 1711 refers to
the deployment of Mughal army under Hoshdar Khan in
Jalandhar Doab and the Rajas were asked to remain stationed
with their sawars at Sadhaura and if need be help Muhammad
Amin Khan to suppress the Sikhs.** However, all these
measures remained inconsequential as shortly after reaching
at Sadhaura the Rajput Rajas had left for their regions.

These reports also disclose that pilgrimage tax was
levied on the Hindus whenever they paid a visit to their holy
places like Kurukshetra. It seems that even the Hindu nobles
and soldiers who formed part of the Mughal army, were not
exempted from it. Significantly, we come across a Vakil report
of 7 January 1712, which advises the Rajput Rajas that while
marching towards Sadhaura, instead of passing through
Kurukshetra, they should take another route because of the
imposition of the above-mentioned tax by the Mughal
government.’” We are also informed that the Sikh uprising
had also hit hard on the revenue collection of the Mughal
Empire. One comes across reports that the Mughal zamindars,
jagir holders and revenue collectors had deserted their
villages and had fled away to safer places. To face this crisis
so many villages were declared as khalisa.* Similarly, a Vakil
report of 29 August 1715 refers to a petition put before
Emperor Farukhsiyar that Tagarab Khan who had got the
pargana of Sarhind on jjara in lieu of Rs. 52,00.000, had
failed to deposit the money in the royal treasury because it
was laid waste by the Sikhs under Banda Singh Bahadur.* In
fact the effect of Sikh struggle under Banda Singh Bahadur
on the economy and fiscal system of the Mughal Empire has
not yet been properly explored by the scholars.

The commitment, speed and force with which Banda
Singh Bahadur struck at the Mughal centres of power were
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astounding. He was such a par excellence leader and
charismatic personality that he could inspire and fire the
imagination of his companions in an amazing manner. He
was no less a military genius whose strategy of warfare to
fight a mighty and superior army speaks for itself. Two
Arzdashts of April 1713 and 27-29 August 1713 from the pen
of Chaube Jeth Mal not only describe the battlefront of
Lohgarh in a vivid manner but also underline the Sikh spirit
of bravery coupled with strategy of warfare evolved by Banda
Singh Bahadur.®

On the whole, these Rajasthani documents are of
immense value to understand the Mughal military strategy
and diplomacy that have been evolved by Mughal Empire to
suppress the Sikh struggle. Moreover, these documents bear
testimony to the fact that Banda Singh Bahadur desired to
forge an alliance with the Rajput Rajas with a view to liberate
the country from the Mughal yoke. This issue which has not
found adequate attention at the hands of historians has been
taken for discussion in the next chapter.
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Statesmanship of
Banda Singh Bahadur

An examination of Rajasthani documents reveals that Banda
Singh Bahadur was not only a military commander but also
an astute statesman. To overthrow the Mughal Empire, which
had vast resources, was not an easy task. He knew his
combatant ability and limitations as well. Exhibiting the
qualities of a true statesman, Banda Singh Bahadur worked
out a strategy to get together all the forces that were reeling
under the atrocities and unjust rule of the Mughals.' In the
immediate neighborhood of Punjab, Banda Singh Bahadur
successfully subdued those hill chiefs who had collaborated
with the Mughal faujdars in their campaign against the Tenth
Guru. Besides annihilating several of them by force he had
also entered into an understanding with some of the hill chiefs
who were somewhat dissatisfied with the Mughals. Muzaffar
Alam has aptly remarked that “It was with his tactfulness and
statesmanship and the demonstration of use of force that
Banda Singh Bahadur made the hill chiefs his allies. It
provided him easy excess to the hills.™ In this manner he had
no cause to worry about the hill chiefs who ruled from
Sirmaur in the east to Jammu in the northwest of Punjab. We
observe that whenever the exigency demanded, Banda Singh
Bahadur often slipped into the hills to avoid open battle with
the Mughals.

We have noted elsewhere that the Rajput chiefs of
Udaipur, Amber and Jodhpur had formed a triple alliance to
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fight against the Mughals.® Though, Bahadur Shah had
patched up with the Rajputs, yet Banda Singh Bahadur knew
the fragile nature of peace in Rajputana. In this situation, he
took initiative to form the Sikh-Rajput alliance which was of
great political consequences. Besides, it was beneficial to
both the Sikhs and the Rajputs. In fact, Banda Singh Bahadur
desired to capitalize upon the discontentment that was
simmering in the Rajputana. Unfortunately, however. Raja
Swai Jai Singh II of Amber and Raja Ajit Singh of Jodhpur
were still worried over their fortunes under the Mughal
Emperor, Bahadur Shah.* Our sources confirm that soon after
the occupation of Sarhind, Banda Singh Bahadur had opened
his communication channels with the Rajput chiefs of Amber
and Jodhpur.® A news report of 28 May 1710 that appeared
in the Akhbar-i-Darbar-i-Mualla, states: “It was brought to
the notice of the Emperor that Raja Jai Singh and Raja Ajit
Singh had got the letters of Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] and
their replies had been dispatched to him.”™® Though the
contents of the above letter are not known, yet we can imagine
that Banda Singh Bahadur was very anxious to form a Sikh-
Rajput alliance with the sole objective of overthrowing the
unjust Mughal rule.

We are of the knowledge that towards the end of
December 1710, Bahadur Shah had encamped at Sadhaura in
order to subdue the Sikhs and restore the Mughal rule in the
Punjab.” However, after giving a fight to the Mughal imperial
army, Banda Singh Bahadur had escaped into the Sirmaur
hills. But soon he appeared in the Bari-Doab where he
waylaid the parganas of Kalanaur and Batala subsequently to
expell the Mughal officials from there. Our sources confirm
that even the provincial capital city of Lahore was not safe
from the onslaughts of Sikhs.* Shamas Khan and Bayzid
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Khan the faujdars of Jalandhar Doab and Jammu respectively
had been killed in March 1711 in a battle with the Sikhs at
Behrampur near Gurdaspur. Atmosphere was rife with
rumours that Banda Singh Bahadur is contemplating to
invade Lahore. In these circumstances, the Emperor rushed
to Lahore to remain there till his death in February 1712.

A close look at the Rajasthani sources confirms that
from the very beginning of Imperial campaign in Punjab,
Emperor Bahadur Shah desired that Raja Jai Singh II and Raja
Ajit Singh should be roped in to be a part of the Mughal
expedition against the Sikhs. From 26 December 1710
onwards, we come across a number of Rajasthani documents
which reveal the pressure put upon the Rajput chiefs to arrive
immediately at the Mughal court.” We find that instead of
complying with the royal edicts, the Rajput Rajas had decided
to follow the wait and watch policy. There may be more than
one reason for it. As said earlier, Banda Singh Bahadur had
invited the Rajas to join him in his struggle against the
Mughals. So far the Rajas had not made up their mind.
Perhaps they were in a dilemma to choose between the two
options i.e. to join the proposed Sikh-Rajput alliance or to
support the Mughals against the Sikhs. Perhaps they were
unsure about the final outcome of the Sikh uprising as
compared to the Mughal Empire’s vast resources, Banda
Singh Bahadur had limited men and arms at his disposal.
However, before committing themselves to join the Mughal
forces, they wanted to extract maximum benefit in the form
of mansab and jagir from the Mughal government. We
observe that their Vakils present at the Mughal court were
working overtime to extract as much as they could.

We are informed that when Banda Singh Bahadur had
slipped into the Sirmaur hills, the Mughals had put a lot of

_ [STRhBookCLub. com|



70 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

pressure on the Raja of Nahan to arrest himi. But the troops
of Nahan were not good enough to deliver the desired result.
The imperialists thought that the Raja of Nahan might be
hand in glove with Banda Singh Bahadur. They feared that
in case the Raja is not punished for his alleged collaboration
with Banda Singh Bahadur, many more hill chiefs could join
the Sikhs." Therefore, they worked out a plan to deceive the
Raja and consequently impelled him to attend the royal court.
Ultimately, the Raja was arrested and put in prison."
Obviously, it was a breach of trust which had alarmed the
Rajput Rajas to be cautious of the Mughal designs. They were
not sure of the real intentions besides sincerity of the Mughal
Emperor. Thus, they were genuinely scared lest they should
fall into the trap and meet similar fate that had been meted
out to the Raja of Nahan. Therefore, neither the Rajas
disobeyed the royal edict nor commenced upon the intended
march. On one or another pretext they deliberately went on
dilly-dallying their proposed march to attend the Mughal
court. On 4 June 1711, Mahabat Khan, the third Bakhshi,
summoned the Vakil of Raja Jai Singh and told him that due
to the unusual delay on the part of the Rajas, his position at
the royal court has become precarious and his rivals are
leveling various types of charges against him.'? In another
report of 4 June 1711, the Jaipur Vakil describes that at the
Mughal court the Rajas are being condemned as liars and
unworthy of trust; impression in the imperial court is that they
would never present themselves at the court and who knows
for what purpose they have got together."” An Arzdasht of 9
June 1711 from the Vakil of Jaipur, rejoices that by the grace
of God he is quite hopeful that for a few more days Guru
(Banda Singh Bahadur) would not be captured so that the
Emperor may remain entangled in the Punjab.'*Another letter
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of 13 June 1711 from the Vakil of Jaipur to his colleague
unfolds the secret parleys that were going on between Banda
Singh Bahadur and the Rajput Rajas. It reads as under:

The report that has been received from Agra, the place of occurrence
that Kharag Singh and other disciples of the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] have been captured and from them a bag containing the
papers for Maharana Amar Singh (of Udaipur) was recovered. The
authors add that a copy of the farad of the wagia (report of incident)
has been dispatched...It further adds that negligence regarding the
letter of the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur| was not good on our part
as it has aggravated the situation very badly and in future we need to
be very careful. After thinking over the issue. whatever decision you
take, please write in detail to me... It is said that the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] has moved towards Lakhi Jungle in order to proceed
towards Ajmer. Whatever information you get from there please write
in detail to me."

It suggests that a letter from Banda Singh Bahadur meant
for Swai Raja Jai Singh IT of Jaipur had fallen into the hands
of the Mughal officials. In the Mughal court there was strong
apprehension that Banda Singh Bahadur may go to Ajmer via
Lakhi Jungle.”® It was a cause of serious concern for the
Mughals as his presence in Rajputana could have resulted in
the formation of Sikh-Rajput alliance which definitely was
not in the interest of Mughal Empire. We find that the Mughal
apprehensions in this regard were not totally unfounded.
Significantly, a news that appeared in the Akhbar-i-Darbar-
i-Mualla on 11 September 1711 informs that Swai Raja Jai
Singh II had got a letter from the Sikh leaders, namely Jai
Singh, Bakhat Singh, Bhagwan Singh and Kaur Singh. Its
contents are very revealing and worth quoting. It opens with
customary greetings of Fateh Darsan and remarks that:
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A letter in response to your letter had already been dispatched. It is
hoped you might have gone through it. By the grace of God we have
arrived in Kehlur that forms part (of the pargana) of Jammu. On the
occasion of Dusehira [Banda Singh Bahadur] intends to give a fight
to the Mughals in Kurukshetra. The Khalsa is on its march towards
Lohgarh. Now it is the time for Raja (Sawai Jai Singh) to put the
Mughals in trouble. It is high time to act upon the Dharma. Now the
time of Mughal Rule is over. The good mannered Raja is advised to
reach Kurukshetra. The Raja is also requested to get in touch with the
hill-chiefs of Hindur, Jaswan, Kehlur and Jammu, and prevail upon
them that this is the right time to act upon the Ksharriya Dharma, and
they should not extend any support to the Mughals."”

It reveals that correspondence between Banda Singh
Bahadur and the Rajput-chiefs was going on for quite a long
time. A Vakil report submitted on 16 September 1711 unfolds
that there were strong apprehensions in the Mughal court that
the Rajput Rajas were in league with Banda Singh Bahadur."
Meanwhile the Mughal authorities had been successful in
luring the Rajput Rajas to their side. We find that on getting
increase in their jagir and mansab, the Rajput Rajas
commenced on their march towards Sadhaura. Thereafter,
they did not entertain the Sikh overtures anymore. We are
informed that when Bahadur Shah was encamped at Lahore,
he received a report that Banda Singh Bahadur has appeared
near Ropar and may again go to Sadhaura. It compelled the
Emperor to redraw his war strategy vis-a-vis Banda Singh
Bahadur. Consequently, the Rajput Rajas were ordered to
move along with their troops to put up their camp on the left
bank of river Sutlej at Ropar. A Vakil report of November 4,
1711 reveals that it was also decided that whenever the
situation warranted the Rajput Rajas were asked to support
Muhammad Amin Khan who was in pursuit of the Sikhs."
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All these reports provide significant insight into the
proposed Sikh—Rajput alliance that was a cause of serious
concern for the Mughals. However, the alliance failed to take
off chiefly because of the indecisiveness as well as vested
interests of the Rajput-chiefs. Instead of entering into
collaboration with Banda Singh Bahadur with a motive to
throw away the Mughal yoke forever, they were satisfied to
hold on to their hereditary fiefdoms. Besides, on the basis of
assurances, they were expecting increase in their jagir or
mansab. In this regard they were constantly in touch with the
Mughal nobles, especially Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan and
Mahabat Khan who had promised them to take up their case
with the Emperor. Finally the Raja agreed to join the Mughal
campaign and according to a report of 21 September 1711,
Raja Swai Jai Singh Il and Raja Ajit Singh reached the
vicinity of Delhi for their onward march to Sadhaura.”
Another dispatch of 9 October 1711 informs that Bhup
Parkash, Raja of Nahan, who was imprisoned in Salimgarh
sent his emissary with a request to the Rajput Rajas to
intercede with the Mughals for his release from the prison.
The Rajas wrote back that they are the servants of the Mughal
Emperor and are on their way to Sadhaura.”' They advised the
chief of Nahan that he should write to his people at Nahan
that wherever the Sikhs are found they must be taken
captive.” Though the [ﬁajas along with their forces had put
a blockade around Lohgarh, yet Banda Singh Bahadur again
offered them to form an alliance with him. The Akhbar-i-
Darbar-i-Mualla of 30 November 1711 informs that Banda
Singh Bahadur wrote a conciliatory letter to the Rajas but the
Rajas spurned the offer in a highly undiplomatic manner as
they went on to kill the emissaries of the Sikhs, obviously to
prove their fidelity to the Mughal Emperor.” It further adds
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that: “*“Mubhammed Amin Khan wrote to Raja Jai Singh and
Raja Ajit Singh that if they jointly marched against the rebel
leader (Banda Singh Bahadur) they could capture or kill him
soon. The Rajas wrote in reply that the matter be reported to
the Emperor. In case the Mughal soldiers (of Muhammad
Amin Khan) were attacked by the rebels, they [the Rajas]
would immediately reach there.”™

It seems as soon as Swai Raja Jai Singh II and Raja Ajit
Singh got new assignments of subadars of Ahmedabad and
Soarath respectively besides other benefits. they left the
battlefront of Sadhaura. A Vakil report of 19 December 1711,
states that Raja Jai Singh and Raja Ajit Singh had departed
for their country.™ The Rajasthani records confirm that before
their return march to Rajputana, the Rajput Rajas visited
Haridwar to perform the piligrimage.”® We are informed that
as soon as the Rajput Rajas departed from Sadhaura, Banda
Singh Bahadur took no time to reoccupy it.”” We see the main
objective i.e. the subjugation of Banda Singh Bahadur for
which the Rajput Rajas had been called to Sadhaura was far
from accomplished. Our sources confirm that soon after the
Rajput Rajas left Sadhaura, Banda Singh Bahadur immediately
took possession of Lohgarh. A Vakil report of 10 March 1712
states that after re-occupying his capital Banda Singh Bahadur
was again busy in writing letters to different places.® It
indicates that he was still busy in mobilizing the people
against the Mughal rulers. Who knows he may again be
establishing his contact with the Rajput Rajas also.

The Mughal nobles, who entertained apprehensions that
the Rajput Rajas were in league with the Sikhs, had very
tactfully prevented the Rajas to enter into any understanding
with the Sikhs. To recapitulate, we can say that when the
Sikhs under the leadership of Banda Singh Bahadur were
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fighting with the Mughal Empire to establish their own rule,
the Rajput Rajas were sitting on the fence rather unconcerned.
They were satisfied to administer their hereditary principalities
under the suzerainty of the Mughal Emperors. We find that
they spurned Banda Singh Bahadur’s proposal of Sikh-
Rajput alliance which could have been a formidable challenge
to the Mughal Empire at that time. Who knows if the
proposed alliance had become a reality, then the downfall of
the Mughal Empire could have been hastened and the geo-
political scenario of the Indian sub-continent would have
been totally different. Anyway, the foregoing discussion
provides an insight into Banda Singh Bahadur’s statesmanship
which so far has not received adequate attention at the hands
of scholars.
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Sr. No. 1 Magh Vadi 2 (1767)
Arzdasht No. 195 December 26, 1710

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh acknowledges the receipt of a parwana of the Raja on
Poh Sudi 4 (Samat 1767, 13 Dec. 1710). It states that on Magh
Vadi 1 (Samat 1767, 10 Nov. 1710) the Emperor set out on
his march and has now encamped in the mauza of Sadhaura.
From here the stages of his advance march would be fixed to
the place where he decides to go. So far nothing is clear. The
writer informs that Diwan of the Raja of Nahan was insulted
by Nawab Khan Khanan. Handcuff and fetters were put on
and an iron collar was fixed around his neck and he was
thrown into the prison. It is said that he has written a
muchalaka (a bond, written agreement) to the effect that he
will produce the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. Nobody
knows whether he has signed it out of fear or he will really
be able to do it. The Raja of Nahan has been put under the
custody of a chauki. ...The writer informs the Raja that Khan
Khanan (Munaim Khan) enquired from him (author) about
the progress of the Raja’s (Swai Raja Jai Singh) march in
order to attend the Mughal court. He informed the Nawab that
the Raja has departed from Nai Sarai.' At this the Nawab
retorted that they (the Rajput chiefs) are marching very
sluggishly and for that they will have to bear the brunt. The
writer advises the Amber ruler that it would be better if Raja
Ajit Singh (of Jodhpur) accompanied him to the Mughal
court. In case he delays his departure, then it is my earnest
request that you should reach the court as soon as possible.

1. 3 KM from Narnaul on Delhi Road.
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On Magh Sudi 2 (Dec. 26, 1710) Bhandari Khivsi arrived at
the camp of royal army. ...

The writer adds that Raja Satarsal Bundela has deceived
the Raja of Nahan: that is why he came down from the hills
to present himself at the Mughal court. Raja Sattarsal
[Bundela] has got permission to leave and has départed for
his country. Subsequently, he had hardly covered one stage
when Mahabat Khan took custody of the Raja of Nahan and
presented him before Nawab Khan Khanan. Nawab enquired
from the Raja about the whereabouts of the Guru [Banda
Singh Bahadur]. The Raja replied that Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] forced his way and had passed through his country.
On this Nawab went into the enclosure and Mahabat Khan
followed him there. They signalled to the Mughal soldiers to
disarm the Raja of Nahan. The Raja was put into prison in
a ravti (small tent) in front of the deodhi (enterance, gateway)
of Nawab. In and outside the ravti a chouki has been deputed.
Raja of Nahan says that he has come to the court on the
persuasion of Nawab and was fully faithful to the Emperor.
Neither the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] is with him nor he
has given any shelter to him. The Nawab retorted that Raja
is telling a big lie. He asked the Raja either to produce the
Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] or be ready to face the
punishment that his Diwan has undergone. The Raja of Nahan
is accompanied by a yogi, who claims that he will produce
the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] at the royal court. Who
knows whether he is saying it out of fear or his claim is
trustworthy? [Magh Vadi 2, 1767].
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Sr. No. 2 Magh Sudi 3, 1767
Vakil Report No. 21 January 10, 1711

Arzdasht from Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh mentions that the Emperor has issued hasab-ul-hukm
and a gurjbardar has departed to deliver it to the Rajas of Hill
region to capture the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] wherever
he is found in their territory. Arzdasht from the Rajas has been
received wherein it is mentioned that Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] did not enter into their territory and he may be in
the hills of Nahan. The Emperor ordered Khan Khanan to
summon the Raja of Nahan and put him into prison until he
produces the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. Khan Khanan
(Munaim Khan) summoned the Raja of Nahan and enjoined
upon him to comply with the royal order. The Raja said to
him: ‘I have no knowledge of the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur].” He further told that his Diwan who is a Sikh of
the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]| may be in the knowedge of
his whereabouts. Diwan of the Raja was arrested and beaten
severely and consequently his survival is very difficult. On
the second day, the Emperor ordered Khan Khanan that mere
torturing of the Diwan will get you nowhere and instead he
should imprison the Raja and tell him that his country would
be laid waste if he did not present the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur]. Consequently, Khan Khanan has put the Raja into
prison and some of his people have fled away. Now the
mother of the Raja of Nahan has petitioned to the Emperor
requesting him not to dishonour her son any more. She also
said that she was searching for the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] and whenever she gets hold of him she will produce
him without any delay. Whatever will be the outcome, it will
be submitted later on. Dated Magh Sudi 3, Samat 1767.
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Sr. No. 3 Magh Sudi 11, 1767
Vakil Report No. 23 January 19, 1711

Arzdasht from Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh makes reference to earlier Arzdasht dispatched on
Magh Sudi 3 Wednessday (10 Jan. 1711) which might have
reached and the whole affairs might have been revealed. ...
It informs that there has been incessant rain for the last five
weel and there has been no respite from it even for a ghari
(22.5 Minutes). Besides the soldiers, a large number of
camels, bullocks and horses have perished that is beyond
description. The scarcity of grain is very acute and consequently
supply of ration has been obstructed. Prices of grains have
shot up. I have stocked my ration separately. There is no news
of the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. It is said he has sneaked
away from the territory of the Raja of Nahan and has gone
farther into the hills. The mother of the Raja of Nahan is the
sister of that hill-chief. She has gone to her brother to plead
that: ‘her son has been imprisoned and it looks he will be
freed only after death and for that you will be held
responsible.” Then the people of Nahan and of that hill chief
joined hands to search out the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]
who had got shelter in a deserted house. The joint militia of
the hill chiefs has engaged the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]
in a battle at that place. The Guru [Banda Singh Singh] has
no place to escape as beyond that abandoned house there is
a big range of snow covered mountains. Due to snow imperial
army cannot move there. The Emperor is pressing upon the
hill chiefs not to let the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] escape.
Some persons say that the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] has
been captured and some say he will be caught very soon.
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Whatever is the reality I will submit it later on. ...In the reign
of this Emperor (Bahadur Shah), Rustam Dil Khan has
become very powerful and his temperament is known to His
Majesty very well. With an army of 5000 cavalry, he is ready
to march towards Sarhind. I pray to God, the Imperial army
may move out from here at the earliest. I (author) visited the
camp of Raja Raj Singh who told me that the Guru [Banda
Singh Singh] has escaped from the territory of the Raja of
Nahan and has taken shelter at a place which is at a distance
of 80 kos from the boundary of Nahan and to get hold of him
is very difficult. It is also rumoured in the court circles that
today he will be produced at the court. Whenever he (Banda
Singh Bahadur) is produced, I will submit the report
thereafter. Dated Magh Sudi 11, Samat 1767.
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Sr. No. 4 Magh Sudi 11, 1767
Vakil Report No. 36 January 19, 1711

Arzdasht from Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh acknowledges with gratitude the receipt of parwanas
of the Maharaja issued on Magh Vadi 5 and Magh Vadi 8
received on Magh Sudi 3, Wednessday. Besides the other
matters, it informs that whenever the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] is captured the Maharaja will be duly informed. ...
Dated Magh Sudi 11, Samat 1767. Camp Sadhaura.

ISikhBookCLub . com|



English Translation of the Documents 85

Sr. No. 5 Phagun Vadi 4, 1767
Vakil Report No. 25 January 27, 1711

Arzdasht from Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh refers to the earlier Arzdasht dispatched on Magh Sudi
11. It informs that on Magh Sudi 11, Monday (Jan. 22, 1711)
a harkara (messenger) brought the news to the court that the
mother of the Raja of Nahan is bringing the Guru [Banda
Singh Bahadur] to present him before the Emperor. She is
encamped at a distance of 12 kos from the royal camp and has
submitted that Mahabat Khan may be ordered to come
forward to take custody of the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur].
Then chelas were dispatched to Mahabat Khan with an order
to bring the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] to the court in an
iron thorny cage that had been made solely for this purpose.
Along with the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] two of his wives
who have been captured should be brought in a chariot. Then
Mahabat Khan and Khan Khanan (Munaim Khan) went to the
royal court. Emperor ordered them to proceed with an armed
contingent and produce the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] in
the court. Khan Khanan submitted that his harkaras have
reported from the spot that though the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] has been captured but they are still on their way to
the royal court. Whenever he [Banda Singh Bahadur] comes
nearer, Mahabat Khan will go there to bring him to present
at the court. Then Emperor ordered Khan Khanan to dispatch
more harkaras with an urgent message to present the Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur] at the earliest. On Phagun Vadi 1
(Jan. 24, 1711) Emperor’s camp moved from this side of
Sadhaura to a camp at a distance of one kos further away from
Sadhaura. ...It is said that the Emperor has ordered ornaments
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of worth rupees one Lakh for the mother of Raja of Nahan.
Whatever is the truth, I will submit. Dated Phagun Vadi 4,
Samat 1767.

The author further informs that he arrived on Phagun
Vadi 2 (1767; Jan. 25, 1711), at the place where the royal
entourage was stationed.
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Sr. No. 6 Phagun Vadi 13, 1767
Vakil Report No. 27 February 4, 1711

Arzdasht from Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh makes reference to the earlier Arzdasht dispatched on
Phagun Vadi 4 Saturday (Jan. 27, 1711) which might have
been received. It informs that on Phagun Vadi 5, Sunday (Jan.
28, 1711) the Emperor enjoyed a jashan (celebration) and on
Phagun Vadi 7 (Jan. 30, 1711), Tuesday the royal entourage
set out for Saharanpur-Buria. It is rumoured that Emperor will
go to Shahjahanabad. ...For the last three days due to pain
caused by a boil in the nose, Khan Khanan (Munaim Khan)
is not attending the royal court. Due to severe cough Mahabat
Khan is suffering from tonsilitis and he is also not attending
the court. The Writer also mentions of his ill-health which is
because of severe cold and rain. Though he has taken
medicine prescribed by the ayurvedic practioner yet there is
no improvement in his health. ...Firstly there was a news that
Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] will be captured in a day or two
and produced in the court. Now news has come that due to
heavy snowfall all the passes have been closed. The mother
of Raja of Nahan has petitioned to the Emperor that: ‘Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur] is in our hills. Our people have
surrounded him but he could not be arrested because of heavy
snow. Whenever the snow melts, we will arrest him and
produce him at the royal court.’” This type of news is in
circulation for so many days. It is also said that the Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur] along with well-equipped 8000
horsemen and foot soldiers is ready to give a fight. Therefore
the Raja of Nahan is helpless to imprison him. It is also said
that he has already escaped and because of snowfall only
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some of his companions remain besieged there. Whatever
information is received will be submitted later on. The writer
adds that nothing is definite about the movements of the
Emperor. Firstly, there was a news that the Emperor will
march towards Ludhiana so that Sikhs of the Guru could be
subdued and expelled from Guru ka Chak (Amritsar). Now
the royal camp has moved towards Saharanpur-Buria. It is
also said that the Emperor will go to Shahjahanabad via
Main-Doab [Jamuna-Gang] route. Thus nothing is certain
about the Emperor’s campaign and his movements. On
Phagun Vadi 8, (Jan. 31, 1711) Wednessday, the Emperor set
out on his march and entered the royal camp quite late in the
night. On Phagun Vadi 11, Thursday the royal entourage again
took off and stopped at a place which is at a distance of 2.5
kos jaribi' from Saharanpur. ..It further adds that the
Emperor ordered the royal entourage to move from Saharanpur
and put up a camp at Mukhlispur where he will indulge in the
game of hunting. Information about the Mughal court will be
made known to His Highness from the report of Pancholi
Jagjiwan Das and the farad (list of events) of wagia (actual
place). Dated Phagun Vadi 13, Sunday Samat 1767.

1. Jarib, a chain/rope for measuring distance, the length of which was
22 yards.
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Sr. No. 7 Phagun Sudi 2, 1767
Vakil Report No. 29 February 8, 1711

Arzdasht from Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh makes a reference to earlier Arzdasht dispatched on
Phagun Vadi 13, Sunday. It informs that on Phagun Vadi 14,
Monday (Feb. 5, 1711), Shahzada Jahandar Shah submitted
to the Emperor that people have surrounded a lion near the
town of Indri and sought permission to go there for hunting.
The Emperor allowed the Shahzada and he has at once
departed for there accompanied by a detachment. It is
rumoured that Kokaltash Khan holds a jagir in Panipat and
has built a house there and possibly Shahzada will go there
to enjoy his hospitality. On Phagun Vadi 14, the Emperor

commenced on his march and the royal entourage stopped at
a place which is at a distance of 2 kos on this side of Buria.
Nawab Khan Khanan (Munaim Khan) has a severe pain due
to pus caused by a boil in his nose. Even leech was used to
drain out the pus yet there is no respite from the pain. Again
the use of leech is suggested, that is why Khan Khanan
(Munaim Khan) and Mahabat Khan have put up their camp
there; and (Bhandari) Khivsi and the author have also halted
there alongwith them... About the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]
there is a hot news in the royal army that he has escaped after
giving a fight to the people of Raja of Nahan. It is also said
that he has gone to the hills of Bhuntantar (Bhuntar near
Kulu) and that is why the Emperor is uncertain about the
future course of action and moving very slowly. ....Dated
Phagun Sudi 2, Samat 1767.
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Sr. No. 8 Phagun Sudi 2, 1767
Vakil Report No. 37 February 8, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh besides other affairs informs that the Guru [Banda
Singh Bahadur] is said to have escaped and gone towards
Bhutant (Bhuntar). It goes on to add that actually there is no
definite information about where he has gone. After getting
correct information, I (author) will submit the report later on.
An iron cage has been made to lock up the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] in it. It is made in such a way as it has nails on all
sides which prick the body of the imprisoned person so that
he remains standing all the time. It is loaded on a bullock-cart
which is parked outside the gulalwara (royal enclosure). The
writer further submits that Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan, Khan
Khanan (Munaim Khan) and Mahabat Khan all have
recommended time and again and the Emperor has also
ordered that Maharaja’s (Swai Jai Singh) attendance at the
royal court is required. So please reach the court without any
delay. ... Dated Phagun Sudi 2, Samat 1767.
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Sr. No. 9 Chait Vadi 8, 1767
Vakil Report No. 33 March 1, 1711

Arzdasht refers to the earlier one dispatched on third
hour of Phagun Sudi 12, Monday (Feb.19, 1711) which must
have reached and the fact of matter may have been revealed...
It further adds that on Chait Vadi 5, Monday (Feb. 26, 1711)
the Emperor got ready to set out on his march and entered the
royal camp put up near Saharanpur...

The writer adds that (because of the uprising of the
Sikhs) no one ventures out of the cities. Therefore the royal
army has taken longer route (to reach Lahore)... It is also
rumoured that the army of the Deccanis has crossed the river
Narbada and consequently disturbance in Deccan is of very
serious nature. Dated Chait Vadi 8 Samat 1767 dispatched at
noon. [Most of the text following above is in coded language
which is not easy to decodel].

ISikhBookCLub. com,



92 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

Sr. No. 10 Chait Vadi 13, 1767
Vakil Report No. 351 March 6, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh refers to an earlier Arzdasht which was written at noon
and dispatched on Chait Vadi 13 (Samat 1767; March 6,
1711) may have been received. It informs that Hamid Khan
Bahadur and Isfandyar Khan departed at the head of 15000
swars with the objective to liquidate the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur]. They have been put under the over all command
of Rustam Dil Khan. A dastak (written order) in the name of
Vijay Singh (Kuchhwaha) has been issued wherein he has
been asked to provide 300 sawars for the above-said force.
Let us see whether Vijay Singh would be able to fulfil the
promise or not. The Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] has
appeared in the hills of Kulu and Bhuntar. It is said that
40,000 sawars and foot-soldiers are with him. He appeared
from the hills and ravaged so many villages in the foot-hills
around Ropar. The revolt raised by the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] is fairly wide spread in the direction of Lahore.
Now let us see to which direction the Emperor resumes his
march. Detailed report will be submitted after getting correct
information. Dated Chait Vadi 13,1767.
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Sr. No. 11 Chait Vadi 14, 1767
Vakil Report No. 311 March 7, 1711

Arzdasht from Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh dispatched on Chait Vadi 14 informs that the Emperor
has very kindly issued a farman to both the Rajas imploring
them to attend the royal court. The reason for such an order
is that three Shahzadas (Jahandar Shah, Jahan Shah and Rafi-
ush-Shan) are on one side whereas Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan
and the Emperor are on the other side. All the three Shahzadas
are contemplating to raise a revolt. Emperor knows well that
he has been gracious towards the Rajput Rajas and they are
equally faithful to him. Thus their presence at the court at this
Jjuncture would certainly strengthen the position of Shahzada
Azim-ush-Shan. The writer adds that the Rajas have already
lost a good opportunity provided by the uprising created by
the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] to be at the royal court.
...Now the present opportunity must not be lost. It would be
highly beneficial if the Rajas arrive at the court at their earliest
convenience. Even Shahzada Azim-ush-Shah has personally
asked the writer to advise the Rajas to attend the court without
any delay. Mahabat Khan has also reiterated the same that the
absence of the Rajas at the court at this juncture is greatly
harmful to our interest. He says that the presence of the Rajas
at the royal court would have prevented our position from
deteriorating. In case they arrive immediately, it will restore
our position to the earlier one. The writer adds that the Sikhs
of the Guru have very strongly established their sway around
Lahore. The market which used to be held outside the Lahore
city has been abanodoned and now it has been set up inside
the city. [Chait Vadi 14, 1767].
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Sr. No. 12 Chait Sudi 5, 1768
Vakil Report No. 44 March 13, 1711

Arzdashr from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh states that on Chait Sudi 3 Sunday (March 11, 1711),
Emperor ordered Mahabat Khan to honour the mutsadis of the
Rajas with robes of honour and immediately summon the
Rajas to the court. Then on third hour of the day a general
assembly was held where the writer and his collegues were
ordered to inform the Rajas to present themselves at the royal
court immediately. Then Bhandari Khivsi, Gulal Chand,
Munshi Dodh Raj and the writer were conferred with robes of
honour. We received the royal order in the Diwan-i-Aam. It
further adds that on Chait Sudi 4 Monday (March 12, 1711) the
royal army commenced its march towards Lahore. The
immediate reason of it is that the Sikhs of the Guru at Guru ka
chak (Amritsar) have beaten back Shamas Khan and Bayzid
Khan who have gone there with an army of 1500 soldiers on
foot and horse back. Now they (Sikhs) are preparing to march
on Lahore, thus severe disturbances have taken place there. On
hearing this, Emperor ordered the Imperial army to set out on
its march in order to reach Lahore without any delay. The
writer submits to the Raja if His Majesty would have arrived
at the court on earlier occasion provided by the rebellion of the
Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] then all the issues related with
the Maharaja must have been resolved. Fortunately the
Maharaja have got another opportunity. Do not let it go as it
would be better if His Majesty joins the imperial compaign at
the earliest. The Emperor, Shahzada (Azim-ush-Shan) and
Mahabat Khan have repeatedly given so many assurances in
this regard. Each stage of royal halt has been fixed at a distance
of 5 kos. ... Dated Chait Sudi 5, Samat 1768.

[STRhBoORCLib ., com|



English Translation of the Documents 95

Sr. No. 13 Chait Sudi 9, 1768
Vakil Report No. 45 March 17, 1711

Arzdasht from Bhikhari Khivsi to Maharaja Jai Singh
refers to the earlier Arzdasht submitted on Chait Sudi 5
(March 13, 1711) and thereafter informs that initially Emperor
was very anxious to set out on his march towards Lahore. The
farad of wagia (statement of incident) confirmed that Shamas
Khan and Qutab Khan (Bayzid Khan) have been killed (by
the Sikhs). It is also rumoured that one of them is still fighting
(with the Sikhs) and the other has been killed. Then Emperor
ordered Shahzada Rafi-ush-Shan to inform Prince Jahandar
Shah to get himself ready to march towards Lahore as he has
been assigned the expedition to liquidate the Guru [Banda
Singh Bahadur] of the Sikhs. The situation is still very fluid
consultations are going on; whatever is decided will be
submitted later on. About Bhupat Parkash, the Raja of Nahan,
who was in the custody of Mahabat Khan, the chelas
(personal troopers) of Emperor delivered the royal order that
the Raja (of Nahan) be put into the thorny cage which has
been made for the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. Then
Mahabat Khan submitted that the Raja is innocent and the
Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] has already sneaked out of his
territory. At this the Emperor told Mahabat Khan that if you
do not punish him then all the zamindars (the hill-chiefs)
would become the Sikhs. You must punish him. Mahabat
Khan again pleaded that nails inside the cage are sharp and
hard and Raja will die as soon as he is put into it. The Emperor
reiterated that in case the Raja dies in the cage, he will surely
go to the hell. After this Mahabat Khan did not plead any more
and in compliance of the royal order he put the Raja into cage
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but before that he had asked his servants to bend the nails.
So far the Raja is alive what happens to him I will report later
on. There is uncertainty about the movements of the Emperor.
Some say he is going to Shahjahanabad whereas others say
he will encamp for some days on the banks of river Jamuna.
Whatever is the truth will be reported later on. ... Dated Chait
Sudi 9, Samat 1768, Saturday.
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Sr. No. 14 Chait Sudi 12, 1768
Vakil Report No. 46 March 20, 1711

Arzdasht from Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
informs that the writer has put up his stay in the camp of the
royal army from where Haridwar is at a distance of 30 or 35
kos. He (author) desired to make a pilgrimage to the Ganges
and asked for permission from Mahabat Khan which was
declined. ...Earlier it was said that Shamas Khan has been
killed (in the battle with the Sikhs) and Bayzid Khan is still
alive and fighting with the Sikhs of the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] and the Sikhs have been defeated. Now the news
has come that both of them have been killed in the battle and
power of the Sikhs is on the rise. People of the pargana of
Batala have deserted their houses and fled away leaving
behind all their household belongings; articles and property
worth crores of rupees are lying as it as they were before. The
Emperor felt very angry over the report of wagia-nawis. The
gurjbardar (royal messenger) has departed with the order of
the Emperor either to chop off his (wagia-nawis’) head or put
him in chains and produce him in the royal court. Now the
gurjbardar has set out and let us see what happens. The
wagqia-nawis has done nothing wrong except to submit the
true report of incident.

The writer further adds that on Chait Sudi 10 Sunday
(1768:; March 18, 1711), the Emperor commenced on his
march towards Lahore. It is said that the third halt would be
either at Chhatt or Ambala. Then non-stop march to Lahore
has been proposed.

It adds that beasts of burden (camels) belonging to the
Shahzadas and nobles were out in a pasture which was about
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30 kos from the place of halt. All of a sudden the Emperor
has given a marching order. For the first stage of journey
somehow five or seven beasts of burden were provided.The
nobles requested the Emperor to allow them to cover the
destination of one stage in two halts. But Emperor ordered
that there is no need of an extra halt.

It informs that on Chait Sudi 11 Monday (1768:; March
19, 1711), royal entourage moved further. The Emperor has
ordered that each halt should not be of less than 5 kos.
Mahabat Khan has been honoured with a sirpech. Putting him
at the head of an army of 10,000 horsemen, he has been asked
to move one stage ahead of the royal entourage...

In order to cover the distance up to Lahore eighteen halts
and similar number of marches have been scheduled... Dated
Chait Sudi 12, Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 15 Chait Sudi 15, 1768
Vakil Report No. 47 March 23, 1711

Arzdasht from Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh refers to the earlier one dispatched on Chait Sudi 12
(Samat 1768; March 20, 1711). The writer informs that the
Emperor is determined to reach Lahore as soon as possible.
On Chait Sudi 14 (1768; March 22, 1711), the royal entourage
started its march on the route which passes through the foot-
hills of Shiwalik and joins at Sarhind.

It adds that about the Raja of Nahan, the Emperor has
ordered that he be taken to Delhi to put in the prison of
Salimgarh. Dated Chait Sudi 15, Samat 1768.

I

The writer further adds that the revolt of the Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur] has provided the Rajas good
opportunity to serve the Emperor. As the Emperor is leading
the expedition against the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur], His
Majesty’s presence in the company of Raja Ajit Singh is
highly recommended at this juncture...The author requests
the Maharaja to attend the court along with Raja Ajit Singh
at the earliest. He says that Bhandari Khivsi (Jodhpur’s Vakil)
is also of the same view and has already made a fervent appeal
to Raja (Ajit Singh) in this regard.
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Sr. No. 16 Vaisakh Vadi 1, 1768
Vakil Report No. 48 March 24, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh.... informs that Inayatullah Khan is the Khansama and
his son Hidayatullah Khan is the Diwan of khalisa and tan
(jagir). After the death of Khan Khanan (Munaim Khan) both
of them enjoy good authority in the royal court. Whatever
counsel they offer, Emperor obliges them. On Chait Sudi 10
(Samat 1768; March 18, 1711) they called the writer to their
personal chamber and enquired why the Maharaja (Jai Singh)
has not turned up at the court. They assured the writer that
your Raja can trust them and whatever is the demand of the
Raja, it can be met. At this the writer submitted to them that
Mahabat Khan has proved himself untrustworthy as he has
betrayed the Raja of Nahan whom he had given an oath and
had called him from the hills. The Raja of Nahan was put in
prison and locked up in the same cage that had been made for
the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. In this way Mahabat Khan
has rendered himself untrustworthy and therefore no one
trusts him.

It adds that the royal decree has been issued to take the
Raja of Nahan to Delhi and imprison him in Salimgarh and
now he is ready to depart. The Sikhs have again arisen in
Guru ka Chak (Amritsar) and have established their rule up
to Shahdara (near Lahore)... Dated Vaisakh Vadi 1, Samat
1768.
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Sr. No. 17 Vaisakh Vadi 11, 1768
Vakil Report No. 49 April 2, 1711

Arzdasht from Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
refers to the earlier one dispatched on Chait Sudi 15 (March
23, 1711). The writer urges him (Raja Jai Singh) that His
Majesty’s immediate arrival and presence at the royal court
will be a matter of great celebration. It informs that Daulat
Singh Shekhawat in his third parwana has mentioned that
Raja Ajit Singh had departed from Merta and on reaching
Rajgarh his marriage was solemanized and he has set out on
his onward journey via Maroth and Sambhar. He (Daulat
Singh Shekhawat) asked me (the author) to inform about it
to the Nawab. Accordingly, the author took the ditto copy of
the parwana and presented it before the Nawab who glanced
over the contents and presented the same before the Emperor
and on this the Emperor commented that their (Raja Jai Singh
and Raja Ajit Singh) earliest presence at the court will be
much appreciated. The author informs the Raja (Jai Singh)
that the Emperor is suffering from baltod '; consequently only
ten stages of the march have been covered so far. Now the
Emperor is feeling a little bit better. On Vaisakh Vadi 6
Saturday, Emperor resumed his march towards Lahore.
Distance of 5 kos between each stage has been fixed.
Consequently, the royal entourage arrived at the stipulated
halt very late. The Emperor has ordered that in future set out
on the march in the similar way. The writer submits that this
time in the royal army prices are always very high. Due to it
this servant (author) had come under debt and till date has

1. Boils caused by uprooting of hair
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been surviving on the money got on loan; and scarcity of
ration is so acute that even food is not easily available. In the
hope that His Majesty will respond to it very soon... Dated
Vaisakh Vadi 11, Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 18 Vaisakh Vadi 13, 1768
Vakil Report No. 50 April 4, 1711

Arzdasht from Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
makes reference to the earlier Arzdasht that was dispatched
on Vaisakh Vadi 11 Monday (April 2, 1711). ...Besides the
other matters it adds that Rustam Dil Khan had informed the
Emperor that uprising of the Sikhs of the Guru has created
much disturbance towards Lahore side. At this Emperor told
that he himself would be marching there (to suppress the
Sikhs). In the lashkar news is that the Deccani rebels have
besieged Ujjain...Dated Vaisakh Vadi 13, Samat 1768
Wednesday.
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Sr. No.19 Vaisakh Sudi 6, 1768
Draft Kharita No. 58 April 13, 1711
Bundle No.l

Copy of a parwana from Bhandari Khivsi dated Vaisakh
Sudi 6 (April 13, 1711) informs that another Arzdasht
dispatched on Vaisakh Vadi 10 (1768; April 1, 1711) must
have unfolded the whole situation. Information regarding the
rebellion of Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] has already been
described in that dispatch. It advises the Raja (Jai Singh) to
reach immediately at the royal court. It further informs that
Raja (Ajit Singh) along with his soldiers has reached
Sambhar; he will soon join His Highness (Raja Jai Singh). He
(author) assures that there will be no delay as Raja Ajit Singh
is marching at a rapid speed. It (parwana) contained
description of medicine but you know one prescription is not
enough. On our side all is well and hope all of you are in good
health. Please continue to inform about the situation at the
court in the similar fashion. Rest assured, there should be no
delay in it. ...Dated Vaisakh Sudi 6, Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 20 Vaisakh Sudi 11, 1768
Vakil Report No. 51 _ April 18, 1711

Arzdasht from Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
refers to the earlier one dispatched on Vaisakh Vadi 13
Wednesday (April 4,.1711)... The writer acknowledges the
receipt of a parwana (from Maharaja Jai Singh) in which he
has enquired about the fate of the Raja of Nahan. The writer
informs that he has already submitted that Raja of Nahan was
taken to Delhi. The Emperor had ordered to put the Raja of
Nahan in the prison of Salimgarh. Subsequently, he was taken
to Delhi and was imprisoned in Salimgarh.

The writer adds that the Emperor marching along the
foot-hills has arrived at a place which is about 5 kos from
Chhatt-Banur. The news is that bridge on river Sutlej is being
prepared and it is said that the Emperor will take this route
for his onward march to Lahore... It was submitted to the
Emperor that the Sikhs of the Guru have taken away the
cattles belonging to the people of Sadhaura. It is said that the
vanjaras who collaborated with the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] have taken away these cattles. Some say that the
people of the Raja of Nahan have driven away these cattles.
Fact of the matter is that cattles of the people of Sadhaura
have been snatched by someone. What is the truth I will report
later on...Dated Vaisakh Sudi 11, Samat 1768, camp 7 kos cis-
Sutle;j.
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Sr. No. 21 Jeth Vadi 5, 1768
Vakil Report No. 52 April 26, 1711

Arzdasht from Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
refers to the earlier Arzdasht dispatched on Vaisakh Sudi 11,
Wednesday (1768; April 18, 1711). The writer informs that
on Jeth Vadi 1, Sunday (1768; April 22, 1711), Emperor set
on his march and advanced towards river Sutlej. He has
ordered that a platform be raised as jashan (celebration of
fifth anniversary of coronation) will take place there....The
Emperor has told the Shahzadas and nobles that ‘we are going
to establish a military camp at Ropar and all of you build your
havelis there. I have renamed it Jahangirpur.” It is strategically
located because Shahjahanabad and Lahore are at equal
distance from it. The entry of the passage that leads into the
hills will be closed. Neither the hill-chiefs could come to the
help of the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] nor would the Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur] be able to escape into the hills. The
writer informs that the Emperor desired to send Shahzada
Jahandar Shah and Rafi-ul-Shan to Shahjahanabad; and
Muhammad Karim with half of his army may be sent to
Lahore. Nawab Rustam Dil Khan requested that the expedition
to suppress the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] may be assigned
to him and the Emperor himself should stay at the river Sutlej.
Emperor has accepted the proposal. His Highness knows the
Emperor well; whatever decision he takes, I will submit later
on. The Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] has created very serious
disturbances towards the side of Lahore. In order to defend
Lahore, Aghar Khan and his son and a nephew of Muhammad
Rafi Fatehullah are fighting (with the Sikhs), otherwise the
city of Lahore would have been ransacked by the Sikhs...The
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writer fervently appeals to both the Rajas that this is the most
appropriate time to attend the royal court. After the escape of
the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur], visit to the royal court
would be of no purpose. I (author) reiterate it and time and
again request both the Rajas that your presence (in the royal
court) at this juncture would be of great benefit...Dated Jeth
Vadi 5, Samat 1768. Camp Sutlej.
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Sr. No. 22 Jeth Vadi 14, 1768
Vakil Report No. 55 May 5, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh makes reference to the earlier Arzdashr dispatched on
Jeth Vadi 10 (1768; May 1, 1711). It informs that on Jeth Vadi
11 Wednessday (1768; May 2, 1711) after consulting Bhandari
Khivsi, the ladies of Chima ji (Vijay Singh of Jaipur) who
were here, have departed for the country (back home). Some
soldiers on horseback belonging to Dilawar Khan and others
were stationed here. These horsemen have been assigned the
duty to escort the ladies. Shahzada Jahandar Shah and Jahan
Shah Bahadur crossed the river [Sutlej]. Shahzada Rafi-ul-
Shan also sought permission to go across the river. The
official incharge at the bridge informed the Emperor that two
Shahzadas are already on the other side of river and there is
every likelihood that the three Shahzadas may come into
clash with each other as they have already put up their vast
camps close to each other. At this Emperor ordered Shahzada
Rafi-ul-Shan to postpone his departure. The Emperor was
very angry over the conflict between the Shahzadas. He
ordered that his entourage be taken across the river and
encamp it at a distance of 2/3 kos from the camp of the
Shahzadas. The nobles, who were accompanying the
Shahzadas, were asked to leave their camp and put it near the
royal cai'p. The Emperor ordered that the mansab of the
nobles who were still putting up with the Shahzadas, may be
cancelled. At this ropkhana that was with the Shahzadas got
ready to comply with the royal order. The soldiers and the
stores of armament also followed the pursuit. Nawab Mahabat
Khan was already posted near the royal enclosure. Amir-ul-
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Umra and Rustam Dil Khan were ordered to put their stay
near the royal enclosure. Hakim-ul-mulk was ordered to put
his stay just near the tent of diwan-i-aam. All other nobles
have been ordered to stay near the royal camp. It further adds
that the Emperor did not give any attention to Shahzada
Azim-ush-Shan and Shahzada Rafi-ul-Shan when they came
for audience. Even they were not asked to sit and they were
kept standing in the court. When the Emperor stood up to
leave the general asembly hall, he reprimanded the Shahzadas
for their quarrel and permitted them to leave. Both the
Shahzadas felt ashamed. The Emperor ordered Rustam Dil
Khan to carry the royal tents across the river. The camps of
all the three Shahzadas were ordered to move away 2/3 kos
apart from one another and it was also ordered that size of
their camps should be small one; and in future Shahzada
Jahandar Shah’s camp sould be in front of all the Shahzadas.
The other two Shahzadas should encamp at a distance of 50
jarib from each other. The artillery should be parked 50 jarib
behind them. The royal tent sould be in the centre. The camps
of Shahzada Rafi-ul-Shan and Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan
should be at a distance of 50 jaribs from that of the royal camp
and in between them camps of royal officers should be
established. Whenever the Shahzadas visit for royal audience
their sawars should not come near the royal enclosure. Earlier
there used to be so many officials in the service of Shahzadas,
now only one official would remain in their attendance. It has
been ordered that in future the Shahzadas would personally
inspect their horsemen. The royal nobels have been ordered
that they would not visit the camp of any Shahzada without
the permission of the Emperor. Dated Jeth Vadi 14 Saturday,
Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 23 Jeth Sudi 3, 1768
Vakil Report No. 260 May 9, 1711

Arzdasht from Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh refers to the earlier Arzdasht dispatched on Jeth Vadi
14, Saturday morning (1768; May 5, 1711)...It informs that
the rumour of appointment of Mahabat Khan as Diwan is in
circulation and Emperor is very considerate towards him.
...The news of the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] is that he has
put up his camp in Kalanaur. The Hindus as well as the
Muslims are thronging to him and he is taking them into his
services. (In order to suppress the Sikhs) Emperor is also
marching towards Kalanaur...Kanwar Mohkam Singh Rathor
has got the title of Raja which already has been reported. Now
military campaign against the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]
has been assigned to Muhammad Amin Khan. For it the
Emperor has bestowed a siropao on Muhammad Amin Khan
and war material required for the armed compaign is getting
ready. Raja Mohkam Singh’s mansab has been increased by
500 sawars. Besides the siropao, the Emperor has conferred
upon him an elephant, a horse and a nagara. He has departed
in the company of Muhammad Amin Khan to liquidate the
Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. On Jeth Sudi 2, Tuesday (1768;
May 8, 1711), the Emperor crossed the river Sutlej and
Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan will follow him. Jasol (the Raja of
Jaswal or Jaswan) has come to attend the court and has been
staying in the dera of Nawab Mahabat Khan; and Bhandari
Khivsi had requested them to help him cross the river. Shortly
they will cross over to the other side of river. The writer
informs that foot soldiers and cavalry that he had employed
in the wake of Guru's [Banda Singh Bahadur] rebellion, out

IStRhBookCLub. com!



English Translation of the Documents 111

of them all the sawars have been discharged; earlier there
used to be ten riflemen with him but presently only one
rifleman is employed with him. Consequently, he has
employed ten rifle-men for the job and wherever he goes they
accompany him. In the Muslim army you cannot survive
without the services of rifle-men. I tried my best to get these
men on monthly pay but could not succeed. Then I employed
them on daily wages, i.e. 12 anna per day per person...Dated
Jeth Sudi 3, Samat 1768 Camp trans-Sutlej.
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Sr. No. 24 Jeth Sudi 11, 1768
Vakil Report No. 57 May 17, 1711

Arzdasht from Diwan Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh refers to the earlier Arzdasht dispatched on Jeth Sudi
3, Wednesday (1768; May 9, 1711). The writer informs that
Emperor has crossed the river (Sutlej) and, on the third day
stores of Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan were also taken across the
river and he also got ready to move. Shahzada asked his
entourage to stop at the river bank. Accordingly Bagsariyas,
his army and entourage reached the river bank but Rustam Dil
Khan declined to open the bridge for the people belonging to
Shahzada’s camp. On getting this information, Shahzada
asked Rustam Dil Khan to let his entourage pass over the
bridge as he has already allowed the people of other two
Shahzadas to pass over it. But Rustam Dil Khan with his army
and rifle-men got ready to give a fight right on the bridge
itself. Subsequently, the people of Shahzada charged with
lathis and exchanged blows with the soldiers of Rustam Dil
Khan. Then Shahzada ordered his detachment to get hold of
Rustam Dil Khan. However, Rustam Dil Khan boarded a boat
and escaped to the other side of the river and his army
withdrew to the camp. When Emperor got information of this
incident he severely reprimanded Rustam Dil Khan and
ordered that no officer of him would stay at the bridge and
in future he (Rustam Dil Khan) would camp behind the
laskar. ...The writer adds that this time Rustam Dil Khan
indulged in too much excesses. No one has seen or heard this
type of treatment meted out to the people earlier. All the big
mansabdars, traders and poor people were compelled to shell
out huge amount. People of Rustam Dil Khan charged Rs.
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two for a camel and Rs. one for a bullock to pass over the
bridge. Rustam Dil Khan submitted to the Emperor to levy
a tax on the people using the bridge and in this manner more
than one lakh rupees would be easily collected. So far the
Emperor has not responded to his proposal. On Jeth Sudi 7,
Sunday (1768; May 13, 1711) at noon there was a thunderstorm
followed by rain and hailstorm. It went on for one and half
quarter. No camp of any noble could escape from its effect.
A flash-flood from the hills followed it and within no time
camp of Shahzada Jahandar Shah and royal market were in
waist deep water. There was a great confusion in the army
camp. Even enclosure of the Emperor was under one foot
deep water. Everyone in the royal camp including men and
women passed the whole night aboard their carriages standing
in the water. Next day royal entourage moved to another place
and at noon the Emperor and Shahzadas moved into their
respective camps. Half of the main body of the royal army is
still behind. When the level of water recedes then the people
will follow to join the royal camp.

The author informs that on Jeth Sudi 9, Tuesday (1768;
May 15, 1711) royal camp moved forward and it is said it will
halt at a place which is two kos ahead of Rahon. On Jath Sudi
10, Wednesday (1768; May 16, 1711) Emperor entered his
camp and is pressing for onward march. Order has been given
to build a bridge over Behath (Beas). The author further adds
that in the royal laskar the news about the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] is that there is a village named Bassi .[Pathanan]
inhabited mostly by the Pathans. Since so many days they
were defending it (from the onslaughts of the Sikhs). The
Guru [Banda Sipgh Bahadur] marched on them and in the
attack 2000 Pathans were killed. Women of the Pathan tribe
performed johar and died. A total of 5000 men and women
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have been killed and the village was put to plunder. Shahzada
Muizz-ud-Din’s faujdar of Aurangabad was on that side. The
Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] confronted him also. Whether
he (faujdar) has been killed, fled away or is wounded, there
are conflicting news about him. At every place (in the Punjab)
the power of Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] is on the rise. It
is rumoured that the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] will go
towards Lakhi Jungle. Dated Jeth Sudi 11, Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 25 Asadh Vadi 8, 1768
Vakil Report No. 59 May 28, 1711

Arzdasht from Bhikhari Das to Maharaja Jai Singh
refers to the earlier one dispatched on Jeth Sudi 11 (May 17,
1711). It states that Hamid Khan Bahadur had already
departed to liquidate the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. After
crossing the river Behath (Beas) he encamped there. But
before that the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] had moved
towards the river Ravi. Thus the villages of which people had
joined the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] fell prey to Hamid
Khan’s attack. So many villages have been destroyed and
people as well as cattles of so many villages have been taken
into custody. When the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] got this
news he returned and has put up his camp at Kalanaur. From
there he dispatched an army to confront Hamid Khan. As
Hamid Khan has not got any reinforcement and has crossed
the river (Beas) with his own soldiers, thus he could not resist
the Sikhs. Therefore early in the morning he crossed back the
river to encamp there. When the Emperor got the report about
this, he ordered him to stay where he is and need not come
to the royal presence. Now reinforcement from the imperial
army has marched to join him and they will jointly take action
to liquidate the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. So far Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur] is still encamping there (Kalanaur)
and people say he has recruited so many people in his
services. The Emperor is also rapidly advancing (towards
Kalanaur) and river Behath (Beas) is only at a distance of 30
kos. He is constantly pressing for onward march. On Jeth Sudi
12, Friday (1768; May 18, 1711) royal camp moved further.
A few days back Emperor had got angry with Rustam Dil
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Khan for levying a toll tax on the people crossing the bridge
(over river Sutlej). After that the Emperor called him to his
presence, consoled him and asked him to build bridge (over
Beas) at Rohila Ghat [Sri Hargobindpur]. The benevolent
Emperor conferred on him a siropao and a dupatta... Dated
Asadh Vadi 8, Monday Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 26 Asadh Vadi 8, 1768
Vakil Report No. 261 May 28, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh... The writer states that Daulat Beg, Saleh Beg Khan,
Fateh-ullah Khan Mughals and others who were attached
with the army of Mahabat Khan and were deployed with him,
were given marching orders by the Nawab with the objective
of providing reinforcement to Muhammad Amin Khan who
had departed on the compaign to suppress the Guru [Banda
Singh Bahadur]. Mahabat Khan asked them to get ready to
join the compaign. At this Daulat Beg and others assembled
and went to the camp of Hidayatullah Khan and indulged in
shouting over the payment of their salaries. Hidayatullah
Khan submitted to the Emperor that he could not attend the
court today as Daulat Beg and others have cornered him. The
Emperor ordered Chin-Qalich Khan Bahadur and Mukhlis
Khan to go there and disperse the Mughals immediately. They
persuaded the Mughals to leave the scene and persuaded them
to resume their march to reinforce the army of Muhammad
Amin Khan. Actually Mahabat Khan has secretly instigated
the Mughals to raise the demand of their salary. Naturally,
they have created such uproar. On knowing this the Emperor
disapproved the behaviour of Mahabat Khan but after some
time became as maganimous to him as he was before. The
writer adds that in the company of Bhandari Khivsi he visited
the Nawab. The Nawab told them that he will not be attending
the royal court today as he is feeling restlessness. On this, we
counselled him, “Yesterday your rivals had conspired against
you and consequently Emperor was angry with you. Today if
you miss the court your rivals will get another chance to
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conspire against you. Your presence in the court is very much
required.” At this the Nawab told them that “your counselling
is worth consideration and come what may, today he will
surely attend the court.” The writer adds that from the
dependable sources news has come that the Guru [Banda
Singh Bahadur] has run away from Batala and has moved into
the Lakhi Jungle. However, his escape from Batala is still
under investigation...As the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] has
gone towards Lakhi Jungle, therefore at this moment,
presence of both the Rajas at the royal court would be most
appropriate. Dated Asadh Vadi 8, Monday 1768 dispatched
at noon.
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Sr. No. 27 Asadh Vadi 12, 1768
Kharita No. 59 June 1, 1711

Letter from Chaube Jeth Mal for Kavi Raj Lala Nihal
Chand solicits the blessings and desires every moment well-
being and happiness of the receipient...It mentions that for so
many days the author has not received any dispatch from the
Kavi Raj. It informs that report about the state of affairs at
the royal court has already been sent in three letters
dispatched on [Asadh Vadi] 5 (1768: May 25, 1711)...Similar
type of information about the day to day happenings at the
royal court would be dispatched on your orders.

It further informs that the news about the Guru [Banda
Singh Bahadur] is the same as it was earlier. The imperial
army has set out on its compaign (against the Sikhs) and has
now established its camp at Batala. The Imperialists could not
raid the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] as he has a good
number of horsemen at his disposal. The rebels plundered the
city in day light. There is no one to prevent them. A saraf was
going to his house after closing his shop; he was robbed of |
his bag in full view of the Bazar'...

1. Due to moisture ink has spread on the paper making it very difficult
to decipher the document in its totality.
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Sr. No. 28 Asadh Vadi 14, 1768
Vakil Report No. 61 June 3, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh informs that Bhandari Khivsi has dispatched a letter
from Manoharpur on Jeth Sudi 12 (May 25, 1711) that both
the Rajas (Jai Singh and Ajit Singh) met at Manoharpur and
had discussion till late night. After that Shri Ji (Raja Jai
Singh) headed towards his laskar and Raja Ajit Singh asked
that his entourage would encamp at Kachi Sarai; so very soon
both the Rajas would present themselves at the court.

The writer adds that so far he has not got any parwana
informing him about the meeting that took place between the
two Rajas. Nawab Mahabat Khan enquired from me (the
writer) whether there was any information regarding the
movement of the Rajas to the royal court. At this the author
answered that no messenger had come during these days, it
may be due to some obstacle in their journey and added that
Bhandari Khivsi had received a dispatch in this connection.

Nawab suggested to the author to dispatch immediately
another messenger to get the correct information. On Asadh
Vadi 11 (1768; May 30, 1711), Wednesday Mahabat Khan
summoned Bhandari Khivsi and me (the writer) to his
presence and confided that due to the delay of the Rajas his
position at the court has become precarious. His rivals at the
court are levelling various types of allegations. The Emperor
publicly alleges that he (Mahabat Khan) has spoiled the
affairs relating to the Rajas. Earlier every work of the royal
court and the work of the office of Khan Khanan were
assigned to me (Mahabat Khan). Supervision of the military
campaign against the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] and
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dealings with the Rana of Udaipur were also under Mahabat
Khan. Due to the matter of the Rajas now Amir-ul-Umra will
deal with the Rana whereas the expedition against the Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur] has been assigned to Muhammad
Amin Khan and Rustam Dil Khan. The Emperor felt very
much disturbed. ...Dated Asadh Vadi 14, Sunday Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 29 Asadh Vadi 14, 1768
Vakil Report No. 60 June 3, 1711

Arzdasht refers to the earlier one dispatched on Asadh
Vadi 8 (1768; May 28, 1711) Monday. The writer states that
about the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] it is said that Rustam
Dil Khan has informed that Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] has
crossed over to the other side of river Ravi. On the other hand
Muhammad Amin Khan has written that Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] has escaped to the hills of Jammu and is with Raja
Kirpal Dev of that state. The royal harkaras have fanned out
in different directions in order to get the correct information.
Whenever the author gets any correct information, he will
submit the report. The writer advises the Raja that this is the
most appropriate time to attend the royal court. No delay is
advisable in this regard. Bhandari Khivsi has already asked
Raja Ajit Singh to reach the court immediately. The writer
informs that in the royal court he feels helpless. Everybody
says that we are liars and the Rajas would never turn up at
the royal court. Who knows for what purpose have the Rajas
got together? This is the over-all impression at the royal
court...Guru Ajit Singh riding on the horse came to seek
audience with the Emperor and saluted him; and the Emperor
remarked that he is such a poor-fellow that even he cannot
put up his own petition. The Emperor ordered Sarwar Khan,
kotwal of the royal camp to make arrangement for (Guru) Ajit
Singh’s stay in his camp. The Emperor ordered that no one
would disturb him. He has been granted Guru ka Chak
(Amritsar), assign it to him in inam and jagir and always
allow him whenever he comes to present himself at the royal
court... Dated Asadh Vadi 14, Sunday Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 30 Asadh Sudi 5, 1768
Arzdasht No. 203 June 9, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh states that on Asadh Sudi 3 (1768; June 7, 1711) Raja
Raj Singh wrote a rukka to Mahabat Khan that nothing has
accrued to him from the jagir of Malpura...It further informs
that Nawab Mahabat Khan enjoined upon the writer and
Bhandari Khivsi that both the Rajas are required to attend the
court before the resolution of the crisis created by the Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur]. Their earliest presence at the court
would be of great help to fetch them great reward from the
Emperor. He advises that there should be no delay in this
regard. The writer and Bhandari Khivsi are in consonance
with the proposal of the Nawab. In the meantime, Nawab’s
harkara tarned up with a fresh news. Nawab called him to
his presence and enquired from him where the second battle
between the Sikhs and the royal army took place. The harkara
told that it was fought at a place which is about four kos
beyond Sialkot. There is a place called Chaprari where
Muhammad Amin Khan and Rustam Dil Khan in the mid of
night attacked the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] and
subsequently the battle continued till noon next day. The
Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] thought that now there is no
escape and sent a message to Dhol Dev, the Raja of Jammu
to facilitate his escape into the hills. The Raja replied that all
the Sikhs cannot take shelter in the hills, and suggested that
about 1,000 Sikhs can be accommodated there and he would
help them to pass through the hills. Taking opportunity, Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur] entered into the hills alongwith 1,000
Sikhs. Muhammad Amin Khan and Ise Khan Mein pursued
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the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] doggedly and a battle took
place at the passage into hills. It is said that 300-400 Mughal
soldiers fell fighting there. Many of the Sikhs were also killed
and 1,200 Sikhs were taken as prisoners. The zamindar of that
place caught hold of the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur].
Muhammad Amin Khan and Ise Khan at once continued their
advance into the hills. They sent a message to the zamindar
that Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] has entered into his
country; hand him over to us otherwise be ready for the battle.
The zamindar had very few people at his disposal. In order
to capture the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] these very people
had obstructed his way into the hills. There ensued a furious
battle between the Sikhs and the hill people. In the meantime
Rustam Dil Khan also arrived with the reinforcement. The
zamindar thought that now the imperial army has arrived and
moreover he has no power to fight any more (with the Sikh).
He arrested the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] and handed him
over to the custody of Muhammad Amin Khan. On this
Nawab enquired from the harkara whether he has witnessed
the scene with his own eyes. The harkara replied that during
the battle of Chaprari he was present on the scene. However,
he is not a witness to the battle that took place at the passage
into hills. In the whole army the news spread that the Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur] has been captured. Subsequently, all
the harkaras rushed to different places. On hearing this news
Ialso have come to your (Nawab) presence. Within four hours
other harkaras would be reaching here and the Nawab will
come to know the truth. ... The writer adds that there is no
fresh information regarding the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur].
It 1s the same what the harkaras had stated earlier to the
Emperor and Nawab as well. The same has been reported to
the Raja by the writer. Whatever will be the truth, the writer
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will submit it later on. The writer wishes that by the grace of
Sita Ram Ji, he is quite hopeful that, for a few more days,
Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] would not be captured and in
that way the Emperor would remain entangled in this country.
Dated Asadh Sudi 5. Saturday Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 31 Asadh Sudi 11, 1768
Vakil Report No. 17 June 15, 1711

Arzdasht from Bhandari Khivsi to Maharaja Jai Singh
informs that firstly there was a news of the capture of the Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur] but it turned out to be wrong. Now
it has been reported that the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]
escaped after giving a tough fight to the besieging army of
Muhammad Amin Khan and Rustam Dil Khan and forced his
way out; and thereafter he fought with the Raja of Jammu.
Raja has been wounded and many of his people fell fighting.
It is said that the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] would go to
Daber.! The writer adds that after getting the correct
information he will submit the report later on. It adds that
Muhammad Amin Khan and Rustam Dil Khan have returned
and encamped at the river Ravi. On Asadh Sudi 10 (June 14,
1711) Emperor (Bahadur Shah) crossed the river Goindwal
[Beas]. In which direction he goes and where he camps, the
report would follow. Samat 176[8], Asadh Sudi 11, Friday.

1. All the contemporary chronicles refer to the area in and around
Lohgarh near Sadhaura by the name of Daber.
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Sr. No. 32 Asadh Sudi 9, 1768
Draft Kharita No. 73 June 13, 1711
Bundle No. 1

Copy of a parwana for Bihari Das Pancholi dated Asadh
Sudi 9 (Samat 1768; June 13, 1711). It refers that there was
a rumour of clash between the army of Diwan and Khanzada:
and that Khanzada has been killed. The report that has been
received from Agra, the place of incident, says that Kharag
Singh and other disciples of the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]
have been arrested and from them a bag containing the papers
for Maharana Amar Singh (of Udaipur) was recovered. The
author adds that a copy of the farad of the wagia (report of
incident) has been dispatched. The Emperor has conferred
title on Diwan Ji (Bhikhari Das) and is very benevolent
towards Maharana Amar Singh. It further adds that negligence
regarding the letter of Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] in such
a manner was not good on our part as it has aggravated the
situation very badly. In future you need to be more careful.
After thinking upon the matter, whatever decision you take,
write in detail to me at the earliest. Please share this
information with Diwan Ji. It is said that Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] has gone towards Lakhi Jungle in order to proceed
towards Ajmer. Whatever information you get from there in
writing, please write in detail to me. Asadh Sudi 9, Samat
1768.
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Sr. No. 33 Asadh Sudi 10, 1768
Vakil Report No. 62 June 14, 1711

Arzdasht makes reference to the earlier Arzdasht in
which Bhandari Khivsi has written about the discussion that
took place regarding the pargana of Merta. ... The writer
informs that Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] after killing so
many soldiers of the imperial army has escaped into the hills.
zamindars of the area, Muhammad Amin Khan and Ise Khan
are in pusuit of him. The Emperor has not yet crossed the river
(Beas). The army and entourage of Shahzada Jahandar Shah,
Rafi-ul-Shan and Jahan Shah all have crossed the river. It is
said that the Emperor crossed the river (Beas) on Asadh Sudi
10 (1768; June 14, 1711). Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan was the
last to cross the river. The author informs that market and
jewellers accompanying the imperial entourage all had
crossed the river and only four or five shops of the jewellers
were left behind. During mid-night some people came on
horse back and after creating uproar, robbed the shops of the
shahukar and decamped with the chest loading it on the
camel. No one knows who these people were. Kotwal has
been asked to search out and produce them in the court.
Perhaps they have concealed their booty with the people
settled in the surrounding villages. Consequently, the villages
would be plundered (by the kotwal). The writer adds that this
region is so insecure that to move to and fro is not possible.*
...Asadh Sudi 10, Samat 1768.

* [About half part of this report is in coded language, thus it is very
difficult to decipher].
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Sr. No. 34 Sawan Sudi 3, 1768
Vakil Report No. 63 July 7, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh states that in the earlier Arzdasht the writer has already
submitted to the Maharaja that please put up your camp on
this side of Shahjahanabad, possibly in the neighbourhood of
Kurukshetra. From there he should submit the petition in
order to get the grant sanctioned. The writer informs that on
Asadh Sudi 10 (1768; June 14, 1711) the Emperor crossed the
bridge on river Beas. Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan followed the
Emperor. There were 1000 sawars in the company of
Emperor whereas 6,000-7,000 sawars accompanied the
Shahzada. All the three Shahzadas have crossed the river.
Shahzada Jahandar Shah was incharge of the bridge over the
river. Now he has vacated his post and Shahzada Azim-ush-
Shan’s army has arrived and put up their camp there. At
midnight, there was a sudden spurt in the river and the bridge
was washed away. The camp of Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan
was in knee deep water. Women of the royal house were
compelled to mount the elephants to spend the night.
Thereafter the camp moved back three kos to the place where
it was before. The Emperor was informed of this incident. In
the night of Asadh Sudi 10 (1768; June 14, 1711), Emperor
ordered Shahzada that don’t think anymore but move 3 kos
back as the river is on the rise. Shahzada moved back only
half a kos and put up a camp there. On Asadh Sudi 11 (1768;
June 15) inspite of the rain Shahzada set on his march and
encamped near the river. On Asadh Sudi 15 (1768; June 19,
1711) Shahzada aboard a boat crossed the river and has an
audience with the Emperor. Though the Emperor had crossed
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the river yet half of the imperial army is still behind. Now
boats have been procured to help the army to cross the river.

On Asadh Sudi 15, nothing worth-while happened. On
Sawan Vadi 1 Wednessday (1768; June 20, 1711), Shah
Qudratullah on behalf of the Shahzada asked the writer to
inform the Rajas to move slowly in case of rain and cross the
river Sutlej during the rainy season. The writer adds that
Bhandari Khivsi and Bhikhari Das enquired from Shah
Qudratullah whether the Emperor would like this or not? In
case Emperor dislikes then what to do next? Then Shah
Qudratullah confided that the Emperor also concurs with the
above proposal. They again enquired how they could know
about it. He remaked that about 6,000-7.000 sawars are at the
disposal of Shahzada Jahandar Shah and both the Rajas are
coming to the court with 16,000-17,000 sawars. ...Mahabat
Khan has encamped himself across the river. On Sawan Vadi
2 (1768; June 21, 1711) Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan also
crossed the river along with his forces; other people are also
in the process to cross the river. The writer states that he has
already petitioned to the Maharaja to please put up his camp
in the vicinity of Kurukshetra. It is said that the Guru [Banda
Singh Bahadur] has slipped into the hills and the imperial
forces are following him. All the hill chiefs have also joined
in this compaign. Let us see whereto the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] goes. He has a large force at his command...Dated
Sawan Sudi 3, Samat 1768 (July 7, 1711).
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Sr. No. 35 Sawan Vadi 5, 1768
Vakil Report No. 66 June 24, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh besides referring to the receipt of a parwana informs
that on the instigation of Mahabat Khan, the walashahi
soldiers insulted Hidayatullah Khan for the non-payment of
their salaries. The walashahis and Fatehullah Khan were
deployed to reinforce the compaign of Muhammad Amin
Khan (against the Sikhs). They surrounded Hidayatullah
Khan in his house and troubled him a lot. At this he appealed
for help. Amir-ul-Umra, Mukhlis Khan and Islam Khan, the
daroga of artillery, were ordered to rush and rescue
Hidayatullah Khan. Mukhlis Khan and Islam Khan took up
their fopkhana and came to know about from Hidayatullah
Khan that Mahabat Khan was at the back of these soldiers
who have misbehaved with him. When the Emperor came to
know about it, he got angry with Mahabat Khan. As a result,
he is now out of race for the post of Khan Khanan. So far he
enjoyed unrestricted access to the royal court which now has
been denied. He was the daroga of ambari risala but the said
risala has been disbanded. Now Mahabat Khan is sitting idle
pretending that he is suffering from some pain. After some
days he has joined the next posting.The Emperor is still
annoyed with him. As the Emperor is very kind-hearted
therefore in a few days he will be again treating Mahabat
Khan with magnanimity. Now the Emperor has been displaying
his increased benevolence towards him with each passing
day. The writer requests the Raja (Jai Singh) to put up in the
vicinity of Kurukshetra for a few days before coming to
attend the court; when the order regarding the jagir for the
(Jaipur) biradari is released, he should move on further.
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The writer informs that Muhammad Amin Khan and
Ghazi Khan (Rustam Dil Khan), the Rustam-i-Jang are in
pursuit of the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. The zamindars
with their forces are also supporting them. Till date no
encounter has taken place between the two forces. There is
no confirmed news about the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur].
Nothing can be said about his whereabouts with any certainty.
After getting the correct information, I will submit the report
later on. Someone says that the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]
has run away into the hills to be with a Raja of that place.
Some say the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] has been
wounded while others say that imperial force has not yet
reached there, and they have engaged only the companions
(of Banda Singh Bahadur)...Nothing is confirmed. The
Emperor has conferred upon Muhammad Amin Khan and
Ghazi Khan Rustam Jang a robe of honour and the title of
mahi-maratab.

People of the topkhana of Kam Bakhash were in the
service of Khan Khanan. As Mahabat Khan has not paid them
their salaries that were due, therefore on Asadh Sudi 5 (1768;
June 10, 1711), all the soldiers of topkhana firstly marched
towards the camp of Bhagwant Rai and created an uproar to
demand their salaries. But the Nawab did nothing to pay them
their salaries. When the Nawab was going to attend the court,
soldiers of topkharia stopped his palanquin at the door of
gulalwara. They stormed it with sticks, stones and also threw
dust upon it. This type of uproar continued for two hours.
Then he implored them to accompany him to his camp. Raje
Khan who has served as khansama both to the Khan Khanan
and the Nawab and held the rank of daroga of topkhana, took
him (Mahabat Khan) to his camp where he was beaten,
insulted and paraded bare-headwd in the Bazar; and handed
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him over to the Pathans, and after this he asked Bhagwant Rai
to make the payment. Raje Khan holds the mansab of 700.
Khan Jahan Khan used to favour him and because of this
incident both the brothers (Mahabat Khan and Khan Jahan
Khan) have fallen apart. Their family has been divided; let us
see what happens next...The writer adds that the Guru [Banda
Singh Bahadur] has run away into the hills. The imperial
forces are in his pursuit. It is said that the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] will go towards Bareilly...Dated Sawan Vadi 5,
Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 36 Sawan Vadi 13, 1768
Vakil Report No. 67 July 2, 1711

Arzdasht informs that the writer paid a visit to the camp
of Nawab Mahabat Khan. The Nawab asked the author to sit
down as he had something special to discuss with him.
Having seen off all the mansabdars, he took the writer to his
private chambers and told that the Rajas have been too slow
on their way to the court; and because of this his rivals are
spreading canard at the court. On the basis of farad of wagia
(report of incident) the Emperor has come to know that the
Rajas have arrived at Narnaul. He further told the writer that
he was in search of an opportunity to plead before the
Emperor and request him that since the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] has run away he desired to visit his home. The
Emperor remarked that the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] has
fought two battles and so far the imperial forces did not put
full pressure upon him (and thus were unsuccessful to capture
him). Some one says that he [Banda Singh Bahadur] is in the
hills, while others say he has gone to Daber. On the other
hand, the rainy season is on the threshold which is worrying
the most. Then Mahabat Khan submitted that everyone is at
your command; order anyone, and all are ready to take up the
compaign to liquidate the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. He
suggested the Emperor to encamp in Lahore. At this the
Emperor remarked that no one in the royal army dares to
march against the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. Then
Mahabat Khan again submitted that the Emperor himself
should encamp in Lahore while both the Rajas, (Raja Jai
Singh and Raja Ajit Singh) along with their contingents may
be deployed in the cis-Sutlej area; and one detachment of the
royal army may be stationed towards the east of river Beas
and another contingent of the army should be posted in the
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foot-hills of Shivalik. Wherever the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] appears, the force of that area should be ready to
punish him. Then the Emperor remarked that he can not
understand the reason why the Rajas had taken so much time
to arrive at the court. At this moment, Shahzada Azim-ush-
Shah, who was sitting in the royal presence, said that Mahabat
Khan is right that the Rajas will attend the court very soon.
Then the Emperor asked the Shahzada to write to the Rajas
asking them to rush up immediately and camp at a place on
the river Sutlej where earlier we had encamped.

If the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] tries to escape to that
side, they should be ready to punish him; and deploy
another force on this side of the river (Sutlej). The writer adds
that Mahabat Khan was asked to write a hasbul-hukam for the
Rajas and put its draft before the Emperor. Accordingly
Mahabat Khan has prepared the draft and, after putting it
before the Emperor, whatever is ordered the writer will
submit the report later on.

The writer adds that Mahabat Khan has suggested that
if due to rainy season the Rajas are getting late then a
contingent of royal army could be spared to put at their
disposal. About 6000-7000 sawars would reach the Sutlej
before the arrival of the Rajas. The writer submits that in case
the Emperor decides to encamp himself in Lahore and Shri
Ji (Raja Jai Singh) puts his camp at Sutlej, then between the
two rivers both the armies would be at a great distance from
each other. The Emperor knows well that the Maharaja is his
well-wisher and honors whatever he orders. In this way we
can wash out his (Emperor) annoyance with us. It is said that
Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] is in the hills of Jammu. And
the news of his escape towards Daber is not yet confirmed
whereas information about his presence in the hills is quite
reliable... Dated Sawan Vadi 13, Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 37 Sawan Sudi 14, 1768
Arzdasht No. 90 July 17, 1711

Arzdasht informs that from so many reliable sources it
has come to be known that Amir-ul-Umra would depart to
suppress the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] and Emperor
would stay for ten days in the garden of Lahore. Thereafter
he would march towards Ajmer. If both the Rajas (Raja Singh
and Raja Ajit Singh) attend the royal court before the,
departure of Emperor, it would be of great interest. The writer
says that according to his understanding, this is the best way
and that is why he has submitted this report. Dated Sawan
Sudi 14, Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 38 ' Bhadav Vadi 1, 1768
Vakil Report No. 70 July 19, 1711

Arzdasht makes references to the earlier one dispatched
on Sawan Sudi 15 (July 18, 1711).The writer adds that
Shahzada and Nawab Mahabat Khan are of the view that the
Rajas are making lame excuse of the rain whereas the
Emperor himself is on the march inspite of the rain. It would
be better to reach the court at the earliest. Bhandari Khivsi has
already submitted his report in this regard. Shahzada has
asked Bhandari Khivsi to rush to the place where the Rajas
are staying and tell them that the request about their interests
would be fully conveyed to the Emperor. The writer informs
the Rajas that though they themselves have informed that they
would reach the court a little late but they have not mentioned
the reason for their delay. Please explain it at the earliest.
Bhandari Khivsi told the author that the Emperor is-very
much annoyed over the delay on the part of the Rajas. The
author enquired from him as to what was the solution of it.
Bhandari Khiwsi told the writer that he has already submitted
a report to the Shahzada about it and it has been duly
conveyed to Bhai Raghunath who in turn would submit the
report to the Maharaja. I have submitted this report on the
asking of Bhandari Khivsi. So please call Raghunath to your
presence in order to know the truth...

The writer informs that as mentioned earlier the Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur] is in the hills of Jammu and Rustam
Dil Khan is pursuing him. The Emperor’s entourage has
encamped at a place called Chamiari which is at a distance of
15 kos from Lahore. It is said that Emperor will enter into the
city of Lahore very soon. First Bhadayv Vadi 1, Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 39 Bhadav Vadi 11, 1768
Vakil Report No. 72 July 30, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh informs that the Emperor got a report from the site of
incident that both the Rajas have 30,000 sawars at their
command. On reading the report Shahzada Jahandar Shah
who was sitting in the court commented that they (Rajas) are
marching with their troops on the invitation of his brother
(Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan). He further observed that if the
strength of their combined army is less than 30,000, then it
must be around 20,000 sawars. A body of 7,000-8,000
sawars is also at the command of his brother. Jahandar Shah
advised that the Rajas should not be called to the royal court.
Earlier they (Rajas) had been advised to move slowly and put
up their camp at Sutlej as the road was flooded with water due
to rain. On behalf of Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan, Mahabat
Khan has also said the same which has been conveyed to the
Mabharaja in the reports one after another. The writer further
informs that now royal order has been issued for the Rajas to
move towards Sadhaura. An hasbul-hukm under the seal of
Mahabat Khan had been issued and gurjbardar has departed
to hand it over to the Maharaja. With the issuance of this royal
edict, dharma (moral duty) of both the sides has been saved.
Raja Ajit Singh was not prepared to attend the royal court.
The Maharaja (Jai Singh) has prevailed upon him (Raja Ajit
Singh) to visit the imperial court. The Emperor was insisting
vigorously to summon him (Raja Ajit Singh). That is why the
Maharaja had paid a visit to counsel him. By virtue of the
Maharaja’s grace, all is going well. Now according to the
royal edict, please set on your march towards Sadhaura.
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Report it to the Emperor that as per the royal order you are
on your way to Sadhaura; and put up a petition mentioning
that we were on our way to the royal court but now, as per
the royal order, we are marching towards Sadhaura; and our
large army is for the establishment of law and order and its
purpose is to serve the Mughal government...Samat 1768,
Bhadav Vadi 11 Monday.
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Sr. No. 40 Bhadva Sudi 11, 1768
Arzdasht No. 212 August 13, 1711

Arzdasht informs that another Arzdasht dispatched on
Bhadva Sudi 6 (1768; Aug. 8, 1711), Wednesday must have
unfolded the whole state of affairs at the Mughal court. It states
that the Emperor has encamped at a place which is only at a
distance of one kos from Shalimar garden (of Lahore). As the
surroundings of the garden were flooded with water, so the
Emperor at once could not enter into the garden. Shahzadas
and ladies of the royal house have shown keen interest to have
a look at the garden. The Emperor has ordered to find out a
suitable place near the garden for his camp, so that he may have
a pleasure trip of the garden. The writer informs that it rained
soheavily thatitis beyond any description. There was incessant
rain for seven days continuously. Though the Emperor’s camp
was at quite a higher place, yet it came under waist deep water.
Tents of many nobles were torn apart due to the rain. The plight
of the lashkar cannot be explained. The Emperor desired to
move his camp towards the Baoli of Dargah Mal but level of
water.at that place is also increasing. The writer adds that the
news about the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] in the army is the
same as it was before. It is said that he has stationed himself in
the hills. Rustam Dil Khan has established the camp of his
army in the foot-hills. So far there has been no news about his
whereabouts and what he is doing there. The writer informs
that Shahzada desires the Rajas to reach Sadhauraimmediately.
There should be no delay in it...The writer states that he is of
the knowledge that the Rajas have encamped on this side of
Delhi. Please send the information through messenger at the
earliest...Dated Bhadva Sudi 11, Samat 1768 Camp Shalimar.
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Sr. No. 41 1T Bhadva Vadi 2, 1768
Vakil Report No. 75 August 19, 1711

Arzdasht refers to the earlier one and informs that
Emperor would be staying at Lahore till the end of month of
Ramzan...The writer adds that the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] is camping at the river Beas. He advises the
Maharaja that now it is the opportune time to liquidate the
Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. This act on the part of
Maharaja would be highly appreciated by the Emperor and
his (Raja Jai Singh) name would be remembered in the
history for ever. The writer requests the Raja to comply with
the royal order and set out towards Sadhaura. Nobody will
detain us (Rajput Rajas) for long at Sadhaura. Adhere to the
royal edict as to perform the service (at Sadhaura) will not
take much time. Dated Second Bhadva Vadi 2, Samat 1768.

Shri Ram Ji
The writer adds that the Emperor has asked Mahabat
Khan to dispatch an hasbul-hukm to both the Rajas to take
up their position at Sadhaura immediately. As soon as the
author receives the hasbul-hukm, it will be dispatched for

onward delivery. In case it is handed over to the gurjbardar,
then he will deliver it to the Maharaja.
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Sr. No. 42 II Bhadva Vadi 5, 1768
Vakil Report No. 76 August 22, 1711

Arzdasht refers to the earlier one dispatched on I Bhadva
Sudi 12 (Aug. 14, 1711). It informs that Bhandari Khivsi left
no stone unturned to get the grant of the suba of Malwa and
Gujarat sanctioned in favour of the Rajas. He discussed it
with Shahzada and Nawab Mahabat Khan who were of the
opinion that first you ask the Rajas to abide by the royal edict
and after putting up at Sadhaura submit a petition before the
Emperor. It will convince him (Emperor) that the Rajas are
faithful and are ready to perform the service wherever they
are posted. Presently, the royal court is pre-occupied with this
type of things. Without coming to Sadhaura, grant of jagir
does not seem to be possible. Bhandari Khivsi told the
Mughal nobles that as long as the subas of Malwa and Gujarat
are not sanctioned, the Rajas would not march to Sadhaura.
If the Emperor wants the Rajas at Sadhaura, then firstly he
should fulfil their demand so that they may resume their
march. Mahabat Khan told that he has no authority to forward
the petition of the Rajas unless they reach Sadhaura. The
writer informs that Mahabat Khan complained that for the last
eight months you (author) have been telling lies that the Rajas
would attend the court within 20 days or in a month: they have
arrived at Shahjahanabad and are encamped at Karnal and so
on. But they did not turn up at the court. Everytime you take
recourse to a new excuse. It is highly deplorable for an official
of the Rajas to indulge in a bluff at the royal court. Therefore
day by day. Emperor in his heart is becoming suspicious about
the Rajas. He is of the opinion if the Rajas do not attend the
court personally then they may be having no interest at all to
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do the service of the Mughals. However, they are putting up
their petition while camping near Shahjahanabad. The writer
adds that now the situation has reached such a climax as the
issue would not be clinched unless the Rajas arrive at
Sadhaura. This is the position at the court; please do whatever
the Maharaja deems fit. The writer adds that the harkaras of
Rao Bhaskar Pandit have been assigned the duty to report
about the movement of the army of both the Rajas, obviously
to know about their departure. Mahabat Khan has been asked
to write an hasbul-hukm to the Rajas enjoining them to reach
Sadhaura immediately. Nawab has handed over the hasbul-
hukm to the writer and in turn it has been dispatched to the
Maharaja. Similar type of hasbul-hukm in the name of Raja
Ajit Singh has been dispatched. Bhandari Khivsi tried his best
to get the jagir sanctioned but unless the Rajas reach
Sadhaura nothing is going to happen. Whatever decision the
Maharaja deems suitable, please inform about it to me (the
author). The author further remarks that atmosphere at the
court is very antagonistic. Think about it seriously. Even the
writer has no place to jolt down the report. Two more
gurjbardars have been dispatched to enquire about the reason
for the delay of the Rajas. They have been instructed to go
on the spot and ask the Rajas to resume their march towards
Sadhaura and submit report about the actual position. Please
instruct the mutsadis (of Amber) to entertain the royal
gurjbardars with care... Dated Second Bhadva Vadi 5, Samat
1768.
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Sr. No. 43 II Bhadva Vadi 5, 1768
Vakil Report No. 77 August 22, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh besides unfolding the other matters informs that on
second Bhadva Vadi 3 Monday (1768; Aug. 20, 1711)
Bhandari Khivsi had an audience with Mahabat Khan
regarding the sanction of jagir to the Rajas. Bhandari Khivsi
told the Nawab that the Rajas are ready to move on this side
of Shahjahanabad if their demands are met. The Nawab
retorted that the petition of the Rajas will be submitted to the
Emperor only after they resume the duty assigned to them.
None of your demands will be considered if your Rajas are
sitting at home. Bhandari Khivsi offered so many arguments
but the Nawab did not respond. For two or three months the
Emperor would stay here (in Lahore). After that let us see
whereto he goes; it is said white-wash of palace in Ajmer has
been ordered... It is again said that the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] has gone towards Sadhaura. After collecting the
correct information, I will submit the report later on...Samat
1768, second Bhadva Vadi 5, Wednesday.
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Sr. No. 44 II Bhadva Vadi 9, 1768
Vakil Report No. 79 August 26, 1711

Arzdasht informs that Rustam Dil Khan has got the
order to cross the river Beas in order to pursue the Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur] who had already crossed the river to
encamp there. Muhammad Amin Khan has been ordered to
pursue the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] relentlessly and he
is in his chase. However, Rustam Dil Khan did not cross the
river and instead returned to present himself at the court. On
reaching at Chamiari, he submitted a petition in this regard.
Emperor ordered him: ‘Do not come to my presence, go and
pursue the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]’. Rustam Dil Khan
instead of obeying the order, on Bhadva Vadi 7, (1768; August
23, 1711) Friday night entered into his haveli in Lahore. At
this the Emperor ordered Mahabat Khan, Islam Khan daroga
of artillery and Khan Jaman Khan to arrest Rustam Dil Khan.
Inayatullah Khan, Khan Khanan was ordered to confiscate his
house. They all raided the house of Rustam Dil Khan, arrested
and took him into custody and a police post was established
at his house. When the first quarter of night had passed, they
reported the matter to the Emperor who was in his private
chamber at that time. The Emperor ordered to put him in the
custody of Islam Khan. Then Islam Khan enquired in what
way he should be treated. The Emperor ordered: ‘Put him in
chains and fix a collar of iron around his neck and be strict
with him.” Islam Khan complied with the royal edict and on
Bhadav Vadi 8 (1768; August 24, 1711) Saturday in the noon
got the order to take him in the same state to the fort of Lahore
and imprison him there in a solitary cell and keep a strict vigil
on him. Accordingly, Rustam Dil Khan was taken to the fort
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of Lahore and on the way he was rebuked and humiliated very
badly. His house and property has been confiscated and his
Jagir has been resumed as khalisa. The Emperor is very much
annoyed with him. What happens to him (Rustam Dil Khan)
next, the author will submit the report later on. Second
Bhadva Vadi 8, Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 45 11 Bhadva Vadi 9, 1768
Vakil Report No. 80 August 26, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh informs that on II Bhadva Vadi 8 (1768; August 25,
1711) Saturday Ghazi Khan Bahadur alias Rustam Dil Khan
was put in chains and an iron collar was fixed around his neck
and imprisoned in the fort of Lahore. His house and property
have been confiscated. The writer informs that when the
Emperor had just crassed the river Sutlej he had ordered
Rustam Dil Khan to proceed against the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] along with a force of 10,000 sawars. The Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur] had ravaged all the cities and villages
of the country on that (Lahore) side. Muhammad Amin Khan
along with a force of 10,000-12,000 sawars was already
leading a campaign to subdue the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur]. Many of the zamindars and faujdars were also
asked to join the compaign against the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur]. So far Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] was putting
up his stay in the hills. In the meanwhile, the towns and cities
which had been deserted by the people were resumed as
khalisa. Now when the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] came
down from the hills and was at a distance of two or four kos
from the Mughal forces, he escaped towards Daber.
Muhammad Amin Khan and Rustam Dil Khan failed to take
prompt action to suppress the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur].
Ise Khan Pathan who holds this zila asked Muhammad Amin
Khan and Rustam Dil Khan to confront the Guru [Banda
Singh Bahadur]. Ghazi Khan (Rustam Dil Khan) instead of
participating in the action fled away alongwith his army from
the scene (and took the road to Lahore). When Rustam Dil
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Khan was at a distance of 10 kos from the royal court, he
appealed to the Emperor to allow him to attend to the court
as he has some urgent petition to put before the Emperor and
after that he will proceed to the place ordered for. At this the
Emperor ordered to him: ‘First bring the head of the Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur] and only then come to my presence.
Go back from the place where you are’. The gurjbardar has
not yet delivered the order that he departed and reached the
city of Lahore in the evening. Some of his soldiers had arrived
in Lahore and some were on their way to city. The incident
was reported to the Emperor who ordered Mahabat Khan,
Islam Khan, daroga of topkhana and Mukhlis Khan kotwal
(of Lahore) to arrest Rustam Dil Khan and present him in the
court. On Bhadva Vadi 7 Friday (1768; Aug. 24, 1711), they
raided his house and arrested him and informed the Emperor
about it. Till mid-night he was made to stand out side gulalvar
(royal enclosure) and then he was put into chains and in full
public view of the city taken to the fort for imprisonment. His
family was taken to suhagpura and property confiscated.
Islam Khan, daroga of topkhana, has imprisoned him in the
fort. The Emperor is very much displeased with the army and
many of the soldiers will face suspension and many will be
put into prison. The writer will report all about this later on.
The writer adds that it is said that Muhammad Amin Khan
is still in hot pursuit of the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. The
author advises the Maharaja that in this moment of crisis he
should attend the royal court in the company of Raja Ajit
Singh. Do not allow the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] to run
away towards the hills. Arrest him (Banda Singh Bahadur) as
it would be a most joyous moment which would fetch a great
honour and position. Dated Samat 1768, second Bhadva Vadi
9, Sunday early morning.
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Sr. No. 46 II Bhadarpada Vadi 9, 1768
Vakil Report No. 265 August 26, 1711

The Arzdasht informs that there is a ramour in the laskar
that after the yearly jashan on 27th Rajab, (1123 Hijri; August
31, 1711), the Emperor will set on his march towards
Shahjahanabad and enroute will observe the month of
Ramzan. Nothing is certain about the movements of Emperor.
Whatever he decides, the author will submit the report later
on. The writer informs the Maharaja that now His Majesty’s
stay in the vicinity of Shahjahanabad is not advisable.
Mahabat Khan confided with the author and Bhandari Khivsi
that the Emperor’s annoyance with Rustam Dil Khan is in the
interest of the Rajas. In this crisis, no one is in the good books
of the Emperor to whom he can assign the task at Sadhaura
besides the administeration of that country. (In case the Rajas)
take up the assignment, it is expected that Emperor would
bestow so much favour upon them that can not be explained.
It will help a lot to establish our control and impression at the
royal court. We will be in a position to represent all the Rajas
(of Hindustan). What Nawab Mahabat Khan has expressed,
is absolutely correct. We have got the opportunity which
would not come easily in our way in the near future. Nawab
was expecting that one day Rustam Dil Khan will have to face
the wrath of the Emperor. It is the most opportune time to do
whatever you deem fit. The Shahzada (Azim-ush-Shan) has
also conveyed through Qudratullah to ask the Rajas to reach
immediately at Sadhaura and the writer is also of the same
opinion. Both the Rajas would be greeted with honour at the
royal court. The writer adds that the Erhiperor has asked the
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chelas of all nobles to arrange grain for the royal stable. He
has ordered the mansabdars who are unable to arrange the
grain to be suspended and refuse them permission to attend
the royal court. Then Pir Muhammad along with Chhajju
(Khan) was entrusted the task to collect the above levy from
the Rajas also. Consequently, Bhandari (Khivsi) paid Rs 40
and asked me (author) also to pay Rs 40. It happened just two
and a half month ago that above amount on behalf of both the
Rajas has been paid to Pir Muhammad. The writer adds that
earlier Pancholi Jagjiwan Das was given Rs 35 to pay
extortion to the police post. After some time extortion
collector again took Jagjiwan Das into his custody and was
detained. Then again an amount of Rs 35 was paid to get him
released. In that way the author has incurred Rs 70 (on behalf
of the Raja)...

It further adds that the Emperor ordered Mahabat Khan
to take along with him Shahzada Ali Itbar (Muizz-ud-Din
Jahandar Shah) to Jama Masjid of Lahore and ask the imam
to read the khutba of Friday prayer in the name of Emperor.
At this all the ulema of Lahore gathered there and replied that
they will follow the tradition which has been in vogue from
the times of Taimur to Aurangzeb. The manner in which the
Emperor has asked to pronounce the khutba, they will never
do it and are ready to die over this issue. When the Emperor
got this information, he directed them (Mahabat Khan and the
Shahzada) to postpone it as on next Friday he will get the
khutba read in his name. The writer informs that about 5,000
people on the side of the ulemas and Muslims of the army
have gathered to lay their lives.This Friday khutba has been
postponed. Next Friday about 10,000 people will again be
gathering to die as the ulemas are bent upon confrontation.
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They have collected stones on both sides of the roofs of bazar
and say they will beat them (soldiers) with the stones. They
said to the soldiers that as long as you insist on reading the
khutba in the name of Emperor, we will continue to fight.
What is decided, I will submit the report later on...Bhadarpada
Vadi 9 Samat 1768. [This report is incomplete].
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Sr. No. 47 Bhadva Vadi 10 (1768)
Aug. 27 (1711)

Arzdasht addressed to Raja Jai Singh refers to the earlier
report dispatched on Bhadva Vadi 7, Wednesday (1768; July
25, 1711). It informs that three parwanas—first one in
Persian written on Sth Jamadi-ul-Sani (1123 AH; July 11,
1711); second one written on Sawan Sudi 6 (1768; July 10,
1711) and lastly a letter of Nawab Mahabat Khan addressed
to Raja Udit Singh, were issued under the name of the author
for onward dispatch. The author received all these parwanas
on 17th Jamadi-ul-Sani i.e. Bhadva Vadi 5 Monday (1768;
July 23, 1711)... It further adds that all these papers were
drowned when the boat in which the messenger was crossing
the river Behath (Beas) capsized. Fortunately, the boatmen
present there saved the messenger from drowning and the
papers that were scattered were got collected by the people
after some time. The author submits that in the rainy season
due to moisture papers (documents) get spoiled if these are
not wrapped in a momjama (water-proof cloth). The author
requests the Maharaja that instructions be issued to the state
officials that whenever a letter is issued in his name it should
be put in a water proof-bag..The author requests the
Maharaja that whenever he (Raja Jai Singh) arrives in the
neighborhood of Delhi he may send his petition to the
Emperor through Jasol (the Raja of Jaswan). It further
informs that Nawab Mahabat Khan has conferred with this
servant (author) that when the Rajas set out from Delhi then
on their way they are supposed to enter into the pargana of
Thanesar which falls under his jagir. The Emperor has got
written undertaking from the old Nawab (Munaim Khan) and
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Mahabat Khan that no Hindu would be allowed to take a dip
in the holy tank of Thanesar. Eventually the Rajas’ pilgrimage
of Thanesar which is under his jagir, would find mention in
the report (of wagia-nawis). The Nawab has suggested to the
author to ask the Rajas to move from Karnal to Indri and put
up their camp there. In that way, the Nawab could be saved
from being called dishonest. The author adds that in these
days since he crossed the river Behath (Beas), Shahzada
Jahan Shah is indisposed. That is why he was one stage
lagging behind the laskar. The author informs that he has
entered the royal entourage at Chamiari. On Bhadva Vadi,
Saturday (1768; August 27, 1711), Shahzada Jahandar Shah
and Shah Rafi-ush-Shah paid a visit to Jahan Shah; and the
Emperor has also sought information about his well-being.
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Sr. No. 48 I1 Bhadva Vadi 11, 1768
Vakil Report No. 81 August 28, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh states that a report from Shahjahanabad has been
received. It informs that [Raja Ajit Singh] is roaming in the
garden and enjoying the game of hunting as well. Mahabat
Khan forwarded the report as such to the Emperor. Bhandari
Khivsi had also a chance to go through it. The Nawab
disclosed that the Emperor is very much displeased and upset
over these things. Now the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] has
slipped away towards Sadhaura and it is the best time to
depart for that place. It will result in great honour from the
Mughal Emperor. Bhandari Khivsi told the Nawab that he
may be allowed to depart to persuade the Raja in this regard.
The Nawab remarked that he has no interest to submit this
petition before the Emperor. In case it is submitted, it
ostensibly establishes that he (Bhandari) also wants to run
away from the royal court. For the last two months the Raja
(Ajit Singh) had stayed put at Shahjahanabad and indulged
in various kinds of oppression. What is the reason? He is
spoiling his own case. Write to him to reach Sadhaura
immediately and after that his demands will be considered.
Bhandari Khivsi proposed so many things but the puzzled
Nawab disbursed the court and left for his residence.
Bhandari said as the Nawab has not agreed to the proposal,
let us put it before Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan. The writer adds
that on many times they already had appealed to the Shahzada
but every time they had got the negative response. Let us see
presently whether he orders something new or not. All these
things have spoiled the atmosphere at the royal court. Please
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counsel Raja Ajit Singh if he wants to serve the Mughals, then
he will have to keep good relations with them and also avoid
creating disturbances in the country. Ruler and the ruled must
live in peace. Give up all these habits and perform the service
of the Mughals with utmost zeal. Arrest the Guru [Banda
Singh Bahadur] or come up with his head; thereafter all his
demands will be met. While sitting at Delhi, he (Raja Ajit
Singh) has every right to put up any demand. Earlier Khan
Khanan (Munaim Khan) used to be in the presence of the
Emperor. He was very skillful to take care of the untoward
orders passed by the Emperor. Now the court is in the hands
of boys (Shahzadas). A boy cannot match the skills of a
mature person. In order to perform the job in these
circumstances, one has to be very cautious; otherwise be
prepared to face the boys. Thus prevail upon Raja Ajit Singh
and ask him to depart from Delhi and reach Sadhaura at the
earliest. When you reach Kurukshetra, we will submit our
demands. So far everything is going in the right direction. Set
out on the march and reach at Daber. It will help to erase the
ill-will from the mind of Emperor and result in getting an
increase in the mansab and jagir as well. Whatever we desire,
it will be sanctioned. It will empower us in so many ways.
...Samat 1768, second Bhadva Vadi 11, Tuesday.
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Sr. No. 49 II Bhadva Vadi 13, 1768
Vakil Report No. 83 August 30, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh refers to the meeting that he had in the company of
Shah Qudratullah with Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan on (second)
Bhadva Vadi 13 Thursday (1768; Aug. 30, 1711). It informs
that Bhandari Khivsi has written many times to Raja Ajit
Singh but to no avail. Bhandari told the Shahzada that the
Raja is ready to depart if he is entrusted with the campaign
of Deccan. On this Shahzada remarked that it would invite
wrath of the Emperor. Bhandari Khivsi pleaded vigorously
but he did not agree. Then Bhandari submitted that he may
be allowed to depart so that he could persuade the Raja (Ajit
Singh) to depart for Daber. He was told to ask the Raja first
come to the royal presence and resume the service. It would
help to remove the ill-will from the mind of the Emperor. He
was also told that his “Raja wants to rule while sitting in
home. Who will listen to him?” Therefore within 5-7 days
Bhandari Khivsi is leaving on his mission to the Raja.
Bhandari Khivsi also enquired that in case he (Raja Ajit
Singh) agrees to take up his assignment of Daber, would the
Mughal Emperor entrust the Raja the campaign of Deccan?
Shah Qudratullah did not respond to his query. The writer
advises Raja Jai Singh to prevail upon Raja Ajit Singh and
counsel him to render the Mughal service with zeal. Come
over to Daber, suppress the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] and
earn the favour of the Emperor. His petition will be accepted
only after this. The writer adds if Raja Ajit Singh does not
adhere to the advice of Bhandari Khivsi to attend the royal
court then come what may, the Maharaja should not miss the
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opportunity. March immediately towards Daber. It is hoped
all our issues would be settled and the Emperor would also
have peace of mind. On Bhadarpada Vadi 13, Samat 1768
Thursday (August 30, 1711) in the evening Nahar Khan
arrived from Sambhar at the royal court. This Arzdasht of
Pancholi Jagjiwan Das was put before (Raja Jai Singh) by
Mian Panna on Asoj Vadi 14 (Samat 1768; Sep, 30, 1711).
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St. No. 50 Asoj Vadi 1, 1768
Vakil Report No. 317 September 16, 1711

Arzdasht informs the Raja that another Arzdasht
dispatched on second Bhadva Sudi (1768; Sep. 2, 1711) must
have reached. It states that the writer alongwith Bhandari
Khivsi paid a visit to the camp of Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan
and he called them to his presence and asked why the Rajas
are so sluggish to reach Sadhaura. The writer told the
Shahzada that the Rajas have a large army at their command.
In case on reaching Sadhaura they are assigned the campaign
to subdue the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] and in lieu of that
they do not get any benefit from the Mughal court, then how
can they survive and support such a large army? They
reminded the Shahzada that Khan Khanan (Munaim Khan)
died in grief because he failed to suppress the revolt raised
by the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. Due to the same reason,
Rustam Dil Khan has to face ignonimity. The Rajas are
completely devoted and faithful to the Emperor. If someone
complains to the Emperor that the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur] has entered into an alliance with the Rajas, they will
have to face the displeasure of the Emperor. This is the only
reason that they are concerned regarding their posting at
Sadhaura. Shahzada assured that first in accordance with the
royal order the Rajas are required to reach Sadhaura;
thereafter we will assign to them a new posting. Shahzada
asked the writer to dispatch a letter to the Rajas not to show
any reluctance to reach Sadhaura. The writer submitted that
to assure the Rajas a nisan in this connection may be issued.
On this Shahzada asked sipahsalar Qudratullah Khan to
prepare a nisan for both the Rajas and hand it over to the
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writer. Soon the nisan will be ready and after that it will be
dispatched to the Maharaja at the earliest. The writer adds that
in the morning of Asoj Vadi 1(1768; September 16, 1711), he
visited the camp of Nawab Mahabat Khan. When one quarter
of the day had passed, Nawab called him to his presence. At
the same time soldiers of Khan Jahani Risala assembled at
the door of Nawab’s camp and created an uproar that they
have nothing to eat and their salary running into Rs 1, 20,000
is yet to be paid. Why has the Nawab sanctioned only
Rs 50,000. [this report is incomplete].
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Sr. No. 51 Asoj Vadi 8, 1768
Vakil Report No. 90 September 24, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh refers to the dispatch of a nisan and siropao from
Shahzada Azim-ush-Shan for the Raja. It informs that
Shahzada has written in it that on reaching Sadhaura the Rajas
can immediately be allowed to proceed to the Deccan.
Therefore Raja Ajit Singh is required to reach Sadhaura. The
state of affairs would become clear from the nisan and the
letters of Mahabat Khan and sipahsalar Qudratullah... The
writer adds that for the last five years the maulanas of Lahore
had discontinued the practice to pronounce the khutba in the
name of the Emperor. There was some difference of opinion
on its contents relating to their religion. Therefore, the
Emperor had rushed from Hyderabad to Lahore in order to
subdue the maulanas. On reaching Lahore he held discussion
with them for two months but of no avail. Those who were
put into prison did not listen to his advice. The jagirs and
rozina sanctioned to the ulemas were also discontinued. For
two or four times they were threatened with dire consequences
but it had no effect on them. The writer adds that about a
month ago Mahabat Khan was ordered to take an army in
order to compel the ulema to read the khutba in a manner as
desired by the Emperor. Mahabat Khan got ready with a large
force but on the other hand thousands of ulema who were
ready to die sat down in the Jama Masjid (of Lahore). At this
Mahabat Khan had to postpone his plan of action. On Asoj
Vadi 6, Friday (1768; September 21, 1711) Mahabat Khan
along with his army entered into the city. Islam Khan, the
daroga of artillery was asked to block all the entry points into
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the city. No ulema of the city was allowed to enter into the
Jama Masjid. All the streets were closed. Mahabat Khan got
the khutba read in the name of the Emperor. However, some
say that khutba was read in the same manner as it was read
before. Some say it was read according to the new pattern.
Dated Samat 1768, Asoj Vadi 8.

ISTRhBoOKCLub. com|



162 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

Sr. No. 52 Katik Vadi 8, 1768
Vakil Report No.100 Oct 23, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Raja Jai Singh
informs that on Katik Vadi 8 (1768; October 23, 1711)
Tuesday, Bhandari Khivsi and the author paid a visit to
Mahabat Khan at his residence. During their meeting Mahabat
Khan disclosed that on Katik Vadi 7, Monday, he had an
audience with the Emperor where the Emperor enquired from
him about the decision taken in the case of the Rajas. He said
it was submitted that the Rajas in accordance with the royal
edict have arrived at Sadhaura and now wherever their
posting is ordered they will proceed there. At this the Emperor
ordered the assignment of East to Raja Ajit Singh and Raja
Jai Singh was assigned to Deccan. It was also decided if he
did not want to go there then assign him Kangra and in case
he did not wish to take it, then ask him to present himself at
the imperial court. The Emperor inquired that why the Raja
(Jai Singh) entertained so much distrust? Who can gobble
him up? If he puts faith in me then he can trust me for the
whole life. Ask him to give up distrust as Shahzada Azim-
ush-Shan is a nephew of the Raja (Jai Singh).

Arzdasht of Pancholi Jagjiwan Das written on Katik
Vadi 8 (Oct. 23, 1711) was delivered (at Jaipur) on Katik Sudi
14 (1768; November 12, 1711).
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Sr. No. 53 Katik Sudi 6, 1768
Vakil Report No. 108 November 4, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh states that an Arzdasht dispatched on Katik Sudi 1
(1768; October 31, 1711,) Wednesday must have reached and
the whole affair must be known. The author informs that on
Katik Sudi 5 (1768; November 4, 1711), the writer in the
company of Bhandari Khivsi paid a visit to sipahsalar
Qudratullah. It informs that for the last five days, Diwan
Bhikhari Das was not keeping good health but now he is
feeling well. Qudratullah informed that it is rumoured that the
Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] intends to attack Muhammad
Amin Khan. In case the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] attacks
Muhammad Amin Khan, both the Rajas should rush to the
support of Muhammad Amin Khan and liquidate the Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur]...Samat 1768, Katik Sudi 6,' Sunday
(1768; November 4, 1711).

1. Katik Sudi 5th and 6th in the year of 1768 Bk. occured in the common
Era on the same day i.e. November 4, 1711.
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Sr. No. 54 Maghshir Sudi 9, 1768
Vakil Report No. 114 December 7, 1711

Arzdasht refers to the earlier one dispatched on Maghshir
Sudi 8, (1768; December 5, 1711) Wednesday. It informs that
when the gurjbardar was ready to depart the Emperor ordered
Mahabat Khan to write an hasbul-hukm for the Rajas asking
them to stay for a few days more at Sadhaura in order to quell
the rebellion of the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. The Nawab
prepared the hasbul-hukm and desired to hand it over to the
same gurjbardar. However, the gurjbardar had already
departed with the nisan and siropao for the Rajas. On
knowing that gurjbardar has departed, the Nawab appointed
an ahadi to deliver the said hasbul-hukm to the Rajas...Dated
Maghshir Sudi 9, Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 55 Pos Vadi 5, 1768
Vakil Report No. 118 Dec. 19, 1711

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh refers to the earlier Arzdasht dispatched on Pos Vadi
1, Samat 1768 (December 14, 1711)...It informs that firstly
Mahabat Khan got prepared the farman and then sought the
permission of the Emperor to send it through a gurjbardar to
the Rajas. The Emperor ordered another hasb-ul-hukm for the
Rajas may be drafted which was to be handed over to the same
gurjbardar; in this royal decree both the Rajas are ordered to
remain camped at Sadhaura. The Emperor said that we are.
despatching an army under Hoshdar Khan in order to take
position in the (Jalandhar) doab. Until the army under
Hoshdar Khan reached there, both the Rajas would remain
stationed at Sadhaura. Bhandari Khivsi had received both the
imperial orders. It further adds that Nawab Mahabat Khan
summoned Bhandari Khivsi and the writer, and insisted that
we write immediately to the Rajas asking them to remain
stationed for some more days at Sadhaura. Hasb-ul-hukum to
this effect has already been issued and you (Bhandari Khivsi
and the writer) also write to impress upon the same
requirement. Bhandari Khivsi submitted that gurjbardar had
already departed with the farman and the hasb-ul-hukm had
been issued four days later. Bhandari Khivsi submitted that
on receiving the farman the Rajas may have left Sadhaura. At
this the Nawab told that it was not good on the part of your
masters to disobey the royal order. Then the Nawab left on
horseback to consult the Shahzada (Azim-ush-Shan) and
informed him that there is every liklihood that the Rajas may
have left the place (Sadhaura). The Shahzada remarked that
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in case the Rajas have departed without waiting for the
second order, then it is realy very bad. To disobey the royal
order is not in their interest. Now you write another hasb-ul-
hukum to the effect that the Rajas must spare 1000 sawars
each for their deployment in Sadhaura. In case they have
already set on the return march to their country, then on
receiving the hasb-ul-hukm they must comply with it from the
place where they are. There should be no let up in this regard.
After getting leave of the Shahzada, Mahabat Khan came
back and informed Bhandari Khivsi of the decision. At this,
Bhandari Khivsi and the author consulted Shah Qudratullah.
He remarked that Shahzada has emphasized very strongly
that the Rajas must spare their sawars to help Hoshdar Khan.
After returning to the camp Bhandari Khivsi and the author
deliberated over the matter thorougly. They felt that firstly
they disobeyed the royal order to inform the Rajas that they
are allowed to move out of Sadhaura. Secondly, the hasb-ul-
hukm to the effect that the Rajas would stay put at Sadhaura
was dispatched late. At this juncture what is the option? All
of us held discussionsus and the Maharaja can take our
opinion into consideration. Bhandari Khivsi thought very
seriously and suggested that without deploying 500 sawars
each by both the Rajas, their situation is not going to improve
at the royal court. So you (author) also write an arzdasht
explaining thoroughly to the Raja (Jai Singh) to spare 500
sawars for the above purpose. The author counsels the Raja
that in case Raja Ajit Singh is ready to spare 500 of his sawars
then you must also follow the suit... Dated Pos Vadi 5, Samat
1768.
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No. 56 Pos Sudi 10, 1768
Vakil Report No. 121 January 7, 1712

Arzdasht refers to the earlier one despatched on Pos Sudi
9 (1768; January 6, 1712)...The author adds that day and night
he is determined to get the jagir granted (to the Jaipur
house).He is quite hopeful that the objective will be achieved
very shortly. The author adds that he has got the information
that the Maharaja has marched out of Haridwar on Pos Vadi
15 (Dec. 28, 1711) and is very pleased over this development.
He expresses his desire to pay his respect to the Raja very
shortly... Dated Pos Sudi 10, Samat 1768.
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Sr. No. 57 Phagun Sudi 13, 1768
Vakil Report No. 266 March 10, 1712

Arzdasht of Bhandari Khivsi to Raja Jai Singh informs
that the Guru [ Banda Singh Bahadur] has reoccupied Sadhaura.
About 4000-5000 men are at his command. Again people are
flocking to him. In this zila, his dread is wide spread. All the
villages bear a deserted look. On hearing his [Banda Singh
Bahadur] movement Muhammad Amin Khan who was at
Sarhind, has departed (towards Sadhaura to pursue him). This
is the state of affairs here. I (the author) wish to return to our
country ai the earliest. It is hoped that I will arrive on Chait
Vadi 6-9 (1768; March 18-21, 1712) as I am to discuss so
many important matters with the Maharaja. I am reaching
very soon, no more delay is advisable. It is requested that a
prominent noble like Sham Singh may be called so that he
may be deputed at the Mughal court. If he has been given
permission to visit his home, please call him before I reach
(Amber/Jaipur). He can that way discuss the matters with me.
There should be no delay in this matter...Samat 1760, Phagun
Sudi 13, Sunday evening.
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Sr. No. 58 Phagun Sudi 13, 1768
Vakil Report No. 267 March 10, 1712

Arzdasht informs the addressee that in these days the
route (Lahore to Delhi) which passes north-east of Narela is
in use...The writer adds that Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] has
stationed himself in Daber and is dispatching letters to
different places. The faujdar of Ambala has collected an army
of about 1200-1300 sawars. Sher Afghan, the faujdar of
Ujjain has also arrived at Panipat. It is said that Sarbuland
Khan has reached Agra. It is said that Shahzada Farukhsiyar
would be reaching very soon. Dated Phagun Sudi 13, Samat
1768. [It is an incomplete report].
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Sr. No. 59 Chait Vadi 13, 1769
Vakil Report No. 270 March 24, 1712

Arzdasht addressed to Raja Jai Singh refers to the state
of affairs at the Mughal court (in Lahore after the succession
of Jahandar Shah on Safar 21 (1123 AH; March 18, 1712)...It
informs that the new Emperor, Jahandar Shah, has made new
appointments and according to that Muhammad Amin Khan
has been granted the mansab of 7,000 zat and 7,000 sawars
and has been entrusted to lead the campaign against the Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur]. Shahzada Aziuddin has got the
mansab of 30,000 zat and 25,000 sawars and will leave on
5th of Rabi-ul-Awal (1123 AH; April 1, 1712) to lead a
campaign against Farukhsiyar. It is said that the royal camp
would depart from Lahore for Shahjahanabad on 5th (of
Rabi-ul-Awal) and it is also rumoured that departure would
be on 7th (of Rabi-ul-Awal). It informs that in order to get
confirmation of the mansab of Raja Partap Singh, the author
paid a visit to Khan Jahan Bahadur. His staff told the writer
that after understanding the whole matter, they would submit
the petition for his (Khan Jahan) consideration. On this Raja
Partap Singh, Raja Gopal Singh Bhaduria and Mohkam
Singh jointly represented before the officials that they joined
the Mughal army four days before the battle (for succession);
and were ready to die for your cause and now how we can
bear the expenses on the maintenance of our soldiers. They
were expecting reward of Rupees one Lakh each but instead
they were being asked to bear their expenses themselves. The
officials told that the Nawab has ordered that only those
persons’ petitions should be brought to him for confirmation
who has promised to pay expenditure of the expedition. Raja
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Partap Singh has agreed to pay Rs. 20,000; however the
confirmation order of his mansab has not yet been received.
The writer informs that parwana to resume the jagirs had
been issued. Now order to release the jagirs has been issued.
Whosoever applies to Amir-ul-Umra for restoration of his
jagir, is being asked by Raja Sabha Chand to first promise the
payment of a specified amount and only then restoration order
is issued. The writer informs that Zabardast Khan has been
conferred with the title of Ali Mardan Khan and his mansab
elevated to the rank of 7,000 zar and 7,000 sawars. He has
also been appointed subadar of Lahore. Jahandar Shah has
succeeded to the Mughal throne and all the nobles and
ministers have resumed their office...The writer adds that
after the death of Bahadur Shah he has not got any return letter
from Shri Ji (Raja Jai Singh). The author requests the Raja
whatever advice is given to him, think over it very seriously.
The anarchy associated with the administration of Khan
Khanan during Bahadur Shah’s rule has been finished. Now
the office of diwan is with the Iranians. Whatever they do,
they do it very carefully. They do not indulge in conflict but
are tactful to execute their scheme. That is why within no time
they got killed the Shahzadas. In the war of succession, the
casualties were less than ten persons. Dated Chait Vadi 13,
Samat 1769.
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Sr. No. 60 Vaisakh Sudi 8, 1769
Vakil Report No.145 May 3, 1712

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das informs Raja Jai
Singh about the administrative changes that have occurred
under the new Emperor, Jahandar Shah...The writer expresses
his dismay at the nature of the new Emperor and the wisdom
displayed by the Nawab. He further adds that in the army
camp various kinds of rumours are in circulation...Shahzada
Aziuddin has departed alongwith an army of 50,000 sawars
to confront Farukhsiyar. The Emperor conferred upon him a
special robe of honour, an elephant, horse, jewels and cash
of Rupees one crore and elevation in the mansab and sent him
off. The Emperor has started on his journey towards
Shahjahanabad. Thirty halts at a distance of 4 kos each have
been fixed. Let us see how many days he takes. Bridges on
the rivers are being laid...The following nobles have been
given important appointments.

Amir-ul-Umra, Khan-i-Dauran second bakhshi,
Hafizullah Khan became third bakhshi; Tarbiat Khan son of
Ali Mardan Khan subadar of Lahore (Zabardast Khan) has
also got appointment; Ali Mardan Khan has been appointed
naib-subadar of Multan as well; Khan Jahan Bahadur and
Raja Gopal Singh Bhaduria have also got assignments;
Baharmand Khan has been appointed daroga of gurjbardars;.
Daud Khan has been appointed subadar of Deccan; Inayatullah
Khan became the subadar of Kashmir; Nasir Khan has been
appointed subadar of Kabul, Hussain Khan was made naib-
subadar of Thatta...Dated Samat 1769, Vaisakh Sudi 8
dispatched early in the morning.
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St. No. 61 [eth Sudi], 1769
Vakil Report No. 286 May, 1712

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh informs that Muhammad Amin Khan has written to
Nawab Amir-ul-Umra that companions of the Guru [Banda
Singh Bahadur] have occupied the pleasure palace of the
Emperor near Sadhaura. They have established a fort there
and converted it into a thana. With a body of soldiers he
(Muhammad Amin Khan) raided that place, fought with the
Sikhs and by virtue of grandeur of the Emperor all the Sikhs
who were inside the fort were killed. Now he is proceeding
towards Lohgarh to give a battle to the Guru [Banda Singh
Bahadur]. By the good fortune of the Emperor all the rebels
would be captured very soon. .. [Jeth Sudi] Samat 1769.
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Sr. No. 62 [Vaisakh Vadi 1770]
Arzdasht No. 145 [April, 1713]

Arzdasht from Jeth Mal to Maharaja Jai Singh informs
about the preparation made and strategy devised by the Sikhs
to confront the Mughal army at Sadhaura. The writer states
that the Mughal army marched from Sadhaura towards a chak
called Lohgarh. It has established its camp which is about 5
kos on this side of Lohgarh. From Lohgarh the Guru [Banda
Singh Bahadur] is sending verbal messages to the Mughals
asking ‘Why they were putting up there? Come immediately
and fight with us.” On this Abdul Samad Khan set forth and
has taken position which is at a distance of 2 kos from
Lohgarh. The writer adds that so far there has been no good
battle between the Mughals and the Sikhs. This time he
(author) hopes it will be a pitched battle. In the fort, the Guru
[Banda Singh Bahadur] has made good preparations for the
battle. Every ingress to the fort has been blocked by cutting
down trees, besides trenches have been dug out around it. In
the trenches the Sikh musketeers have taken positions
whereas the batteries of artillery, rahkilas and sutnaals are
lined up on the ramparts of the fort. Just below the fort is a
human settlement which has fortification around it where the
Sikh riflemen have taken positions. Inside the fort they
(Sikhs) have amassed a good stock of ammunition, grains and
water. The strength of the Sikh army is fairly good. It is said
there are about 2,000 sawars and 5000-7000 foot soldiers
with them. The (Sikh) horsemen are stationed in the nearby
hills. They employ sudden raid tactics to cut the Mughal
supply lines besides hitting hard the advance parties of the
Mughal army. In this manner they have put the Mughal

IS1khBookCLub. com!



English Translation of the Documents 175

soldiers into a great dilemma. All the Sikh foot soldiers are
inside the fort. They have made very good preparation that is
why the coming battle would be a pitched one. So far in
Sadhaura only the Mughal soldiers were fighting but now the
Mughal officers have also arrived. Therefore they would fight
more vigorously. In the imperial army there are about 7000
sawars which are not enough to deal with the situation. The
material which is of no use in the battle, the Guru [Banda
Singh Bahadur] has transported it further into the hills to a
place called Paonta. It is at a distance of 12 kos from Lohgarh.
The Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] has camped himself inside
the fort. This is all about till date. [Vaisakh Vadi 1770].
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Sr. No. 63 Bhadav Vadi 12 [1770]
Arzdasht No. 139 August 6 [1713]

Arzdasht from Sadhaura by Jeth Mal to Maharaja Jai
Singh informs that situation at Lohgarh is the same that he
had reported in his earlier dispatch. On Bhadav Vadi 6 (1770;
July 31, 1713) there was heavy down pour. Throughout day
and night it rained incessantly. In this rain a body of 500 Sikh
foot soldiers and 500 sawars very carefully entered into the
fort. Thereafter in the morning 200 Sikhs came out of the fort
and pounced upon the Mughals in such a furious manner that
the whole Mughal army was thrown into disarray and the
Mughal soldiers ran helter-skelter to seek refuge here and
there. It continued for two quarters of time. Having killed 20
Mughal soldiers, the Sikhs withdrew safely into Lohgarh.
Near the fort but in front of the battle-lines, the (Mughals) had
erected a garguj (platform) on which they had mounted a
canon. During the night the Sikhs came out of the fort, tied
the ropes to the canon and pushed it down on the Mughals.
Due to this eight Mughal soldiers were killed. They (Mughals)
again pulled the canon in order to mount it on the platform.
Though the Sikhs put a great pressure on them yet the
Mughals were successful to mount it. The fort is besieged on
three sides. The Mughal army has taken position. One side
of the fort is open; the Sikhs armed with bow and arrows sally
out from the open side of the fort to graze their cattles such
as horses, bullocks and buffaloes. Whatever quantity of
fodder and firewood is required, they (Sikhs) take it into the
fort. The Mughal soldiers can see them but only to turn a blind
eye to it. The Mughal soldiers have no courage to charge their
horses and challenge the Sikhs. On the contrary the Sikhs
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always challenge the Mughals and every day 5-7 Mughal
soldiers are killed by them. This is the routine which is going
on for quite some time. Two days back in the command of
Ise Khan, some reinforcement has arrived to join the
imperialists. About 500 sawars and 200 musketeers have
been deployed on the side which was open. They are very
close to the fort. Consequently, the escape route of the Sikhs
has been closed. The Mughal soldiers are patrolling the area
below the fort. From all sides the fort is fully beseiged. Let
us see for how many days the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]
stays in the fort or escapes to some other place. So far this
is the information. What happens after it, the report will be
submitted later on. Dated Bhadva Vadi 12 [1770].
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Sr. No. 64 Asoj Vadi 3-5, 1770
Arzdasht No. 161 August 27-29, 1713

Arzdasht from Chaube Jeth Mal to Maharaja Jai Singh
informs that on Asoj Vadi 3, Samat 1770 (August 27, 1713)
Nawab Abdus Samad Khan, et al have decided to invade the
fort (Lohgarh) but many of their companions gave up the
attempt in despair. Therefore raid on the fort was postponed.
It provided time to the people (Sikhs) in the fort to be vigilant.
They fortified their battle-lines. The Nawab has got the
artillery to storm the fort. It is hoped that the fort will be taken
over soon. Infact nothing significant has been left in the fort.
The writer adds that between Sadhaura and Lohgarh, there is
a place called Tarwargarh which is stocked with immense
quantity of ammunition and material. In Lohgarh he [Bandon
Singh Bahadur] himself has taken the position. On Bhado
Sudi 11(1768; August 21, 1713) an advance party of the
Mughal army has moved towards the hills. It came under
attack of the army of the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. They
[Sikhs] took away the followings in the form of booty:

Horses Camels  Bullocks  Other beasts of burden

100 30 40 200
Soldiers killed Wounded Taken as prisoners
40 20 35

Since the news of Mohkam Singh’s death has gone
public, the companions of the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]
have become more daring and bold. On Asoj Vadi 5 (1770;
August 29, 1713), a body of 200 Mughal sawars happened
to advance for the purpose of patrolling. Instead of fighting
with the Sikhs, the Mughal soldiers fled away before them.

1SikhBookCLub. com|



English Translation of the Documents 179

Baloch Khan, the head jamadar fell fighting. The heads of
four other Mughal nobles were chopped off and taken away
by the Sikhs. Abdus Samad Khan is totally a coward but the
soldiers are very fine. However, there is no unity among them.

ISTRhBookCLub. com,



180 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

Sr. No. 65 Chait Vadi 6, 1771
Vakil Report No. 245 February 24, 1714

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh refers to the disturbances in the Deccan...The writer
adds that he has already submitted a report regarding the
disturbances created by the rebel followers of [Guru] Nanak.
He informs that they have created a wide spread disturbances
in the pargana of Batala. Abdus Samad Khan supported by
other zamindars has departed to suppress the rebels (Sikhs).
It is reported that people of Lahore are living under the dread
of the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur]. On this, the Emperor
ordered Afsaryab Khan, third bakhshi, to go and exterminate
the rebels (Sikhs). Whenever Afsaryab Khan departs on this
expedition, it will be submitted in the next report. Dated
Chaitar Vadi 6, Samat 1771.
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Sr. No. 66 Chait Vadi 10, 1771
Vakil Report No. 245 February 28, 1714

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh refers to the state of affairs in the Deccan...The writer
adds that a report submitted to the Emperor informs that the
Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] has created a widespread
uprising in the parganas of Kalanaur and Batala. It adds that
Abdus Samad Khan (subadar of Lahore) had gone to
liquidate the Bhattis (of Multan). People of the city of Lahore
are highly scared (of the Sikhs). Consecutively submitted
reports revealed that the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur] has
created wide spread disturbances besides ravaging the towns
and villages and intends to raid the city (of Lahore). Abdus
Samad Khan had initiated a campaign against the Bhattis (of
Multan) and was 30 kos away from the city of Lahore. He was
ordered to set out, in collaboration with Afsaryab Khan,
Khan-i-Dauran, Raja Udit Singh, zamindar of Orccha, Rao
Ram Chand Bundela, Kalyan Singh Bhaduria and others,
with an army to exterminate (the Sikhs). Presently, the
Mughal army and its armaments are getting ready. Whenever
it sets out, report will be submitted...Dated Chaitar Vadi 10,
Samat 1771.
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Sr. No. 67 Bhadav Sudi 11, 1772
Vakil Report No. 282 August 29, 1715

Arzdasht from Pancholi Jagjiwan Das to Maharaja Jai
Singh informs that the Emperor (Farukhsiyar) is suffering
from bhagandar (fistula) for the last so many years. When he
was on an excursion in the neighbourhood of Panipat, there
was heavy rain accompanied by cold spell. It aggravated the
wound leading to severe pain. Now the Emperor is under the
treatment of a European doctor. One wound is very deep
whereas pus is oozing out of the other. It is severely painful.
But in these days there was little relief. Day by day the
Emperor is recovering from the ailment. It is hoped that he
will be alright very soon...The writer adds that Tagarab Khan,
son-in-law of Khansama has got the pargana of Sarhind on
izara in lien of Rs 52,00,000. The said pargana was laid
waste by the rebellion of the Guru [Banda Singh Bahadur].
Therefore Tagarab Khan could not deposit the promised
amount in the royal treasury. Ali Ahmed Khan, a subordinate
of Tagrab Khan held the office of faujdar (of Sarhind). Now
he has been again appointed faujdar of that place (Sarhind).
Dated Bhadav Sudi 11, Samat 1772.
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BHAD 1 g &t 2, (1767)
3GRIAG &, 195 T 26, 1710)

st FEren of st & Rig ot

Rifr st serRw fror #eren ot st @wor wwEEE
3@ET S o

st FERTGT off TeliAa FeToNe Fdeh & uaEr faHdr
oE It 4 (1767) (13 RIFaw 1710) 3t Rrwr Harer Prard
I St B wEEr B W TG g F AN G
HAoE Al 9 TEIol g8 ot ot FEren St wawE
At AE w1 (25 Rdw) uawE off B G@ gar g Aor
TSy I FAT 3@ 3 A oS A qIAT B T o
@ e Fger Bt @ ard aw TR oo

it HERON IAHG @A Bl Ao B dae o FaE
TeETe (HegH W) Agold BRI Al BIPE T FE g
Bz B 3 § Ao forw N R g & om @@ Rim
EIGT, of YT BWH T O oF 3 55 o o SRy B AT
g o d= R 3R dfiEe @ wem 3uw oft A ¥ R
ft HAERET ot FcHd FaE FEHET FATE X BIART
HERIGT BE db I, FGoNE 3RST B9 g == I’ A
gl BT U ST B, GRARN 3mar @ 3T @Y B, 4 &
FHa AR Jd F oft AEROT FemHa Ferren ft aeha
Rig ot i @ aF slon & 2, 3@ & gt amm A A
g ar st #ERIem off & Ar° guweN off gmer @ woft
adle gAE S ot

St FERIGT TG Hvsd Faf R wE 3@ 2 (26
ez 1710) o A e &A@ o).

1. 9B, W2E; 2. AT F 3 Frcleier guaa 2E wsm w
3. Age, ;4. Japr (ha W), 5. oied
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off FERmen St JeTHa AEe B TS F FawAIe (gae)
g @ @iEr ¥ gl Y g FaAE o ar 3H B A
Y @ Us oo G U oEe B AT A Fe@d F G
AT FEHAET ot @ dare W T I A @ IS [FET
i a81ge] ®S & @B B AoT Fal Al Y AR IBT
# 2 o g@ @@ A e IT Ul F Fewa & ot
oft @ B 9T 3R F TRA® HA J Aa B TSl B
far ga o 3R waw @ o @) I & w9
# 3¢ O 2 wad B s I A I& B awa B Tew
FE gl da B aEl F R g R waHE g€ g o
FER B AT A § § TJwA), G BE AGAE Bl &
B ar = [se Ry @wge] § Yo B F grr dam @
i BN 3 AR aa A oft ww Enft aEa @ Tew B
T U Gelt 2 g BEe & IS [der Ry wagr] F Yo
HRY UD F T Off AT B & A FiG HE & Ot

1. 391, §EEN; 2. 98l; 3. HEIG; 4. BARL; 5. BUR; 6. BN
7. gEeI
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HHIB 2 #;Y JA 3, 1767
gl RuE 4. 21 Sead 10, 1711

st FERERRS JaTHdt

ft FERIST S Femerd! UlaEE off @ EAgA §PA q
IRCEER Yelsl @ Aol I IAT, S geerd @vdt H el IqS
[ger R @z1gz] 2 oiter ot use o ot o=, a@ wEEr
& el B ReRES UgwE ot & nd 3R Awd e,
o 9% [der Riw @eigR] ad awdt & s @d, ameof
& &1 Ao B ST A B, SN URATE St ST Bl AR
ot g& amect @1 IeT B g IR B, o B [der Ry
Feig] @ a1 SR IF, q@ Ferwen AUt B TS g
X dble B, 99 AEON B AT IS BR O AI HOR’
A 5 d@, R AW dae qS N AW & A 37 B ool
grgan, A dare B UAT AT o &9 (3F) &1 siaon
* B oft, 3R R N9t uEE ot FeEE B g
off dlarer & @t @& BT 3, g Ioh B B B B
% [der Riw wege] @ Va1 B8 won wars A A s
DI A Ba! DT IR T ITBT FG AGNC IR=T, IR A
3T B A B IRGEHAT HE B O A IE B Agoodr FHAAT

1

1. Oeerr; 2. R; 3. ofeer; 4. Rer; 5. @@ an 6. aor
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BHHIB 3 AT Fa 11, 1767
adter RUE & 23 Fedst 19, 1711

st HeRonRRe JenHdr

aReeEdl ®uR A wE I 3 AR gEAR B A
ot ot B & d efiedt swer ugH! @l ot
FERGT FEAd Fea Far g@ A FAe uh fa @wen B
& A5 I P Gd A B Ao a1 HIST AT AEH @I
qAT A SRS UgEEr & Y P R aner (@) @ off
a UEY wd W wdis WA cdew @ sRel ugd @l
oft.. sft wErren of Fenerdt I [dar Riw w@sgz] & TEd
AHET H TE T o e BT Ao B Al Al AdAl 3R
ameelt & e Y A wen @ ge B A I I 3R anevlt
@ AST B A IF Ten B F@w fH A @ IF e B TP
3T 3 BN BET off AW AT BN UIGAE St A AbAT AN HaAT
& gon @ & g ud FHN Tw ameelt & Jew B Al
ar I TS B AN el 3T O BT F IS AS Hieo”
#F U = e TSl B BT A IF WES H ASS BT
2 3R 0 D ww @1 PR gos ([WEs) ¢ A Heh ar
¥ oEn FE 3R UAHE B W6 B Jad o Jd anel
A e TS A UGHE o P AUE dHE B A BE Al
T2 T oft umsar a1 S BE 2 O 3 UBST AT S USIel
A e & e @ @ ot s HERem ot Jemsrdr o
37 uaaE A HIaH A W B AHGT IEAd Joil & IR
UAATE St diue dEae & 3R FIP! gur St Ferwen off
¥ o B Ul O 3RAR B Bie A Algeie B aT6
I o B A yER o B daw ouer v A

st FEReT St TN FaE Heos gaee P ga
6 o donem W FaARR g3 off A ol e H@ B4 o=

1. 3ugel; 2. GBI #Ew; 3. OIS 4. FEl; 5. UTAIR
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St 8r der A GEea & o Jow ot B TA LAl I@en
gar ar gy Hieron gtar A s gar citeal ol 3R
e Jon ol g ot @ o’ a1 3R e ue R¥g St oar
A q o anevlt @1 won @ gw A IH [d@ Rim @@
AEH AT 3T AEON H JSW I B U BF 80 UES H
2 ot geft 3maon wevft 2 3w uiawE A a1 TEd T oW
3oit FAT A UHSAT 3TN AT AR 3T cAisier off.. Hidr
#E JA 11 F@@ 1767...
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HHAB 4 HY Far 11, 1767
TP R 4. 36 Sead 19, 1711

sft FEROIERST JenHd

ATl B Hdl A FE 5 a1 F& 8 B Al genaa
&1 o7 A Hid FE JYal 3 FHUGAR T Ugar ot Herene
WIS AT ALY I AT oft..

st #ewen ot Fawdt IS [da1 Rig weigz] uwsar
oM 3R AW eAlordarel AR Joieren ar dar off seRTEd
¥ Acht F FSE Aoz Qe FaE B IRGEHA! IR
oit.. Mt &E JA 11 H1767 FEE JER.
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HAD 5 B[S a9t 4, 1767
gdla RuE 4. 25 Sead 27, 1711

st a7 ot
ot FERENRRST JarHd!

oAt B A wE FE 11 GEER 19, 1711)
& ofislt et aoft B A I edwdt 3w ugdl et
oft....

sft sErIeT Sft FeHdT At FE JA 14 AeFAR (St
22, 1711) TR YraATE ot AY 361 ugars anevlt &1 Jen
@ A IS [dar Riw a@ggR] B @ g 2 sw aew A
D TR TN ZT HAT T 3R AT S B & ot ASEA Fi
Tl B gHA AT S NS I IS [der Ry weigz]
B A I qE JSA P gHA AT o Fe@wd J A ADE
HA @l 3R YS P A6 B UoRI TR FRER' BT
2 &9 & Jo7 3R & 3mar 3R IF & JRR A gong usd
g T A @ 3 F Yo A A aw ARy wdd wEEa
F ot TR o AR e (FarsA F) off aEd
d9 UIGaE ot GIART off gA Biel o o I [§91 Rig
TEG] B A AT TG FTAH I B S AL FLBR A
2 A IS UHSA & A dodie U & doikie QT ad
HeWA B S A AN T UIGHIE Off GRATS o gH 3L
PR ASl 3R Al B o Aaw A 3a st FHeRow oft
Jarrerdt At wEor @l 1 (24 SEES 1711) TSRS
UEaATE JRRT B I A greE A JET W B A5 T
=E gar of...

AR B FHiEd JR UhIl Soreidd & B oy
AT 32T ugdelt oft... MR s wERET off Fewed a@medft @t

1. Jawt, ufar; 2. fiown; 3. @itar; 4. 3wa; 5. a@ du
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TS B FH D A BN HUAT ARG DI UIGTHE Ot cTdlar?
R B A A% usar I 3G oder off Hidt wemr
& 4 H. 1767.

IR UraATE off ofic YFaNEl 3y WS gar © o A
BRW @& 2 o il gar off|

1. oW, 3JMaEeT; 2. 3rEfar, 3ferr
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HHD 6 GR[E d& 13, 1767
adla RAE & 27 WIS 4, 1711

sft I St
off HEROIRRS JarHar
3RGRRG TR AT BT J& 4 FeHar (27 Sead
1711) & ol aof aoft B & JF I8 ot s wgh
2rft oft st @R off Jomedt idt wemr oft 5 fHaar
(28 o@d) & UaHE off S@er’ &R ot A wenr a@dbt
7 FoeE@R (30 TEEd 1711) o UGHE Sft BN IIHEN

X
:
:
4
]
§
4§

HERTON Sff FcTAC fard FerEel (HAgH o)
of o @ fialR Jerdt gE J T o
B A TR @ o B o 3R #s@d H
[N B B R A T FA T & ot A

ESE
sl%l,%‘g

sﬁamaﬁaam?ﬁaamthaa}mﬁhm
3 det & aga oige” a9 UF @ A 3@ al 9

qFA I Off WIET o gar st ASRIGN off Fewedr
%ﬂm@?}ﬁsm%?ﬁmeﬁaﬁgﬁﬁa
UBSAT Ao A TSN A AW 3R ot
G ST Ot 3R Y A FEH B S WE ugd
i I A aEvht B Ao B A B sReRrEH

GPYGYEP
ﬁi%g%i
Ay w

g

2 3R T oft IEd ¥ o 3§ ¥ ST 3RmER wEEr &SR
e B 3R BT B AAR FI & A AR B AT B FB

1. G9E, g@d; 2. desy; 3. Sy
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I T HE 3R BA HE 3H AT Fed & o Yo [dar
iy @grgR] o ety o= 3R B3 B AT W B WE A
Fag A W T A o FEER Aen A us F e forder
ot st Freren oft Jomerdt 33 g @ sdied v Rt
o WEl gt A O urawE off @gle F ot @ am g
3R THAE FEe & o udeh A IR & o ghron &
e B T At o g8 T IS [der Rig wEge] B At
B ddls’ B W IH P TF (A I 2F 3 33
TE FERAYR R & e A A wad R o HUe caw
(Fge-diogame) 6 WE Ea FEehem@E @ oY fadr
UlGAE Sff @ giedt Sl 3RGT Ugdir A 3na @@t
oft...

ot HEren St Femerdt WAt wEE @ 8 AR gEER
(31 se@d 1711) & uawE off & @@ @ W@ g uiE
Tt o 3 efie gar ot A wew & 11 Sudar
TEEE UaAEe g A B e oRd? FeRaR B
Falier o FSr gar B of..

off HEST off T UraATE off GAE off HERAyY
A TEE geadyR (FHEyR) 3 e a8 &6 R
B! 3R RAR P TP T Sreiad S & S
A ar aer B B A 3RS ugden off A wEE wdt 13
Raar (4 wa® 1711) H. 1767.

1. Fon eoft, o e 2. O, TWAT AGE @ Sl o & Sas
22 I BT ft; 3. Todls; 4. Bew
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BHIB 7 GEE Jar 2, 1767
Tia Rue & 29 wEd 8, 1711

sft I ot
ot FERORRST Jamear
oA BAT At R 7dt 13 daar Bt S s
Foft B &t A I st T ughy Selt off it wrerr
T 14 (5 B 1711) AeER AEGNE FABRR JFAE (8]
FEET UIaAE off At 3RS BR S BIar 2’ B uRlt awe
& TAerr F AT F A FHA A ar e B FdR Jelt

Fomardt #Hdt weE & 14 (5 wES 1711) F UAAE
@ g A g 3 R P AT IITE IS g B
B Ot 3R da I (FARH Fi) B AB
Saer A ap H Tl ud B 3R S ar @eng
BRI 1 g2 o2 off 3R o weng ¥ diE @
WEHE T AEET J1A Ol BT HHA FaAT off A SR
ft 3 & It Fw S ot

ot FHERIGT St FeAd! IYH B! FAIBL A AT FEA B
ot @evit &1 ASm BT den Al @SS B feret orm
A T JE wga ower & off oW HE F S S AR
D UGSl A AT 3T UIGAIE St A & TWB FHad® Fghend
3 B T DA 3G T A8V B TSN & USS T L.
BT Jgar 2 A 1767.

2399
3,%%

g, o
-,

1. B A 25 BeArefier FHav-qd F WeeoR F5B W T U IT3;
2. 9%; 3. BFA; 4. g5; 5. IR
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HeiD 8 B Fal 2, 1767
gt R & 37 HES 8, 1711

st R ot st & R S

it oft serEiire #ermen ot it ave wecTe IO
FHUR UhE GRegeery fed adciiel dcoft 3f@ae &
Sft...

Nt wEREn St Fomea IS [d@er Riw awgr] & 3w
gl g 3@ ¥ AAY R TR B ocd A G I U
9B FE B X I T ABH ZAT IR BIG off IS
[der Rig @egR] 3 o dioR aumer @ & O Su g1
S T Har A B AP I aemia? A ofg wig
B AN B F JATCEST B T IS IW G B

st FERGT off FeAd ACAEGIE! IMSiNA JE o @I
At g G FaE FEEEn St g Hewa @ oo aEE
drele B He ¢ g UlaAe off St FERe off @ vgRY B
add R AR IE wE 2. wee @ 2 dH 1767

1. WSl, A, 2. a3
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HHID 9 da adt 8, 1767
gdler Ruie & 33 A 1, 1711

IRGRTAG BHIRX Al BEE Fal 12 AR AFER T
R @ sl god Aol & A T EBIGAl 3RS UgH! argel!
ot

AN T @t 5 (28 WA 1711) JAFAR UEME St
B F@ gal A FeRAR B Fadch UFEET FS gar A
s urawme oft s@ afier gar of..

AT W' BN DS AT AbFAl FEl IR A TJB
qis B A IS TA T IR SO & Ty§ WET & ol
TRl P BT TRAET HUA IS IR AWIT F BRAE Tgd
2 off #Aidt ¥ adt 8 duudar ey e Had 1767
[CaeeR | ddae gwEel # B gaity ugen oiea & 1]

1. 918%; 2. @9; 3. SRS
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BAB 10 a9 adt 13, 1768
gl RaE & 35 ad 6, 1711

IRERHG BN Prat 99 98l 13 FHGR U @t
ot sl dalelt Soteidel @I @1 Hriter gt e Hel
2 dF I =diwla aRer ugden ...

ot FHERTSRRIST JeTHd! &THE J FEI6L TR Fole Uad
B Bier A 9 TTBAR F| A A IS [dar Ry FEgT] H
ddfte @ faer 52 ARG Rren Sdaw Ra & sr &9 3
sar A Rig ot &1 dode eaqar’ & o 3 & @S
Rig ot 3 @ & AgHE T A IFS & B off 3R
5 [der Rig 981ge] B R BT USE A T aeerar
3T ATe SO 3R¥AR U Feft dg & A 9@ A s
3R Ausr 5 desed B I Bad AR BET & IR TER
T WH Y5 I BT FoG I8 WAT & A A UrGAE
ot & GHE PA WE B AT B UST 3RS [
Gt |...

1. da®, foedl gee; 2. Aus (fom); 3. B6F
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HHAD 11 o9 @&t 14, 1768
goler RuE & 311 AE 7, 1711

sft e ot

T Jig ISRd e R e o Rt 9 ad
14 (1768)...

st FERTGNERIST JeAfT UIaae of el e (s
SRy @ Jou Ieia Y JSs oiUyR) B GIAE ggd
Rrewarelt &1 adie Tt foremr @ o o www @E R g
At FEee (GERR o8, wEe oF AR WW-3u-orE) ar

UP B 9 § 31 UlGHE off 9 IoiHAeE off U dad% B
g Tearer diai @t ok ure R 3 uaaE off @ 2
g 3 JoN A g Py w8 ¥ 3R uE BAR B O
g & Iold @t gaa’ ad ff FERon of

1. 3UPR; 2. ¢EEdl; 3. APl TS 4. Ab JAE; 5. FAE
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HHAD 12 ¥Iq F& 5, 1768
e ROE & 44 &G 13, 1711

SReerHd Uale sPelae .. frlt ¥ g& 3 dlaar
wEEfy T ot A UAHE off QAT o TS B Faderdl
@ RRug g@ 3R adie BA o Je D Hae goEr ad
uIgaE ot Y uEd Raw e dian a9 A 3RS HAE
St won e ad & a9 #isd @ §9r B T IPee €
a1 A TS ot B RRuE geEa S adcoenid ddre
ame @ gor @uw off st FERmiRen Femsty Bl 2
4 AR UEHE Sl B ITWEN ABR DI A o AB

o il ¥ 90 (I 9, FAW) A FHA | A1 G
mgm:zuamwoo%zﬁmahm@hwm >t
Fard B A feur @@a 3o uawE off Foaar & G
TR 3R §HA B3 S Hold q Fole TS T S
&6 @g 37 &E oA oigdl st HERIGN off FewHia anforer”
& dAw s [der R wEg] & O &7 S MU wERd
A FawEE® BH AT 3@ EY AA GR A N FERen
ot @1 st A & 3w are urn ® ot Rraw vawar @
at Jete Tt B ot | uradE off a1 Anfsener (3refte-3-eme)
off a1 v weEly W off sify sify s Re=m &7 2
IR B E O oW @ U B SRHd B AR &A1 o
of.qq F& 5 JFad 1768 FHeER.

1. 921%; 2. Ugd; 3. f4em oem; 4. fewa
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wHAG 13 Jd & 9, 1768
goie RuE &, 45 AT 17, 1711

sft FERENRRIS JeHd

Fely qaE s IRt @ ReREG B fEdl
¥ & (5) (13 &, 1711).% o T A& e ugdH
2rnft off st FEReTRRST FoEd UES df UaHEE off @
AER Toa @ uga adle A S ar B Bee Al e
UgR o FEA W T Hag F PH A BRI UgH
UF oY & US S AT ad UadEee IH Al d8e B
GIART S gH EHA UIGATEHIE GIEieIE ATE @i ugdral S
ge R @ aud B BH gEH 4B D ¥ @ ddlE
P A Ao 2 A W TS TS & Off TEon A IR
ugarson off | St FERenfiRel Ja@wd s@uld YBR el
el &1 o FeEla w off @ R o1 o awa e
UIGATE Sff @ aX% Al gHA Ul off gaD dis IS [deT
Ry wergy] aen o ser 2 o & s a9 FHeEd
& oft TER S UIGHE off Al 3RST B off 98 SaBAR
2 EE D) gow A I 5 [§o1 Rim wwgz) " Rty
AT qE UAHE St GTAET G IF B HOT A A Al
e fefier R 2 o 3 WE-a-uE’ AT B ad
BR #Em@a & off 3RS B4 of 37 o A ®ic 9ga F@
2 3R & ve g A1 HWM d9 UGHE off B AR
SR Al SIoESH® a9 FE[Eld B BR 3RS d e UaAE
ot eva | 38 a9 FE@ B BR 3R B qq FHA UIGHIE
BT TS ITP! NoT A SRAT g9 e AT Bie ANs Ufer
#A sr &7 o A 3w O o offt F o sPtela Bl
A e ugaEen ot | ot FAeRETRRG FaEd uawiE off
& a1 AR 2 o PE aF Be 2 G (Q08) SEEiEr S Fdor
DS B & A off d fpar diE e For A G U
3175 UEATSHIN off I... Frelt I Jet 9 Aad 1768 LeleRER |

1. Fra-Rew; 2. Yoy 3. & B, ool 4. W8 5. @ard
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HAD 14 I JE 12, 1768
aler RuE 4. 46 #AE 20, 1711

ot HEROIRRST JaTATS

I 3RGERHA BUR et da Jal..B el o fadl A
oot ugdt gt ot off FERefiRGT Jemett uaaEEl SIS
g st segr off & dw Tdilw or O & saw #gEd Ji
ot It A sl o goa B9 o T X & Farr st
g off Fee @R 3. FERen frer Fonefy wdeh
ar & wER ang ot St ¥Ew W B T 3R dwie 3
it ® oR I [dar Riw wegz] @ Rt A &2 3 R
Rrpwa® @2 3@ 91 el 3g o el & e I 3R
% [der Riv gegz] @ R o @i ussar uReren e
B AT IHAt O JH BIfE 3T AT BRIS B AJE®
oI B ol U ¢ o AERenERie FedAld araeng off
TEEEH W YA B JOERER faeT BT B 3R A g
P T o 3T @ AR P sog & amar @ Golk @R
UAET BOR O AT AT IRGERER dl FofR Al de & o
ITD T BAT §HA BT ADEAIA dl Jid qTD! qMA DI
ar|

ot wERen R Jawa et 39 JE 10 @ s,
1711) SdaR UIGAE St B @ oeR DI &3 @R Al
2 o dw 3 v (Ba) IeTer (3fETen) S 3w RO
AR #Hold & #Hold ol ofl...

AABT A FTEoe T IARS B HR TR/ D He FHEATT
P FW W BT UENE dF wE U F UIGHIE ot 3
ghT BF I A T Ao @ oy T Hig er uim Ui
| Ja R R serd g9 Iaf uaaE St Al 3RS Bt

1. APRN; 2. JT FOR; 3. Prema; 4. g% 5. HA FAE:
6. dlEd, arda; 7. A

ISTRhBookCLub. com



Rajasthani Text of the Documents 203

3 3 9 HHE B a9 UIGAE Off QAR ol i

mww@ﬁma&ﬁﬁaﬁ%ﬂgﬁ
1 @rd 19) Aear VIFEN P A G| FHH FAT SN

P Al Fow T o T ot FHEROIERIST Feraia
Haad R @ & RRlw soa s @3 soR gar @t
Wiet A1 & MY B AT PHrar gHH gar ot US FHole 30T
e S|,

st FEREIRRe Fensfy wawE of @R ugEa @
B G O FBIH B BT 6..3d Jal 12 Had 1768.

1StkhBookCLub. com
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PHHB 15 ¥9 Jat 15, 1768
gdler Ruie & 47 A 23, 1711

St I St
st FeRIERRIGT Jemadt
3P 3SR HIR el da & 12 @ ool F
HoTelt Ebiepd 3eT gt areeft oft | off sEReT RReT FEEE
UIGATE Sff (e UgHel 3t agd ardie & off | Rt Ja &
14 SRAUGAR UHFEN UBR B dEEd T B dem & A
a1 B Rée o Frsdeft ot
3R dEfer B ST DI FHA a1 Gl el o T JAHNG
A Fdiwme @ Bl ¥a @ 15, 1768

st I o

st FEReT fRreT Jemwly a5 [der Riv gsgr] @ fvae
B G AF AT a1 FRT B W UGHE ot IqH [dar
Rig waig?] @& HW o 2 o 3 THa A FERET e
R St T 3T vaReT 2 a ¥ JE T Ot W HaRS
# e it & S Riw B yaEt adie @ g By
it | Jen sefid Rig @ o & 3 off 3R sferdt S
Mt & T o A off FEwEn St B =g ade R 7

1. fisr am amm
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HHD 16 duRT adt 1, 1768
gt RO & 48 ™ 24, 1711

sft T ot
st #Eren Rre ot & R o

Faa st #ermen RRre.. Seeldd e foad aaehe
dooft sr@gR o Sft..

HERIGT FTH SAAGAT BT JEAHT 3 3R AerIgern
(@) Jopt IS dtarer oA’ B T qO° B B | FEEET (HeSH
i) U Al e A9 AT BT IFAAR: B, of T BE & F
UIfATE ot B2 31 g 99 J&l 10 WEeE o Id o Raeaa’
# O 3R BE FERIST @@ I T A IF A S
HAderd a7 A BEl BT X el HeWdd Ji AEa Bl A
B BT Yo DA ¢ TSHT A F AT IR S AT B
J-Plelt B D #F BT 3T FEAE FaAT IS S [S&T
Rig wgigy] & awd diorr s af g 3 e & aea
D TG F ORI FA®' g A F $ oid @ I Fgad
& BA.AY AR BE Al

dlger BT ST o fRell Aol Aol # BE TH F 3
ot | I BT TP (3EaeR) & A () o Yot gar e
BT AESA alS AAG® af B B.. F. 1768 IR T 1.

1. WEHA-U-TATE; 2. SAEHA-U-FAT; 3. elare-U-del; 4. @R, Seder;
5. ool ®a1; 6. ®Fe; 7. aem; 8. fwarw; 9. Fawid, US-Vae
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HHDB 17 Ja adt 11, 1768
adter RO &. 49 s 2, 1711

st T ot
ot FERenT RRer Jeadr

seolerd! BeR #Hidt g J&H 15 B ofiwh R Ao
B d ard st sRer ugdl den off..

i weoel RS Ao /@ A Hems St T8 8
2 o o Haw gy Jar & Forr' 2 off wmw dRw &
ghH T o Ao Rig AFad @ AT SR S e
aroita Rig dsar It o P o Aaw & ToEe HT TAE
T AEAS T WA @) H AE A Sff A gH FdE
B 3T HoRl AN T Iowerdl? UIATEN FaE PN USAT A
o goeRll UIaATE off A 3 B Al T UIAAE o GIART
St ol A A Sar & Il Jord ..

st e off FaEdt TaEE off S 9 dis gar o
A FHE T BT O AT G g o A Hdl ST
& 6 ElIRAR TER B WE o UGHE o B HF g
ot | |1 @ oft B uim ot @ BT ot | A dEee @8a
HASAT A JRT UgAr off 3 A TT FHA PRI 2 G Y
v & @ A gar @Y o .St sERen e Fermerdt
g B THET A H2NE FHAT GURT WAl B 3T HENS
® J9g da1 B A Uld BWRR Al I IBR # ot
U FAEdr e 9@ R 3R wdr B o gRar Fe
21 A fiear & o v Maw gara B of.. et duma
&l 11 Had 1768.

'1.wrara; 2. #Ateres wie; 3. a9, 3T 4. sUGE, A & adE 9B
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HHAD 18 Fa= ot 13, 1768
gale Rue & 50 3T 4, 1711

sﬂﬂamwmﬁraém%

ol HAR Bl IR adt 11 AR & ot
Foil ool B ARl A Eeidld 36l Ugd ot oft..

st sErIen Rt Jemefa 5 [Fe Ry asgz] @ HEt
BT BRI ARR B 96 Tga IoT & A el T UIAHAE
St 3 3RSt B f d9 WAHE St QAR St @R af &
& o 2 3R TEe F 59 uf well! maw @ o dEorn
oo 9 ¥ W ot 13 gEarR Jad 1768.

1. BE-H8], Uel-Uel; 2. Jooid
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HHAB 19 I A 6, 1768
ghe J|ar &. 58 3 13, 1711

Fad 1768

aea gaEn Herd Shadt aww (] T3 gd@ e
IR ITEEAT BIR Al IR adt 10 @t ol 3R JEER
et §30 3R ol B g % [dar Rim weigz] & ar
amon g oft 30 @ B o # Haw Aaw wgg A JuE
& A @ewen (aofia Rig] ot off Fiesr amy ugean B A
o & Tfee B HE I @ AW B dd P BA Fd@l
WG MU o ARG O IR A B a9R Rl af g
A% T P BIE gell Hel D Al WA I oid Bl TE
A o B AT V& Al @R @ sdiea forEdar @il |

ISikhBookCLub. com
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HHAIB 20 T gH 11, 1768
gPa RUE & 51 3T 18, 1711

sft FErRenr Rrer FaEfa

oAl R it dE a@t 13 guar & &l
o dsht B AW I8 sl aer ugdt ERft ot

EBH AT Gl ANt BT JoN B EBiwl forEorr A
@ ar 3 @ ReERd B8 Aol B S anEelt B Aon
defl’ Sorn g@a ga1 St waleie de B A Reft o ugad
TG UgATS AT ot

L3R UaAE off 3% g A5 FHE UER B doed
I B a@taﬁ%a‘tmww%ﬁmwm
UgY 2 off 3R Tad ;T ¥ Off Faeor B GG B ga
I 2 &

sﬁnamwahaam%mmaﬁehmugﬂ’raﬁ
TR B FIA I [dar Rig wwge] & @ aF M B
ar ® o 5 [d@ Riv @wgz] d I deerr a1 e
herdl® @ waeft o efiedt sm B B 2 o aE B TN

1. %8ef; 2. Fage; 3. #AM, Uy 4. IR 5. Ber &

s _{'Fhsoo&(_.'gug, com|
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HATD 21 o6 g€ 5, 1768
gdid RUiE 4. 52 A 26, 1711

sft FEre Rrer St

oleradt B fadt TR g 11 F o guar
& Folt 2 ARl Id sl se ugdeht off ot wewmn
e ety Hid oo ot 1 SgEr S IFEET uaaE

ot FHERIGT Sff FAHT UIGATE off HY AFaAT FEIemar
B g IFGT P AR S FH BV Aus X HWr T
TEiehie @ 3HAUI EAch AUS F B THB A3 &H @G
HBR BT & 3R AT A FEoheEEe off Fedls & R
R ft Fodis B 3R ¥ @I Hal' §¢ oM UEEr B el
I% [der Rig wagz] @ Fedt S TP 9@ 3T B [Far
g wggz] oft were @& sGn A o1E @ IPom 3R UGHE
St 918 2 O UIaATEeeT SiEieR A8 @8kl d IBIAE T8
B GgrEae B WG de’ BH T FeAS BAH @ Fweh
BIE AT T 3R AER B A Nt 3R Faw HHA o &\
IS HA S A A IS [der R wwg] ST g B
3R &Rl Faede! HUY BIA B W UGAE ot HoR B9
I QA UGHE off & off o @ e & oft A o
el a1 S udeh A urer F 3Rl el off 3R I
[Ger Riw wergz] &1 BlEe @@k @ 6 Igd & 3 TR
D BAY B dAS (PG T A1 HOG W B A AT FHEAS
W GBI F B AdeT @ T FA-a Ha g o
grar oft 1.5t FERen off Femedt 98 A @i W E S
el IS B UUROT FH 3IHa H AT ar @@ Fome

1. {8, TR BT 2. fEn 3. @mem; 4. sewan; 5. o
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derdt ¥ ek & > [war Rig weg] weh wE gar
A ar dig S ugren & off A weE & ot A Ser
IR AR 3RS AR & off ot et wom AN HER UER
ar fue gg 2 oft 1B o adt 5 Faa 1768 FEE A

JAdeo |

. IStkhBookCLub. com,



212 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

HHAG 22 Olc ddl 14, 1768
g R & ss #AS 5, 1711

sft FErRe Rrer Iemedt

Ioedl IR Il e @@t 10 @ ot ad
Fot B off AIF IR sdiwla T Ugden | Bt oo adt
11 goar anet 3a Ren @S Riw, Sig) of f5 varh osh
e (3r) ft A o=zt Ryaft & FoE Bk T & TS|
3R femar ui PReT Far AS U @ F A It & off
st FERTeT RRIeT Jemed JétoneT siieie I8 TEET a1 Shere
AE BN UR Hal 3R T I dge? il e &
S gpH 85 ar A ot UR A a9 Aer ue Ad RS
B} o a3 @R a AP UR I B 3w e e o
ft urR SR @ & diel uaAEee ¥ BE FB WA B
3R 3@ didl B RN A0EIS FoRIe gaER g &1 a9 UIaHE
Sif TB Alel B UR SEl Alph DT 3 qA &8 GeaEm
S BART U UR 3a¥ & A AR @ 3 By o J de
P dEIHd Al U ORI WS HA| 3T JEGEl B FA G
UIaATEl FAFEER & A JF gAY M @ urft 3y 2 H2)
3R O JEOEl AN A B Al B I AAgH BHA Al
3 aa A F9 TR @ deuEr durR gar 3 Aus
& Riciead’ sR urgwE ot @t ool # Sa@ Fgwd i
off a FBW 8 | T 3R 3 FeIRA HIRG AT HAGH e
ui @ offt gHe gar B off gw T ool & @ 3w
TP P §HHA FAT Ol gH NUA I et aER
Raeure @ e SR B 34T 3R oft FHerEt B 2 uragAE
off & 3 U B9 3| 3W FEISer IehH Fe a1 e
et # uradE off 6 aop IY & uawE oft e @
W FaHol' 7 gF Jod P GIART @ et us & 1

1. dlUEeT; 2. IFCTEET; 3. dael
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UIGHTE off 3 Al 38 a9 Sl Jdlenel B FHUHS BT
3T GIART Off a1 AU A UG ol ad el Ardenar
IMUT F FET Al B I 3T HAGH T W B UGHE
off 3R 3 UR HREN & A da g P die 3P Few
# OIS Usl P 3R BAER HAl HAAT 3R o I =N
SIS a GEleR W@ B ST TG AT O uST HASAT 3R
$a ae @ S yary oifla diawEl UST SASA 3R I
e B T UGAE! T FJSH HUI TG TEE B areSsd’
US 213 31T G Jiel B S¢ a1 3 B UErH Siel P awsd
ws 2 3R ot S uawdl &S @ @ 3R o Jigoner
FoR P A A D TR IFWAR ST H G M0 Uil |
3R ot & At 3mit siEkeRr Bt & dle @ ghe
&a1 ol A% et B 3T BIE oyl o a0l Uld 3R Adrene
S MUY G B IFFAR DI aAEd” Y N T oft.. FERS
St el IAUAT B FHA §aAT off [Ge FHA UAHE Off
® By FAVERR IG FEGR! B A @ odl 1. frdft Sie
gEl 14 FAIHER Had 1768.

.83 2. orgam; 3. awdEn
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HeAD 23 oic Jgal 3, 1768
gl RUE &. 260 #E 9, 1711

ft FAeROIRRST FJaHEd

aReeTala BeR il o adt 14 FelieRar waa &
cireft aodt Aot 2.9 FErRmeT off JAcHEdl da| HEwd ui
offt & drarer graT B vad 9Eid IRA AR UIGHIE St T8I
Hzzaeelt GEAR Bl...

IR Y% [da1 Ry wEgz] @ TS aue A A T S
HAER & I 2 3R i oo Ik B A wew I R
3R UaEE ot @ off @@ wamEr & F B of..

St FERIST ot FAHAI BaT ABIBA RHY AN B 37790
ar dtara’ Ieel? & gar ar A ar 92 P 3RS Ugas
A oft | 3R 3 FEAT 3N T B FAH IS [dr Riw wEgR]
B WE TAT AER B & A AU FEw T R gHAR
WIS & TR B & 3R TS HAersd €Y @I Senwl ud
FE Ui A IFAR BT SoMer ar JRug ar et ar =@er
d FBRI UIGHE ASIH eAdl B A A FHgAS e Wi
B TR dier g2 2 ot s wWerenm St Femerdt Adl o
I 2 (8 #E 1711) FHOEER UIGHE St Haeel (Afager)
R 313 3 U andler g off | 3R Fidlenar 3reie A Uit
& diB 3§ 3R GHa daE HEEd W of @ a ¥
dift & X a3 a7 2 o g UR 3| a9 et oRilert
B B ot gt ot ofts @@ia T ofis e’ 3G A A
i JElg B & Al AlaE el gR oERr ot | sft FERen
St Femed! WA d UIET o IS [dar Ry @wigr] &
HIHST U S @ ANAT AT A IFJART F ar JAwe i 3R
FBolcel’ AHBT 10 P gaT ot JE gt A dAF F e

1. Raam; 2. won @ Raam; 3. oo, g 4. SREEErET Tem;
5.%; 6. HEAd, Bol; 7. dgmat

iSikhBookCLub. com



Rajasthani Text of the Documents 215

d weEe A /AT T 3R AW 9 o) B I A SRpaTel
FBT 10 30S FHTN ARG AWAT IT A FaT IR qHd DY
? 3R T@R a0 oftel dar ond ¥ offel @l ord 21 R
geeom? F den @Sl AU AqG 3R FEGE B deld
go & PR A P @@l aq Asite A ABL @ 12
HA B IV & o L.

et o Fgd 2 FHooEr uaEE St Addw A% oS
2 ar3fter g3 oft forcht Sis J&t 3 H. 1768 HPWET UR Jdeol |

1. TR 2. GOS; HIOETE; 3. Aomen @
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FHAG 24 oie Ja 11, 1768
g Rue &. 57 #AS 17, 1711

off R S Jemeta

aoEIdl aR fdt oe & 3 gEar @t o e
doft 2 A I shiedl 3Rer ugdelt oft st Fewwnm @
JAHA! UIGHE Off ¢l UR 3a¢ dRiY o ATdtenar et
TS off & BRETE IaT IR JAR B JAR g a9 Aélorar
Sff GEeA S R aTST HIE UH oY WSl B a9 AHID
A FIRTAAT a1 Bl dIR &8 g9l Ud 318 a9 Fdd
& = A S A UGS AHI BIE 303 el aa Arerenar
Al 3RS Ugdl ag FElene off HdH dia FT Al BT Holt
Gf S fidl 30T WEger &7 Qe e aT aiy Hidl EHRT

iSikhBookCLtub. com)
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gor & Wi oged A VAT dgal (eEea) e o | gadl
3R HeadH &t Fi B AT Fe ged OgT T B U HAT
2) 3R ¥ UD FUAT 1) N 3T FAAAGIALHIA & o S
B UR IaUAT A AR BT F8T GHAE §aT a9 ot oiell
9T AW a1 I Farm HEEd T o o 3o ot dlelt
& S wad da @ @ ar 91 aid g EARI UR 3
P Hidt BT a9 F9E F @9 aS a1 GAd U dor ar
draert @ e e 3R AR S gH o IS ade
U 3a @OEr a9 & #ERem of &7 d9 uarg Al AR
T A R a2 & off o HErwn off WoHd HaA aid
o U off @ sweht ot R gew @ O gar o
e oEiE HUAT o A SiEl UeT a9l A uraAE ot
A & ST 3R sPidd! Egell A AR U & 36 UgHs
@ ot st FERen Rror Jemedt Rt o6 gt 7 dldar
N it g A T 3T 3¢ UEY aF UH W o Tt
IIT BT T FEd o BT 3T USTS B AL 313 al AReIer
SNEleT AIE F&E a1 JHE° UIGHE! & U A e B
FaioT* Ul 95T 3R SEGR P AT TS TS dgA g3
37 UIGHE of & oo & off F o Ee uel "es 3R
UIGAE Ol & g FEGE! J9 TR AWE! 9 el ar
gy T T W FER® gHEA g1 Of o Swefien S
o A 3T TB FABT al FMeT T ITRN 3T UTGHTES
off 7 J9 Idene S @ I TRdia gd St SR
3T FHBT Ui & 3 USAT & AT A o Urel] aAdT
F 9C T oY O AT @@ & ang g oo of #HErien
oft Feerdt Al oo JEt 9 HoGAR YFJET 3PN F, T
A TS T G UG D 3P DA A oI FST 81 Al oo
FE 10 JUAR UIGHIE St 3T 3 Iredie g ot ot FErwen
ot Ferefd uiaAE ot & @@ @ diue gk § IR IET°

1.%39, 3E; 2. Uelt @7 99 98id; 3. #el; 4. BHT am;
5. 947 I 6. =N
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&t Uf ge dumar & §HA g & off 3R IH [dar Ry
TG B FEN THBT A e Ol qAS YSIUN B A@ AT
Al e @ga diE A WA @ g A IS [Fer Rig wEgz
39 9N GG o TS B G UGV FOR IS B A 3R
Flc' IABT TG GEL B FA FE G FI FOIR Ui
aeeft SRl FR 3R e g& oI IR ARiET Hiorle
(@IGET TERR AME) B BoRR ALNER H T ®TH A1
AT 3T A o IS [da1 Riw weig] 3z FHmen® HT o
IS A TEDT A Do & O BRI AT 3R BIE B & o
At IR 3R el gaT A IS [Far Ry e @R @R
Sk g ¢ 3R 5 [d@r Rig wegr] & ad =l S
H & off Ot o I/ 11 H 1768,

| TEE, AR, WA 2. FA, W A o AW, 3. HHE
4. U T
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HHDB 25 3IATG al 8, 1768
e RuE & 59 #S 28, 1711

ot FERENRRST Fewmeta

grererEdt B Ad oo FE 11 diHgdar B ol
o doh ¥ ARG I st aer ugdt Sl oft EewE
T @B e IS [der RNy @Eigz] o ddfls B ama e
T a1 G A& 9¥g (@) UR I&8 B B A IS [
Rig @gigz] ar Jd' @ GG I AT 3R ofter G B Aol
@[W%W}ﬁﬁﬁ&?ﬁﬂﬂlﬁﬂﬂﬂgﬂ?ﬁ
AP INg FIY 91 BaTed Nl B I8 AGA IR dd IH
[der Rig @8gz] @ T g a9 IS I@ A B AR
IR FHEAER ¥ AT FI AT B FEE F HIA Foll Al
FEE Wi B HIAA UEHE ar Ugdt R G R uH Bl
At & UR 3T A1 A AB° FebaAT A& A @it I} B Fawr
31 3T 3 BT F@ TGS ot A SIS UgHl FHA
&1 S SiteT 3T ¥ ofter & R &S A 34 Wi Al
g 2 A A9 IBs [gpo] 9 IS B gdE B A IS
[eer Riw @sEz] 3@ g o & & I T W o AR
agd TTaT FEY ¥ 3R urawe off off @ o B Ay et
9B A B 4 W T 3T g@ B UadE o diue
e B oft it FErRen ot Jenea #Hidt oo gat 12 gBER
JFEE A A g gorar off off HEwen ot Femedr
e der [@em) # o g o ERfi dar B arid Heae
A @i T8 Aaweh® g3 ft B yaaE oft s gaE e
B I GIATT Of Wl B YIS og ol Gt Hadl 3R IorHa”
Azzareoh ARUT gUST JAT TG PTGt LAl TS
gét 8 AR AHAR H. 1768.

1. T T 2. THG; 3. ;4. GES; 5. TAUST, ARGRN; 6. EOR
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HHAB 26 TG T 8, 1768
g RUE & 261 #HE 28, 1711

sft IR Rre FoEfa

LA wERen Sff Fenerd Sierdl doT g AGE 9T H[
TRET T Bgen e G FRIG Few@dr oo B H
AR T J dfg B TN FO9 X gHA FAT o HeHe e
i @B BFEE (FFF) IS [da1 Riw Fegz] o ddls B Ao
a9 #AZEA Fi Ol IAB IR B dF SIS I FORET FRT
Iwel 2% BeAgen W P N oY dod deEE B ardd
AR @ g9 degen @ ot ugad off & el det
St ierdt o1 FoeT At B TR R T A =TI How
B F FAT 9 Bolg F TR I FHAA J FEkT B
EBA a1 ol 3@ AldE gcdl gF Ie! oIS ATper’ Bl
T FIEN o HeHe At W B IR go W Far IR
AR BT A Hewwa i off Jaer Az AT off g smgon
doe derlE o oal dr 39 o AT gt MEt B 3
Blaar gedl A S AqT M B 9 UIGIIE ot A
Herad & ot A IS e Vool GRS B @A @ o=
Agzamerelt Gea & off off FERw St FcnaAdr oisr ar dar
Fa @ FO AT IT a9 FarE GIATE o A 2E BlEel”
2 # gzar 3ol (39) & SISO a9 e 3PS B 6 B
(@eT) Bt gHeEm & AR HAidl 3RS B SN BWE R
3Tofl FaTe ERAT o AR ar gEHAe 3 Al 3R TS B
AT BN TG AR SV AYC TH & a7 aid of GIATT
A gAT X um Fons A F ol oA Aol vt gwand
oo | it FERIOn FAA! Aaa® Ssd (Gote) AT wad

1. WEH, FaH; 2. 5T, oh; 3. IGAE; 4. GEgdtel;
5. Ad, A, I]8H; 6. fAvaTAT
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I% [der Rig w@@ige] weren A sot ot siorer &
ugd T B dedis & ol l...

FERIGI ot Hemardt JH al Aot 3t Sorer arar
ft A & o TSl @B ugReT JAE SEdt
adl 8 AHaR eET Tens H. 1768.

ag
I

AN

3R
2.

%
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HHIPB 27 "G T 12, 1768
Far . 59 S 1, 1711

sft I o

IR I [de1 Rig wagy] $ FEER X § F A
DA e vh R gy (€ RiF weg] W I
3 °Ory

1. ®YeT, ¥awR; 2. a3, 9T D
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HHID 28 39 €t 14, 1768
gater RUE &, 61 S 3, 1711

#t FERmT RRer Seradr

#erd! et & FFeeege F e amen & Adt o
ol 12 cleE #ERET off FeEgr F WS sk Y W
T ggt AT o= g @iy SR U off oft awer ¥ swaw
&% 3R Hewmen solia Riw oft geens o semyr Swwem ohy
IE o we AF A v & R st St FEROT FonAty
o2 A 3@ arg Qe Ue @ HAAT B UL Seee
$ A% ST o gA1 GAd ASEG W of §ar A Grens o
B Aot IS B oA B AT @ i B BAT =T
AT T9 WR 3RS B Of $ Al A S anS @ woft

3T Al A A SRS & B a9 A9 GIA o gH A
el Ferar S Mara g Bl @ wemEr & i ot FERen
off Femerdt Rt s adt 11 SwufEr aaw wEEa w
Gt #E B T §e @ daeR AT gos doEn a9 Neaty
BN QAT S gART A e Tt 75 R @t 3 Few
BR wE gar uawE off wEe? gy T oot S X we
& HHT fdongar 3R gIHE Iba (Gbd) uts oty enfer
oone B Udel we A% @uw wewen 5 sugy sen s
s & gae dafa Sefvesawd # &2 I [d9r e
FEIGR] B FeH (@RF) a1 TN BT T BT BT AT BANR
ARG BT a1 A A B BH A BHHRASBAAS B G
3R I [da1 o9 @8ge] & Hex #idwe aEht w @ ar
Had el o B FBR §F AN UGHE B BT Ied I
gL 30t srare adt 14 flgar daa 17es.

1. TG, gd, HeeEEs; 2. INHH; 3. A [T, 4. it
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HHB 29 3AC a& 14, 1768
e RUE 4. 60 SE 3, 1711

ft sErEr Bre SaEt

sorTaty Bt s ot 8 Jear dvEw f fod
ot ooft 3 Rt I et ser ugdt dnafer ot sft
Feren o FoEdl 5 [Fa Ry wsgR] @ IER a@eR
F U 3 wew Ao T B foeEn smn S IS (ST R
FETg) T (@) UR o 3R HEere 3wl A @ ofisEn S
o IS e B el won Rewmie 3@ B o Al e
TERT SR ER TEd B I & AT a& & mwd amded
I e UgEESel o o #ERmon ot Fewewdr AT HAT A
ot 3 gawel I HaE dad I A B A Fonsvit FeE
o @ ¥ off e sEd Wasdt off FewRen seila Riw St
3 ard Nam varar & NS sRGEE B & A st off
@ ol el off §aT @ WIeE B ol SR B B[N B
F9 S SRS UEEd 3R Y TWR A AN Td B
T ol TS T A A B RSN F go A B IGT B
it o s ot A B Fegy e AN JHA g
2 A AR H I $7 o1 and o B ot A arer ugd
oft 1ot FEREn St Tty % 3nfa Rig wawae ot A

Eﬁhﬁﬁrma@ruzﬂﬁma 1768.

1. FAR §; 2. FH
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SHHIB 30 e Ja 5, 1768
3GRAd &, 203 S 9, 1711

st FErREnT RrReT Jenedt

At 3rare J& 3 AR AFudtar en o Ry ot gy
P aHq A" He™a T o B Hpl faEmar ar & AL 3§
BT A AS 3T @S FERIen RRIeT JenHdt sara HEad
[ ot TG B A P AT S T Fer AT ale BY
I o % [Fer Rig ¥egR] & AT udel A a1 edT
HHAT T AE 3T Aot WA B odr & Ferg ordt
2 3R A oft I 3ve B J o A Ten & A F A

=X @ UEIE F AT a9 HaAS I W @G T ST
Fi wefler g% [d@er Rig @egz] @ 6% & @wr @ &
R I0 TE gE A et A de Ty uraATdt

3R et A arE ofiad uHs a9 Y& [dar Riw a@@igz]
@ 3T ofler usdt ot aw #dee 3l I @RI T A
i T¥ 39 & Ul o B o 9 9 9 3 weer A

iSTkhBookCLub. com,



226 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

Ble o % [dar Rig Fagz] a8 gzt & 3 2 gF Een
Faiet S @El A B g BA A ¥ SR uRh der
di% & 3R ol % [dar R @sigy] A uwst & ad
A ABAT AT g9 IA TN Sl @A FE IR FHWA
F ft oy uggwr a¥ 3 wrft of Bie W8T 98 g 3R
qg & 3 @ B AR a7 3w [F@ Riw wEg] @&
giftr #gee 3l W B FaT B a9 FaE SR A g
ol ¢ 3MUe! SEET el R E 99 I 3RGT B off AU
AR A A AR gl sr X 5 AR &F & & o
& 3R TG TG A FaAR s [der RHw wEg] @1 ywsa
5 amd aa 7@ & s SR OR @ 413 ¥ & B A waf
Ioft st amar vt o & 3R =eR A I F9 BB
HAGH B Ot ...

ft FERIGT off Aot IH [der Riw =wg] & mEd
BR B e FE TSR B garEt Al o UGAE off Jf
3RS Ugdl 3R #e™a J| ot off 3RS ugars A @2 3
wEaE ¥ ot 3 o S wdeht @ wer & spe ugmEen
oit sft HMar o7 off A Fear g o 5 [da1 R =g
B de gpeAr o A o UaAE =H & =iy F e
% off #iidl ae P 5 AR FeMW@R H. 1768.

1. figa, omrd; 2. esdl, avea; 3. st
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HeAIDd 31 A Far 11, 1768
gita Rue & 17 o 15, 1711

sft eHsar ot Ja9 B

Tam ot ooy o P PIEd #eREn BRI #AERIGN
st oft st st st o Rig ot o FAaE ar RS
@ Aga wved Rt formme Faw PR @ER SN
Sit...

e ot off Jerera Yeen I [dar Rig wEgR] uesaid
wae 3 At A a1 Tia s g8 I Agee el I HEA
e @ P I B AR SR g ofiww ol uB ;P i
& won a2’ R A 3u g fur I FH o URE QN
% smeelt wom @@ R B IS [dar Riw wegR] I IR
B ue Iad A R naRft ¥R dew &al g e ey
oft dEee sl @ weaw da & Jo F UE Wi w6l
T Huz I et o B 38 3 uamd ot fie s @
10 =& didearet (] UR &A1 B A M F BT A
STEd ®e wEvl B A Mg F RS o F oof..
F 1768 T 3ATG Yol 11 YHT 1768.

1.'\55‘31; 2. ?ﬂ'ﬂﬁ', 3‘(1'37; 35 aaé
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HHAIB 32 3% Ja 9, 1768
ge FEar & 73 S 13, 1711
dad 1768
THe URATell alEd et R Udiell @ Rt 3Rie

& 9.

ity Ot Jell §f darer ot & Biet JAT 3R FAGIRT
It AfE g ¥ wemEr AR T R aRie o A
§ ORI & ABI T RS UZHl § FSA AU TR ATER
I5 [ R F@igz] @1 uHsAr 3R AERON S st I
g off &1 B B It Awelt F aH B B B FdHA
ot B 3R UaAE off dae of o Regaw@ @ #grom ot
B 9 IR Faew wE J IS [§e1 Ry F81ge] &1 He
B OA dondelt BN Fada O B § Iq e ars Bt
smn ¥ Jageh AfpeRr sR sw @S o e ¥ g
I TEE B F dwficar a@d Ao e R T
AR HoteAm drare off JAT 3RSl B 3R A TEw IS
g % [dar Rig sggR] it s @t AE B 3R @t
T Y F 3@ 3¢ e s B ot B @ awdear
ferzrora |

1. AIBAT-FAIT DI FEL; 2. BRI
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®aAiDd 33 araTe it 10, 1768
adiar RuE &. 62 oS 14, 1711

st FERENRRS Jenafy

U Hgal 6 Wage' N o erdt A g2 o A
A & I 3R ugas it A 3R ugdl et of..

3R 5 [der Rig wege] = a8 wER @
d@lor 9gd AR 3R UElS A IR 3R SEileR a1 Asde
i WBET a1 38 | IS Y T o B
ar ar walk 3 ot 3R UGyE ot 3@ arg ar @el uR @
2 3R THdR a1 IR SieierR AE WeRT 9 TWAE ar
SierATE @l Uk 9™ Off 3R UladiE off @t Faid #dl uR
grn 5 At e @ 10 duudar 5 2 o 3R =w
& Ui Idionel eliAAE ot R 3dvem ot ot HsRwon o
JATeAd 95T T FADI UAAE AG @i UR A 9T AT 3R
IR Ui gPla AWl Bt B At A ameft af srmary smuH
# AR oar A 9 g IEeR & gd 9E R g
I8 ARHB B Hel HW AR o I A AGH T g4l
ol ¥ 3R BT J Paard Al ddle g2 2 off I FIe
Aga® HA A AT O JVUF B T P AT B &
ar dE HAP AT B AN A T 3R ;A g BT ot
HERIGT ff AAt ¥ Ferb R IRE FAT Ol B @R
g o off.. Bt sRme Jd 10 duufEr daa 1768, (3T
RUIE &1 oo e AP Jdas ST #A & ST o9
H qE AW UGl Hied 2]

1. 9% fam, see-acw, audle; 2. YHIOE, WRgd dRel, 99 &
3. 9RIE; 4. 3MAonE
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230 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

HAIB 34 FEer Ja 3, 1768
gl RuUE &. 63 gerrs 7, 1711

st olurer ot JE™r
ft Fewen Rrer serer st o Rig St

watya st wermn Rror #eRen #t WO S
AR S S

3O 3ReRIIG U a7 ¥ gog Aol F FoR JARS Yot
2rft off | wEiEEmER 3 GREYAT ot @ @’ A FHET
WRAE WA @ TG Holen § i SREr) & o off
UIGAE o SO 6l s Fel 10 IHAR A BAE UR
3 3ONE Aol JaAR D U U FeT AT UraAIE ot Far!
A o Fgar oft & a7 I ofe WE W FAR FH FAR
EOIT B8 A1 o7 3R dig AEeneT IR 3a¢ =T a1 F UIATE
off af UR 3aU 3R el Fe B S AR & garl Gl SW
TEIUE D EAHIA® A1 F Io IR N H1A DI A o
TS g o ol W@ X AR aH gA E I3 IeiA IS
offt @ 3 A virsr Fal Ul RN F Jd o A Sl Fard
Freflar 3R & Jar gar U Set ¥ U IS I AT 3R
F& W O or g BT dle B T 3T AT U ol
g o oiid B 3RO g3 F T JA 10 TG A Agewer
ot ¥ g IR o e PH BR° AT FACEA" A Dioil
ZATG "SI o7 Al BRI 3NY B WBRal @ AdE G B
& & Fader’ Iaven J HATS JA 11 AT AT & Jigeal
ft o B AP BE @ HA JAS J& 15 TS A& A
& Fais® 95 Fo ITI UST 3¢ UIGHIE Ot P Gy W& Sl

1. 0% & 9IE gHd; 2. GoerD; 3. Zaldene, Saone, uee; 4. ford srE;
5. f5ear; 6. welts; 7. dold®S, HIE; 8. @9 U JAR B BT
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IR ddis 46 AT UIGATE o af 3a% I U Y A9
IR TS & AT AFBT 3¢ & o

AT P 15 O FB Aol F gal A@e q@l 1
FUAR [TE BAIGAT off Pl ARGA gHA Higoel off @ gar
St et of ofiell aeATa A SMEwd SEHG 3N« Jaciol
TR ¢ a9 d#sift off 7 s e ot JE geger of g
uer € ara g wiade oft g #Hiel it DS wider a9 gEzgen
oft Far A off @ el oft 3 A B G @ gHY
SISl dE Pél GEER ATE THINTE U B ¥d &R FaAR
2 3R el o Ued Hiell FOR JAR F SO I ... @A
g St @ UR | FEU & 2 JRAR FE IoNA Fie o
oft o ®T FOT UR &A1 3R T UR Bl o 8| ueione
dl UEe & 3ReEId & & 3RS ol ¥ of gHes B Hoils
oot off dRiedt @t Fewi @i [der Rig wsig] v
# HOT R Wi WS @Rt ¥ Usls @ Jom o Fa o
T2 I T T gD T U wHllud sga 2.sm@u g

3 H. 1768.

1. oy, ey 2. B

ISikhBookCLub.com|



232 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

HHIBG 35 Jrger a&t 5, 1768
gl RuiE 4. 66 SE 24, 1711

st wErmeT RRo FEremh wEren & Riw o

wafya st seren RRor #eren i wor HHCT
FEGE WU U worelas g d o deeft seER S
of.sema wi oft aenendr Y & U aed P ad
erra3er uf o Sseid B | SaT A qAFE T Basden
wiet wgwe el Wi B Wy qdd gav a1 a9 AT WS
gow & arad deasen W @ W OUY dor BRI a9
Aerrazen o el @ & W ERSE e F I el
g ¥ ST i AlEWIen &7 SR o §he gal | Ul i
STTH W AEuTE S|l UT ORI ¥ & of T a1 3RS B
HEGT Ui B BET F Saell AS: BAYT| AU FEEd § St
el g2 AR @ @i § off v @ 5t F ¢ B
Ao o A sefiea s o & U9 @ e AT F 7
P @ Fen @ @en a1 F JAE d Fg IRG
| A FEEd W ot ISR B FEEl of 96 W AT
g & FAER a ¥ @ Y 3RoRG BT B @ Hewa i
4z Ao T & I Foowd B gEA drt A adie
ga1 3 ard ool A & 2 o umAe Fer da’ B g
fa & Fidwae A9 RN 3 AW T A FAe@E PR 2
Eifl

gragT B T UH I dC Aol BT FebE Dol il
g dRed & oefir & gor @ & gaReh St

5 [da1 Rig wagR] 3w #HEeR e Ji @ amell i
SHEH ST I & TG BIoRR TERR 3 3@ A% FB IS
[Ge1 Rig wegR] @ FHEc Tt @@l @srs Ben g 8

1. arenendren, gewe @ feot Ryudl; 2. e 3. #Hew @ Ewen;
4. 357 3 R Ay 5. ;6. ded; 7. WA Re
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? 3> [€a1 Rig sagz] & dedie' Taw ad FE @
%ﬁ?ﬁgwgmaﬂgaﬂfﬁé?ﬁﬁ%
[der Rig =g1gz] «oh g Usls B I B A BIE B
% [de1 Rig wege] ool @ BIE B IqH ais Bel
@t oot & @S ¥ dedls B ad 3R U off df dWeHe
3l @ g ool T HIGA ST o I AB® G B B
gB1 & F AT Nor .. PGS BT AN B AR FABTEAl
@ 9t a1 g aidt dod o FeWd o ot o @ef| df
T 3G J& 5 FESE B TG AGEE Usel dl JA Hrad
¥ N IR FE P a9 off saw 7 & 99 Fa@ TaAE
AR 3T JYEICIEg D Aol oaid B Ui Wivdl Aent |
Jier Uo7 GUe) 98g Sl Y 3mar o & | ggl A gorret
TEA a9 Hied FAT S o AT | TS BT BT B SMAHTHT
A 3R wa & off A FEwET & 3R AvwEl B &N
at A & U B e # qBG AR dgod DY FADI
gig HT IR U FH IER F BT YAOT D Fal] BT
3R AIUHTE B dd" TA Ed o ®El ar| Ao F| A
TS BT AT AW B T A B AD GH T AT ARG
i g 3@ ¥ o o off svREt gal R w3 @
B ot L...

7% [der Rig @ggz] N F wEIST A I Biel U
2 T ¢ Wl @ e ol ¥Ee @t 5 Fag 1768.

&wa‘a%

1. 38 2. A FWaw & RRuE; 3. W BR; 4. o, oE
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HHD 36 JEor 9E 13, 1768
qBIe ﬁthé . 67 ga]é o 1

st Heren RBre Fewfa

SaTg Herad Fi ot Bl da Jelloerd! B aa dara GelTs
G I gEA! aId B & A gH A R T HOTEER
UAAE B FEAAS BT IR @R Al 38 3R Siead s
d 9 B A I IR QAR A AG agd dA TN I
A B UG AR B AR E Fend UadAE B Aei @

g ga Hemd | O 3RS B of J@ & de a
EPH @ @ off U9 W& B gHA BT AN & IF B gl
BY 3R oA AR UL a9 UIGATE Off GIAET Sl SAD
9gad PIs daT ST o1 @@ aq FewEa F off BR
3RS B O FoRAl AR Tl 3 Al el Pl Fdeol

S #E@d & 3RS geA! B & A Aeh AHarw & FoRd
Iy T d9 uaHE off Atener off & grend o gH el
o forE o Aaw s T 3R Faoor I 3U SET

1. 91&d, Se; 2. @R

ISTRhBookCLub. com:



o eI S o EEee’ eel A 3w ugdsen of
mmmmaﬂmaﬁma‘%zﬂwﬁaaﬁ

F ¥ 3R st oft Fade U waR O A7 & i oS
IR THEA° AABL UIAAG! Al dgd 6 IR UHE ot i
SO S BARY FEETt ¥ 3R FH WRAWA & A B 8
T g Al JER° UGHE of @ F|ad @ A
o...3% & [de1 R @@gr] sig (@) &1 ussn
S IR B FES H IGH Ad 3R GBSl Bl Fa
2 ot #fidt Jme adt 13 FeEr F. 1768.

o ¥

1. sawe; 2. ar-Ray; 3. gft, e, 4. gw Mas: 5. 79 @ w3

'StkhBookCLub. com|



236 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

BHHAD 37 JET J&t 14, 1768
JeeAd | 90 S 17, 1711

st I St

sft TR Foeifa @8 @t wger oRen wad
H FBA Ul B o IS [der Riw @wgz] Iud & IewE
dler 8 & 3R uawE off da Re) ey @@k ann & F
& oA B HE B At FEROT R Fenedt & gaae
Sif &1 @ BT Ualer Slell HBSRIGT &I UHRUT 218 ar &gt
Felle Alcidl & Sff & & i F T T F FBR 3
ugars 3R ugaid 2 oft| R Jawr g& 14 Faq 176s.

iSTkhBookCLub.com
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HHIB 38 ofrear ddr 1, 1768
adte Rue & 70 g 19, 1711

sft sERenr RrRe FamEfa

I soRrEy B Far g 15 BF RIE' B 2
@ ugd 2eeft It I edEh sre ugd @oR oft L.

afEomer off @ sar Femafa wi oft At grant? o s
&1 ggel AR T uadE of sty & A T o B
s o Ryam and O & IR T or aEd it aw
Haoral Bl 3RST Ugas ft g@ Aifgener St AE gar@ drEr
S o8l IS TH & A8l AW UEE 3R IeRRG B a9
T9 Haed gHEER 3Re ugager ot FEwen e ey
FBA AT o gEE 3R ugae it o da A waR A
da A @d P FEw a1 Rm A @ Raw st s
st wEreT RRe Feals s @ A HE o FeE ded
7 2 O Srat T dar A 3aer B URTATE St Fawiel Geend
T war Sofel dd Rl Bdl A Jigomer off A R
8 N frud sdola wg oy & o=l 3 J @ RS
g A 92 et @ we A forem ar o A genad @t
O g EBIBId gEer o I...

st Feron fRer Jeafy o5 [§e Rig @8gr] 3@
Aifes? oy & vesT A B FaA Ra @i 39 B U B
off 3R ureETE off & YTV FHY TAR® A FAT B ARR
PH 15 A WA B A AR B o adr Raw ugd
oft.. et weer s @@t 1 FHaa 176s.

1. %6; 2. UBR @ aE; 3. AT, FaEe ST @ER B I W
Us g ;

STRhBOOKCLub., com|



238 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

HHD 39 HiEar @&t 11, 1768
goe RO & 72 A 30, 1711

ot ourer off FerT B o
st sErer RRe Feronst & R

Farda off sermen RRe #eRwen 8 =T weele
3AER S Gil...

UIaATE Oft o Al A ¥ e uiedl of drg, e
@ AY GF FOR AR & P BE UG GIERRRIE oG
ATESTET Ve a7 F TEEAATE TSl Bl 713 B Fold SHIAA”
(Graftara) o 2 Y goR & 39 O 9 &OR 3{aRr ar
2 & 3 di9 FoR I B 3R JA 36 R FAR
arg ury 2 & &9 3 Joine dad 48 2 399! o 9 god
df 3uz useh govdt ol A gdl Al.SRATM & A HEAA
Jaeisl IW A AT A Ut q{T 31 P MEF Fazgenw o
oft 3rolia o SEe P Sraret Par At F af ¥ R Y sReeEan
o ot BR 3@ gHA gl JRR o | HSEd Fi S B
Ae? F &99¢ §hH of JRoERR S off @t FoR g o
g ugd enft| g 3w ar ot off Jowwa dg WP B ERA
BT | HESRION 3foltd [ ot gog &1 3mar J Jon o ar sit
off SiRest | af F goR ofial u™ie or ¥ a1 & =A@ garl
IR UIaaE ot R ear emoft ft gan @t g amu § 3]
Fonil J ot ot 71 oo & orch & Fadt o & 3@ st o
EPA HFATHG TG UHRGN off 3T RAd Blall FHH
FAAGS goIg 34T T 3G dl gHe A g g Fer dren
3R wHTG el AT oEd @El g APR BT BE oA
@EEr & H. 1768 HEdr &t 11 HreA|

1. UCARRIS; 2. SieN3d; Biol; 3. I, g
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FHHAB 40 sear Jar 11, 1768
3REETAT |, 212 orFd 13, 1711

st FerREr Rre JaEta

3SETAd! BT it oeal Fat 6 gUAR B orslt e
ol B off AT AR edlesdt 3ReT ugdl arfer ot it e
Rrrer Femerdt UraEE o @ 39 9Pl FeAR P 3R B
Y gaT ¢ 3R ;U1 B doRe Ul B W E Al UaAE
off g awr afier & ga1 & off 3R IRieer @ wear' UreRIEt
grr @O B oS & off 3R UAEE o GeEl o s
SRPN 3 3R WP B FaAfr AR BT FST HA ol
g off awr e @l

ft wERen RRe Jonedt FE G@e A UAT gar A
B 3RS UGl A o A off dle ¥ B FS Al ot
3T UIGHTE Off &7 3 39T 3UH Bidl B HHIAT BHIAT AT
ureft gt B off 3R U & IR U AT A B IRN
ot A1 oge & Il & B 3RS ugm@r A G @
o 3R UIHE Sff gE Ho @I AgE Bl aB A WEl
HEd 3 G a1 g el off ueh of 2@ B St 3R 9B
[ser T @ege] @ IS gId THEBL A AR IWD° B
off 8 & Of Ugle & I & off 3R HAAH alad 3 ot uss
@ TAee’ USAT & TP FAA T a6 de B B s Abl
S BT BT & off HEREn RRer Aaedt AEmener o At
AR ® o on A IR A A wen @ da 7 B
A TPIEY ATE A& A 3RS ugy of..sft Fermen R
Fenadt o oft @1 yarem fel’ P I gar & A Fewne
ar 3AcaR 2 o e Aae gearsa gt S oi.Hidl e

JH 11 A 1768 FHHA ACTAR|

|. WEW; 2. FORID; 3. DAL 4. 9g WS AT; 5. UEKH dTen; 6. dAciEeh
7. Reeht, 35cht; 8. Twe
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HAIB 41 gdram Hear &t 2, 1768
gt RO &, 75 3T 19, 1711

st #HERmn RBrRw JoEla

IO ITEETATT TS B9 o Al Holell 3RS ugH!
el ot | ot FEreT Rrer Jemefa uaae of @t a1 EER
2 O wHoe a8 @R R4t Feee Rrer g [der Rig
TB1ge] B A1 @R T o U wdt 3uR omm sf wewmwem
firrer R 3 B o I [dor Riw w@egz] @ wa #e
& FeT B IF g AT I UIGHTE off D SR FBT ForT'
B 3R a2 @ IT 3RST & off HERIGT UIGHE off B gHa
T & 3T 1AL YT U AT U Bl I & §BH
o & 3 o 3R Raewa dar ar a@dt Rt geften snear
adt 2 dAad 1768.

st IJH
sft FHeren e Joeta ugaE of dam #Ea 3

1. Hdlald

ISTRhBookCLub. com
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HHAD 42 gdlar aear o 5, 1768
a@a Rue & 76 PG 22, 1711

ft FHAewen Rrer Fometa

JoTRTAT By Hdl Y afear Ja 12 B s so
Folt B AT A S Rl Ugdl arelt ot st #eRwen
et Fomefa e el nueh ave A aaE FHEr H
Bl o BN ot o AEd 7 o B FaA et TS B
@ 2 A Feener off | 9 O FeEd J| oot Al ae
aR' T o BN A a1 TE o oS gH IS AR
UIEATE Ot @ EBA Sog AUl AR AW U6 IReErHd!
UGAE o & @Y 3T UGS off @1 fe’ A Fea’ 3N
S EHIY @S & 3@ BA GIAR dgl o dibd Heol Al
ft FEreT Bowr IaAy 3 uaHE off & &@R @ W
2y aoft @rer T B o dert J1AR 3 3R a1 B dey
ot 2 I 2t @o AT AE 3R s P BAlEAl ;7
2 O T A Yo T AT B FE A Ba a A B3
Y & 3T FRER UGHE of IS B TS B Al o HB®
o FaeE” B A e B | o a@ e der B
AT TF U a9 AeW@d Hi off HATS S ARI Al Fazal
F@ o dten ISR AR UrawE ot Al Io @B 3RS B
FRE AT T VY IORTA! UIGAE Off B B dqd B
uaHEE ot Al 3RS B AlGI® AdTGld JA BAS <A 3R
36 FEET gaT gHER AF go aiedl off Jem A s A
ad #der A I ofeEEE (QEsEEER) AE BT
(@eaTer) I 3R AEd FE g IS TG 9% T dad
B A BTG gH Ton B Fod AW ge @ I
RER A B A TGaE of & e F Re 7 K a@=dt

\. B8 a; 2. Re; 3. oow; daudik [@eaw); 4. e 5. weE
6. BAT; 7. HAoE; 8. 9fk; 9. GIEW; 10. IHA; 11. IHH, I, s
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Yot E O TG @ AEd & AT Seiehl STIST TIbel Bl ABY
3R ST T 3T GEEEE B HaA FBHA B B & s
HeRmen iRl Fee ' & & a Foen @@ R us!
2 3R ueft fen 3 T 3R Ao A R off s Ut
AR # @ BE a@ g dAF FE A of IS JARD
# UFE Mg A B ot ot FEREn Are Fawd uaws
St @ AR U @ EeR o dAadl e B aIBT Bl
el GReE & A ey A gy § oft 3R AeR ugdEn
$ A UIGHTE Sl Fa #AFET @i off o HeNs o sNEd
gpa el @ forel o Ao g JA A FFEE gHA
de @ AUAT A FoRd Nor@m g A FoR Joier of 3R
ST & Hoee Ton 3iha Y oft of oftwrar & o st s
dR1or FerHAd s Tl ao FHeaT A BAT F B guir
A S gerelt AT JAR AT FOiel off AR dRE a AgH
2 off 3R 3 WA ARG A THT HY A I B oW
WEAS BT ot o FERmn fIe T A TR B
3 3R 2 3 IEH FARS A T AR A HAR o Semene
B 3 SO B G@BR W o a@t o st Fewen R
A IROTAER S ol A AR 7% g B S ow e
AT B ToNE A IS BT ¥ A gA oS I I o7 Byl
3R P 3o B FPed o Aol T A FaI Y &
o gBA BT S 9t F@ FEwErd e ot R gt smear
adt 5 Had 1768.

1. 3@; 2. RrgE

[STRhBookCLub. com|



Rajasthani Text of the Documents 243

HHDB 43 gflar sgar gt 5, 1768
g@ie RUE & 77 orFd 22, 1711

st wERen Rrer @emon £t & Riw o

Fafaa St #eron RRer #ErRmn 9RO S
FEOE HUTT Gaieh ooreiae ey fored aweie aaoft
JGER O Off ... gat ear afe 3 AeHaR e Jaf Hewa
T ot A A AR P Faow 9 A SEEmaE ¥ I A
AT T9 Fad BE G HIH IUT @I A dF IRST B R
o A & Haelw A G, 3T 3RO PIg BL A1 Wace qred
§S ' waE oEe A a8 |

sft off Jad dREd & FAFEERT B TeeHAd 3
ais @ Fpw’ At o so AT UB X AT G Al B
asardl g1 #eon 3ela Rig of & dRed & den @t
ToE BIAS B O IBaT P Wd SaArsd BT A WEeE &
st St &t SR & Jee AT L.

o dle wdem A urawE e @ WY IES dEl 9o
3R IOHT BT Heel B Fha! HAA B FPA gal o...

% E aE A, F B T ¢ FAT IR, BT dEDD

&1 3RoRRIG BTG ot H. 1768 AT Hed F& 5 FIAR|

1. U 2. Fegw, Head
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A 44 gdlar sear 9ét 9, 1768
g Rud & 79 3P=Fa 25, 171

sft I\ o
ot weren RrRer ol

e R @t @ god ugar o 5 [d@er Rig wgige]
e (@) 9@ uR AR aEn ¥ @ | offt uw 3aR srae
Figwe 3t W B gHA UGl A1 off U [seT R Fegy]
B U qEE BT S A AdAe ol I A gn B 9
& 2 3R TaA Ra @ owE &€t 7 Ia 3R uiadE of
® BoR @ M 3R TAR (@) @ d& I e &%
a9 UIqaE ot GREEr o % [d@er Rig swgz] @ dis &
o BoR & 9 AN FaA et & AN FE 3R A aea
adt 7 gwar @ AT AR A I MU sdel aiaer
gaT T9 UIGATE Off B SRS Ugdl a9 UIaHE off GRS 3R
g HEEd W B AT STATH T S9N AraSTS BT ar Fter
SHS i D EHA AT ol HAA e W BN UBR o
M@ 3R TANGA T FIREET B GHH UEAT off HXAH
Rer & & @R owd oI g8 J9 TS U A e ui
aﬁaﬁmémuﬁaﬁ%%ﬁm@?wﬁr?@m

At aeg & 8 eEMIRAR AT U THH J B goA
g1 Sif ORIt @T il UTeest Al e ofeT @ UE AR &
forem @ Pt (@) 2 A 3 P A T BT w/ITE
I I A A gew & ow B TE A Ry ueEt
& AU TEIT Igoordt Alg A (o) I omelt 2@ Hieh

1. @t dg @ e & der; 2. WY, ObS
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(fsem) A & 9T 3R AT AAE T TEd BT & SO FerH
g% ¢ Javeh (Saweh) W@ta 2 oft 3@ off 39 I gHA
From A grer At 3RS UgASn off o #ERIeT RIS JemAfky
O & F TR & wo @ ugd B oo it gt avear =&
8 &.1768.

ISikhBookCLub. com!
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HHAID 45 gt ofear @l 9, 1768
T@ler RoE & 80 3orIa 26, 1711

st wErREnr BRI #sRET
ft & Rig o

AcTeAT FHETIS RIS RIS St w01 S AT
oft...

HERIGT JeTHa G BT TG 3B HXAH (et H1 qgle
o it gt sewr & 8 FellAR B FX TBIR B Blen
A die ook IR I ST B PRI BT GEd gar HSRISN
FeAlG IS J WEET F TF FOR JaAR (FEAR) B Bie
g % [da1 Rig segz] @ ddle & Facer @@l IaT A6
# J ToRd HHAd BRI A1 F qHH HAS DI AT G
dl J9 gc o 3R deHe el | o TN AR EeIR AR
d % [d@e1 Rig F@gz] & ddiE d a7 3R Jd BITkR SRR
dgara o @ dis IS [der Riw FegE] UEE A W adw
qis a IR AoE UaATEl FE BAA §e DL B DA
g IS [dar Rig FBgz] wEmr & J Aewdr F ¥ AR
BA H aBEFA’ P SET B dW AT a9 el Ji P ASHS
el & F ddle @ g3 I» [de1 Riw wegy] I B
B Sied IR N Fi TSl 3 ofier @ & df #gee 3
T F T oMCH B P BEl ASIS Bl G F ABE@T I8
J BieT FAT A9 F o I T DI A5 W dal g RerEd
Plor BAd AT I 8 G B IS B P & 3T ARI
B PEAAA® BT &1 §HA B9 dsl o ghA gal IqH
[ser Rig @egR] & IR BR) @ I e av sEaAR!
geoft s off Ueem® FdeE BT F RS B Aol JWER

1. WER weed B e T 2. @ 3. w4, w=E;
5. 99 SHIOT UUTH; 6. AT oo ol
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ey U & FE ® A G ABR T A I Bl Dy
Uiedt B o Uled! a1 3RS §s a9 FEEd W ol Sl
Fl AGETET BT TREN o FICH T o Pladid o gHA gal
BT B A @A A AEdr F& 7 YHAR F Biol o 56
UE I AT e BT U F DS B¢ of AT Il Tq B
I H D AT & @ B 3RS gE aq emedt I@ Aid
ar JeTeeTs A W AR (gae) gai A9 S e A qo
TG AABT I TeZ B Pl A B PRI Bl Forge
NoToT P gHA gAl A HATE TT TG §S SNH H Arazre
B TR T @ e (ben) A De i IS T T BIo
e Aauet & Al Savs' B 3T Y ®E e Dloen
J U F ¥ R Y spewEar &R g o

FERIST TTHT HeAe A J B FER T IS (@@
Rig segR] & o won I 2

HERIST JAHAT § AR (FF) S AR JARS A 3Mar
3R HeRIeT 3ol Riw off &t FucEa® & s ar (dar Rig
WEIGR) 315 USTS # Io9T o ol 3 USHS oiol al asl Forl
B 98 FUaE B ot 1. A 1768 gt oEr Al 9 AR
ISR ST |

1. ST, Bk 2. JaE
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BHB 46 HEIUer 9dt 9, 1768
gdier RAE & 265 3oTIT 26, 1711

st FEreT frRer woawfly o & a1 IR g oo
i 27 Wwa T (1123 o) & o SR (o)
e B HE DY WA A MW DY A A UGAE S
I TR W T o FgHR' EWh A NS A e vgaeen
off #EgrReT RRIG FaEia (onE) SEEae @ Farad @l
TaE Acfa @@ T ot A @@ & 3wy =R aRer ugwd
2.t R Rrer Samfy dam wEma B oo derdt @
e A gae o waA R 3 S S A Fw e
& FEaad ¥ ol 0F gbd F IR e IASS UEIE
d BT 2 1 Forw TG I A BG UIAHIE St A At
B G Bed H T AWA A F ;A IR FHI ¥ Pig ar
69 G BT 3R FHIeT TS B ARG g Al IS B2
ft FERET RS FoE o §B G99 3 AR & A
TG T A AEAT 2 Off 3 UAT AT BRI FERN A&
off et 3« & (Rer) &Y 3mEr o of Saaw Ra = &
A a3E Al 9 TN AERIST @ Warg A AT AR gt
3T % oot BR U AR Rt smaar @8 st | owmEd
FARS H don A W off o FEREn PR Femedt
Fidione off off ®ERgen @ ARGA TE GEE & OSf o
ge ot @ faat o Maw FeR ot g oft 3 aw A
B T’ & 3R UGHE B I At ASH B I8 HowT
B0 | 3 BATH wE® & 3nden AT & 3RSl uadE ot At
Tl @t v | ot FeRen RRer Fead! sudee (3raaee)
T SO & JAAS’ B TS UIGATE off GEATS off JG IAAAT
3 AT T 3R TN IJAUE HAA 3T G ION IGIE o
B A Fodw AN TG 3R Fod @ F wd | Tl iR

1. orofE; 2. R, 3. doreem, aegenell; 4. FJef; 5. IEEE;
6. AT HFFAR; 7. WEH
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U8l Lo IR Iegid 123 BP leph blie i ARDIN BIo |0
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HHID 47* Higar It 10, 1768
/A 27, 1711

sft FERIST off Hemddt

3RCERA BUR Hidl ATaeT qdl 7 FeEAR B AT Fogr
Aoft 2 IRt I el 3w ugH eft ot st wewmen
ge] FeeTl UTAen BRI 3 TR G 5 gkl 3
Al a1 UHEn TP HAT Al Faem JE 6 a1 Wd Faw
HEWd T off o a1 Ten &G FHY off o FeT' gar ar A
ar ardis 17 geTet Ieen Al Hedr @8 5 aR AHAR
3 ama ugEen oft. st FEReT off Fenerdt waw FHewa wi
St o WA TAISA FAT AT A1 UATET @ D A (@) AT
g & @ T A dzy F @ g A9 F afdE f guw
qr A St #EReT St & WAy A HAE BMUS Faar o
Hedl 3R BRE TG TN H ol IR F BB IRA dis 3R
daT Uit Abar B of AT FTATSA? B BAT A e AHGHAT
P DRE A A BOE JT IT BT T off A Fer IR
2 off Haudl &G @ o EHA B3 off BRRE W& D o9
@) IR 88 A Aeomen B A A Sa=a Bar B
off... st wErRen RRer Femerd gea s o doft Raeh)
® URM 3T SRR UTaAE off o Sidle B ARG Sooft
Jellg Qrect & oft... st FEwRen Rrrer Femerdt Faw Hema
i off SEee A OGRART o Jom el @sefl) A amr
RN A AR BT UWTeTT AR Algeics® A AT B 3R UIGHE
a1 98 @aig A FH A Faad oren & o By @) g
B AR F AF AT Of Jo B I&T SO BREEN IR aATD
ailae® andel @ 3& A g @ fEvr FREn 3R s
Aeers A oen A Fa@ @@ A APl BA GRART G

* Rajasthan State Archives has not assigned any No. to this report.

1. O; 2. @2FE; 3. o @ v wefiz; 4. s adiw @ Roe
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TSIl Berrolt (Beeer) A T B FB onE s ARG JHA
dalg Bl GRAEET IE & A9 A ImE, () e & B
A o B A JoT JERPT AN A Fda S (IS
TG BT 3R dig o Ao sen st #AERen oft JenHdr
HTESET Siial TE @ 39 arer (@) A I8 S & A 3O
gai A1 B da @) @ o1 & I Fdow B awsa T
BT 3R TAY BT ST TGS AU QA gai IR A
&S TEGET SiigieR TS a7 IBIATE WO P @i 3R il
HEar 8 10 FAEER uladE off off ofisiae @ e
3T S

'STRhBookCLub. com|
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HAB 48 gt oedr @@ 11, 1768
g RuE & 81 3oTHT 28, 1711

st sErReT RBrer @Erer & & Rig S

Fatya ot R e @eren st avor weere
Sit...

AESTEleiae & Pl F IReT UiEd [IoT 3oia ]
o @RT 9 Wl dic @ AeR IS T A goerd’ Be AgEd
i ot uifcms ot aer & § Fe@a & off ol Beg s
of & dlarar off & veld ade & Be @ o gop Hoh 2
g ToR Yo | A B o O A @i F FoRA gA A

E] At St 3ER P T 3T TP HoR BT TF WS
N T A A vouT A A E A S aT Taw TEd
HER AN AT T T T g UGIR off F I 3RS B W §
3T BUAT A o oET BT of ¥ off I oy =W BT W
3% 3 AT gaT wieEEe 3 5 W id Hig I asEr
®BI 3 F T FHACEA & I qUnE W @ Aon B 3@ ardle
ofidiel SeR 3 3R off off HAdca fordlel g Ja Foerer
Ui, sErt ot gelt & wmal & Iy B FgA AN awEr
R B g P SeAa o 3 B Ha B aon @ o
fewr B | A U I8 AT AW e off B T Aaw
ar & ®eR Feomer Iofd off g sft ®

dt off JoHa 3P A T AR FeomeT ot F P& gHI
2, ST U gHT & 3G A of Bls gHH DY, U AT @
g e o g A ot oft ot war Fane A s A
HERTGT 3ol BT ot & JAFT B o GIHd Bl B

1. Wi, 3 A BN 2. FHY; 3. oA, IER, fHsnedy;
4. geaa, Jar
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Je B, R By Welw B F A
e a A aEr 9 B 2, da Feng

qort B dWR, % [dar Riw wwg] o s
RrR) & 37T B S o @Gl 3RS B J T

UIEaAE St 3

g
g

1. &A1 a1; 2. @SBl B FA; 3. AT

(SikhBookClLub.com|
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BHB 49 gt smewger @dt 13, 1768
g@ie Rue &. 83 3PFd 30, 1711

st sEReT PR wErer st & R o

waia st seroen RBrer sewen st e weEeTE

IR S Of...
gl sear St 13 IRAR HER o FeIgen ol B T
oTE aiofid o off el I1GT 3RS @ A A Tl A dBad
ol Uor R S S T SREEl HUT FHHAA DA Al ol
dur JEeRe off P& IFAIR T UGHE Uaveht # 3mEr
sisrdl off died & ®El U FEH A& a9 HE Al o wHpAd
Fo g I o S g9 B oG & IJEr SR e W
S 3 Aol B A FI FHoR B U Usel UMAATE
B FWAT A AT S FAY TGS H A Y TEABA P
Y d9 o Hae Fenl Y Jd BIG0] 3R UL H Yo & s
B B g PO PO F 3T & Uim Ta A S ot gorit
3T dErd off B8 2 & & a1 oft &f & SR A UB qHeral
¥ ddfies o Soaa BT Y BIgen of ar F Ha o7 He
2 g ot ozl off =& o @ J@ B A SEE

fior @) T 3R I % [der Rig
TEg] & ddile B Ford B AW BT 3RS BN J HR
=it 3R st off JoHa wem FE & FE FAeRIon Ifeld
Riy oft sizrd &1 3mai Huw off o 3 o it ot aF &
el #A off, &F @2 SEY UURGl HAaeE TG FHog Bt
uifere digd JH RN off| H. 1768 #Edl gdl wal 13
IR @R) AP F W ;| AR J FA JoW 2.

aRolRAd Udiel sPmlas I @ i uenm 3 B
IS gk 14 B A

1. Afdearll; 2. FoaEE

ISTRhBookCLub. com
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HHD 50 e adt 1, (1768)
goter R & 317 JAdET 16, 1711

st FEReT RRe Feefa

Soieradt duR it gt smear Fdt (2 dd@ww 1711)
daar @t ol ot Aoft 3 A T8 st sRe ugH
ZrRrelt ot off FEwen R FoEdt serdt @ der FEener
e o off & R ar Adene off & % GRARm o
TS AR AT AT T& T F&Y 3T HA S Tei g
eIl S8 2 aR AR amgd & IS [dar Riw FEige]
B e FHR BIY T WA TS o 8 ar Toil B arE’
e oifa 8 o IHE @ FET B FEEE Big o @ar
3 B & B AG A A T FAG AT BAY Al UTAAE
St @ wEelt &1 aea’ @@ 3R o Big 3R Widl waEE st
Al 3Re ugEd o Y% [dar R wEgz] s A Aa @)
T e D G R R A zaweh uawE off g 39
A AST FGR A B FeElon A & d¥ Feiene off
QAT S gH UIGATE Ol BT §HA ST oidrar AS
A ol B AR IeHA! GIAGS IR gH Tei @ ferE
S AR maet F Henlaon o B a9 4 IS B S AAS
G DY FH HOHS BN ST BT a1 Il F|iaS AT TH
Ao ARR I gF Fdone off JUE (FOR) HEIgen B
QAT Sl g# ATel Qledl s B TIR HAS IA B AT
B A A dER B T A ue  Haw ugder off |

st FEReT RRIGT Aenerd! o " @ awwiet &
T gRarEn FR R gt emear & 3 (4 Rydew, 1711)
B cftern garsa gar A AR 3w @ 1 (16 Ridar
1711 IFER) A FT UEIA & UGN ol e @

1. fBrafs; 2. g 3. Rema #iven, 4. Frsfia;
5. Aoy, dawe, Togfm; 6. 3t awe @t wrdt
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USRI a9 #isTS off @l ol 9c O @ Uel 3 9 BIH
# FaE Fewa Fi off A Waee DY ad Al e adl
1 Far & FaE #EEd B o d 3% 9 Uad U dte
¥¢ oa Fiead! # gAY 3R AaT & F TG W Gl
AT B APT JF ABS BY FaE B SAE I FR AR
Faa 5 o & =Er ud E A% A A FoR B4l
& doE B 3R GO &H B Ugid &R HUY B4l dlend
o

1. M, 2. e, AR @@
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Rajasthani Text of the Documents 257

BHAB 51 s (3rAe) a&t 8, 1768
g RUE & 90 JFdaT 24, 1711

st afurer off Je™
ot wErEn RRer weren & R S

HERIOT RIS FERTGT S W07 BeHeAIY FHieATSNE JNHUTT
Ualell Sereliad e fored a@elte deoft s@ar o Sl

UfoEee SEiHAe off @ wie @ I o HorRm
g oft | uftrameone forr &y o IR dieat ud ftama gaEd
Hra wt @Y s@ ot wEren seita Rig of IR gawe
off | gl oftarer § Fe@a J ot & Ta Y Beges!
ot &1 Ja J A SrA o L.,

TER B FAOT UT A F goa B gadl (Faan)
Ul < A1 @é g qidr’ Holgd B arai D FoIS A du
eTEE F uaAEel i Jeon & adls F @ 39 B gaar
v F AER I § I #d F @R HoFawon o
JAART QU JFAIT A | Be B a1 ft e @, Hes
(Rreran) Asiten o o e F aofiz® @) I aR AR ARart
B FHA DA U FAOT F JIAJT| d@ HeleT OB Usel
#HEad W A gHA gal A Wel o o ¥} P&l & A A
FAA el | q@ HeWd F ot a9 Wior F qIR gar g
HAUORE WET B A D FoIR HOUN AT A T JT AT 7
ar Agm W A T 6 IHWR FASEd J TG BioT
g FET A IR $TAH F ArgSmE B A9 A FHA gar
T A JR ad A Fa TR B DI g AR A
AT o AT HET B TS FAT I BT AT ASET Ji ot
FAaT UG 1Y | BIE B & IO AT Aid GTH H U AT
2 dEl oia ud, DS Be & I A3 aE qE & ot A
gar| #Hidt d. 1768 I W@ 8.

1. GI5Y; 2. J4%I; 3. deEdlel; IEAN-ESoll; 4. HooA; 5. 98 B
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BHD 52 Tifas adl 8, 1768
g@ta RaE & 100 FEgER 23, 1711

st oMure o FER

Farda ot FERS FoET B a8 AR HaEd
@l B oiEd (Shah) oft ey off wETeTe oM a1 J wewa
Fi Ielad BT FES PIA a7 AFAR 2T A UTIHE
ot g ¥ g a1 TS @ @ geRn F awwr Y WA
§PH FAGS 1A 39 o8l A FHR BT q& o qq §HA
s sfla Rim wa o Jonr & Ry ewe o R @
o S A B W asl oft F o A BoR Y 3 IATE'
BE B AFS & BT (Bler) 3T T, JAT B 3R SAR IFAA?
WA ¢ P, T IR A & B we & O 3w @I
B¢ IR BH A IWA WA B A oA IBT IV
2.

3RGETAT Uhlell Soreitas g @t HMidt @iy & 8 @t
Adt Bt Fh 14 B ugd

1. ARerarft; 2. Rsar
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HAID 53 HIfdes Jal 6, 1768
gl RUiE & 108 agaT 4, 1711

Feron Rrer werenr ot o Rig o

: Hafya ot #Eeron RRor dERe @t e st
@grR ot of...

33T ISETAG Hidt Jol 1 o TS & G JAER HISH
ga1 ERft ot | 3R Bt Jh 5 T3 AE FagA ot B He
ot @ wETeTe o 3R dare e @ off @ af dle uim
g o' ¥ F @ GIEA g8 F Faeden off Hel gpA gl
2 wEo 3l @ 3w e [F@r RNy wage] Fwey’ AR
a2 ¥ g o Berg Abge AEAT I B IW I a1 AN
e weHE I W B Fed B qH [F@1 RHw wEg] o
ddftz e.F 1768 HEA FA 6 HaAR|

1. diord, g3, J; 2. AGHE, P B AR

i1SikhBookCLub. com.



260 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur

THS 54 e JE&t 9, 1768
TPt RoE & 114 Raz 7, 1711

st Ferenr PR ol

I ReRHId e fHdl @t JgEt 8 orugar &
TR T HA & dF sBel S Ugar swgef of..

st Feron BRe FEEly ReEER B gEd UadE
A FEEd Fi ot B GIATAT Gl Toll Bl SAGCIEDH AT
o B Ra o [de1 Riw wzge] @ feae & ad AR
¥ A 999 FHACEHH qUR PV a9 HEN dqT & AFTEhT
F St @ B U 99 FOE F GAWT G U EAACIEHA
T & RoEER P FG gAM! d9 odm Al 3RS BA o
IEERER A GRAE 7 RRiu & gen 99 A o GRAR
AR e B TG U sHacigea gomar. Bl @fmr g o

ddd 1768.
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HAB 55 U el 5, 1768
Tt RuUE & 118 RIFaT 19,1711

st FERen R FeeAfa
I amerfy =R Bl 9 adt 1 Fad 1768 B
R e B8 3 g I sdeld el ugd Al
aft...
off FeRIen St FeAfd Udell Al Gred quiR g€ 99
FEEd B ot URAAE St A 3RS B S gHA ST GIAG
& JEEER T a9 UGHE off G Off EHEcighH 3
& JomEr 3wy o o won P Ra Aok # &
BER | B O ¢ T (SR g3na) & Hen 2 AR’
UEY 9 a% 3J& & A el sHacigeA fote e ot B
st Feren Rror Joefs Fae FwEEla I ot st
off ar & & g 3R H@ o g e e B e
o BIE Rer AR ¥ EHGcigHA IJoRATR D A AleL
gu & 2 g@ off afle A o @ oied o aRw &%
Sl @A A JIOEER AP & T 3R FHAcigdH ai e
OR U T & A GIAE Ugad A GF Bl Bien, a9
FAE o FET off GHER ATS e gHell BHeen Fada @l
®R saw Far 3 3 ARer off U o sRe B S
et At Arar T IS 387 A G@ B SN dF UGBS
off GramEn o el o fem IR gHe o @@ @l al g3
Pt Raee gwelt UraAe @ e Fentva @ A @ gH
ale A ol St goR gER AR arell o
3& T R F@ D I A TS sAGAEHA Ugd asi Al
AN BT TG B A 9 B a9 Hewd H off JMgEee St
3 R A 3T v IAER P& a9 HE off a1 & I

1. S
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Fagen of A Y@ q9 AE o BE Aigee W @d B
FEIa aPle AT & off Joi B JAR 3@ & F FE'
FRCR W WA F aq et off a1 @ W mw Iuw A
TEeA B G TP At W Raome et F& o Ier A
TT FTIT TIA sHACigHA WA (eeve) 5 awad gw a4 A
et It @ I @ B dr GRS a@ F& R @
ara ST S ST @ Fee M A HA aq Hsrd ot Rl
3% 1 ®&T §l Ui Uig F JYAR qlell Aol B HdIiAT faen
W Rel @@, F off ARt P ANy HoREd B Far
auierar foritdiet, ot Feren R el Rig off &1 gar
g ar amu off Fgar A oft.. B d aft 5 Faa 1786.

1. Ao, 9, &Y Blad #
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HAB 56 o Far 10, 1768
adie RUE & 121 SEast 7, 1712

st T St
st FerRmn RRo JomEAfd

ITTETHA TR Hid o F& o P ofiElt TaE B
2 off Rt 9t sfefa sRer ugdt el SR

feedt & omfir 3 ad der At de wofie’ 81 3ATAR
g ot ot #Fgren off & dof yaw & Faw A6 Uid o |
oft FERmT o gEe Y o #fidh O adt 15 o Egar
g @@ e & & dar o ot gel? gs ot o dar off
3 T & AR A o Aaw & ft o B HeA
g off..fd o g/ 10, Ja@ 1768.

1. o, Tt 2. goEh, @
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BHDB 57 HEOT FEl 13, 1768
T RUE & 266 #AE 10, 1712

st T ot

.S off Jenea I [der Riw aegz] Jelk 3 aEE
H ARH! FOR TR UM B BT cr Adr gar o
gor oiten (Brem) & sfue aoft Tma? B IRy ong Fen A
T Aeeie (@FAER) & ar I O dor T
FHT IS IR AW I A AT FHBa B A Aaw
B, ¥a adl 6 3eH It a® ugw JF A H
St off I SedAad & ST | Ted@ Bt B st FHERE St
T Fodt for Haw ugEod B SRRT WU A W BE T B
Sftr g srer B Fw Riw ot PR ot 3F A IR, 3

amaar Marat dior e offt T B ...1768 W JFer 13
WA T4

1. 35F; 2. TRU; 3. BT, 4. ALY, BAG, ABAABI; 5. TST; 6. [dars;
7. ddaw @ @
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HHIB 58 HEET Jal 13, 1768
Tl RO & 267 ad 10, 1712

(3regz)

.S wEwen RRer Femafy el B2 o aren J
SUd @B TE B AT H L3R IS B A FEA 2 OOl
TES AT 3T OR GER' @ P o § ot 3R 3enen
3 PioRR IFGR ¥ IR A P Bie dOR A T ot 3R
AR @R) woa F BoRR ol (FootE) & g 3
ugaT 3R Adicie F 6 AR T S SR IR 3R AEIeTal
GHEATR B wad & oo Aaw 3y off it wepr @
13 &. 1768.

1. Us T
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BHB 59 9 T 13, 1769
gl RaE & 270 A 24, 1712

[3regan]

.HEHS A Fi o G TR TG MR AFAR B
& B ddle F HeFa B

UIiraTESIRT 3RIoiE (3rofi3dle) B di Buird g udd
ZoIR AR BT Uradt a3 3@ @er 1, 1712)
B BT B ddle oF Head dA

uftaE ot & Ul (e sme) uEdl adis
FEETEE o TRl U WET ¥ A|dr o 91 Jen A Rig
off &1 #aaa B qAS' o HoEl T U I a1 J
Ve SaTa A7 HASDBL d1d Bt o forsT dig] qweieal
diue e waw g ot ouier Rig e @ dAzea g
Hg Med = Iewa & A R arw A vEch weR J
i a1 F Ut AR BR) & ¢ gEr o1 FAswweh @
g o @ o G A T T HUAT SH " F oIe
3oTeT BT AN df Fa1d PHEl & off AEHAS! B Agaear
B il audls I F TP WA & 3H o B gD off
gHdl, oA &R F o wan Ry € sew ar 2on
P gH U qAErs o @l

HATESG* HE... SN SIEdl B YATE e §bA gal i
SiRfiT JBTelt &1 uRaten J@ o & F o ol GeTell B sodHd
FHARESHT & ¢ T A F TS HaT dT TH W A WY
o ¢ d@ FEel & TIEa BUd gl

GEeHd F o el Al B B Jaw A A o
Wd A BOR AAAR BT @ER B FAER AT

At off FAHG ERR AE A UGHE B gHT Forn

1. wAE; 2. U9, 3RGT U9 o gren i)
3. FENAGH, FEA B TE; 4. 39 5. Frew
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(goran) & uraEEl S doiR B gL ft St @ERR
TTE B qTHT U SRAd @ o ot Fetee oFf Holl o8l
J ot FICTE B J FAH AR Do BRI A6 D FerHATel
H 3T P A @8 G STl P darelt S B FHA
Hwh ¥ et 2 @S @ dedR F & Jeoner 0% udl
# AR e e <w sneelt oft wrer amEn = AR g S
13, | 17609.

1. @1, adet
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HAD 60 JarE & 8, 1769
gBhla RuE &. 145 #E 3, 1712

sft ol off Fe™

FERen BRor #ErRen Ot o #Wivenr wer & Rig oo

Fatda ot FerRer RBRer #wERen ff WO e
IR S Gt l...

ot ot JeHa o AE P JoEAB' UGIE Bl 3R
dare B TGV HEl a@ G| AR FAHT GIBT A
Hid Hig @ AHAE 38 8.

IR W el @ I FeEl, de-aE 1712)
ufcrEeel JAGdl (Iefigdle) UE EONT 3R¥ERi @ Wi
I BEEER B adis o Hedd gaTl JR I ] der
aY HPAd Bar st 95T GaE @ #Ris ®HUAT 9 Sorhl
2 Spad BT

uifaare ot 3u @@ @ o@ JeoweEEe o g 3d
2 A9 3T IR JEH FBR A &1 BT 3W o Pigem dar
@ ST @ g auR g4l 2l

A (3a) IAYEl A arE AIEAE® B3R IIE |
FieRR GBI GTH | FHIGAT I aHAl M3A | adlTd & |
et #RET B TBR B YASR TEEHd FH AR Jer B ot
ATRE Fo | 3N FUS B Hode D JAGR D A9 | Fef
S8l WeIeR | AT IMure Rig HEisdr | gEe | JWRRT B
TRPY| IHE W THT B FICR| SAgen W BHAR B
R AR T FEA B YASR| FAA F g BT FAT BN
AR ..

d 1769 I JFR 8 IRAR FART* F TE@HETI

1.0 B W 2. i, IEE; 3. UeUP Edanl; 4. JAE
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HHE 61 Gz J&), 1769
goier Ruie &. 286 @3),1712

st oMurer off JE™

St FeRmRRIST Fermen of ot e e o RiE St
gy ot FERoTRRe dAesReT off st WO BHAR JTAON

ft HERIGT off FolHd HeeHS IS B A AR
e off & Rl g o [der Rig @wigz] @ s AR
3 Faae’ St uGeE off @ 3 a1 So Id I
FEH PR a4 ag F sl sEEa (GEfsE) I AR B
I 3R I J oIels Sl J ForRd B A J I
TS B AG X A1 F BT BT 3R G AEIG oI § IS
[der Riw Wegy] § oSS SN oRa & sea ¥, Aaw
HBIS® & D BT AT §.. Fad o6 Jal 1769

1. HolelE; 2. HBART
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FHE 62 [/ @@, 1770]
ITTETAT . 145 (a3er1713)

Jatia st o IRy oot e F@we I Frena
HeToe FAgAT Jda R weron off Fard o Rig
<q off St fored Jer geilias firgs oese..smi 3@
Usl @ AAER TH S UIGHTE! BT JERT B DR AleoE
B TH B AEIG A BY UT B IR UGN & AT A A
I [dar Rig wegz] ok 9ol 6 a8l sar @ & Haw
el O WY SEgd W W H@ D cilgdle A B 2 I}
oIS U2 B A 3w & AR o e & A IR @fR) et Brroht
e # AR @) B Fomer s 6 2 3w o @ wEr
GIEl TON3 & Al X I¢ el § UBR B W DIE IH UER
P U 32 (3m3) R fa 8 e & amwe swwe deu
2 3% dY wWeen JFaene T O 96 IW T@IE & IS I
d oid aFdt & a1 B Je Bl & JBT IIHeSl I B IS

3% UIGARRN Wil =9 gl

1. @B 2. 3; 3. TWH
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HHB 63 weg ddt 12, [1770]
3%eIeTAd . 139 i 30 6, 1713

st T ot

Fafda ot awe Rl dhnee foreer.. ufdueie e
I Rererer weauen Afda Rrreema st weron Rror Aeren
st ot ot war$ o Rim 2@ off o fords @@ & Fer

1. 3T #a; 2. TN B TE; 3. AR BHE
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HAB 64 A @@l 3-5 1770
3GEAd . 161 3G 27-29, 1713

a9 a9 IERIFG A1 o6 AT HT A, Ae &l 3
A, 1770.

FY T G AHE F NG I IUT FEA BT
® & R dxg oo g B A Ra g7 A fow w Een
AGE' FAT g9 TG B T J@UE BT TS AREl BEH
B g a9 F I FEN D A dlY qAR B & WG
T8 fyam & e anaol ol F IoTH FH W e

IR B 3R AEee B dg A AWR e & d8l qBd
I (e R deee & 3w (@9 R Feigy) & B

Rt oY F&H 11 B TS FE TBR B WS I
ft g I [de1 Ry waige] 3 B 3T TSt J Hiited awAier
3 @ dfe & W

gigr e LG 3R o
100 30 40 200

AR O Al S g¥ el uss o el
50 20 35

o A gEdd g B AR P gdiedr Jet & daw A
I [de1 Rig wegy] & e 3 w@d S (@R) s B
Ryt st ad 5 @ el IFAR A AT B qe B ferepet!
& g & [Fa1 R wwge] 3 den A aeh gow 31 ag
FHARR BIH° AT 3R TR JER B IqE° Bl o I AagH
FHE W wela e & 3R Rue @dla et @ uig s
A sam@® =@ |

1. Hoad, & 2. St gEsh 3. AR a4, R 5. v
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PHB 65 Ta @t 6, 1771
galer RO &. 245 WREd 24, 1714

st werer R werwn st dwer wer
Fag & R ot

Rify sft Ferer Rror sgren off oft v FoEce @
...

st wERE off Jemea ufeme of ¥ 3Rw g2 A
(@) IYH HBAGI' T B 6 BRI TEd o B
3T JAgH WHE T TBR P JIOGR 3R GEHRR FHAG
@ ddiE o o & oty WX ot off clar & ® df 3w g
& A F A (@) st (@@eht dige) oehe
[fer R w@ergz] @t ddle & o g seEaE WA
ds 3Reead Heg ot MM FJw aH 6 H. 1771,

1. S5 gt Iusdt
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HHAIB 66 g @& 10, 1771
TP RoE 4. 244 BIES 28, 1714

off wERen RRrer wewrwen st Ao e
Farg o Riw ot

Rifr off FEron RRer FEReT off st @ Saea de
aft...

off FERIE off ATHAT I B FHIBA AW Al HTEASE
IRTET B & § IqS [de1 Y F@ge] uwE HeER g
eI B WS BT U Bl & 3R IagH JHE FJi el
(Forae @ adi) o ddte & oy 3 Y (e Riw wsigz]
FER FeT & ot ST ZEEa (Gevd) I &t IW FEH
&l NGIIAE T G ddle B 3R HEGH FAS WA Aldrd
Y AR B Y W Y R gE g IH [der Ry wEgz]
gol Wiae SR ¥ 3T IS g AE ge & die & FeL A
3T Jagy TS FE el (AT P oGl F o A g
dw B @R ¥ o 2 Ay gee gal ImewEE Fi
@ [ FEGZ J FERA B § q AW |G HY 3fser
& SEfCR 9 AT JAES Facll T Bl [Ny S qoE
Biol T ddlE B F Bl B gAR’ dIR BT & HEad
gl oA HP ofl. A = ;W 10 H 1771

1.39 IR; 2 Rodl, gar

1SikhBookCLub. com|



276 Rajasthani Documents on Banda Singh Bahadur'

HHAID 67 HlGd Jar 11, 1772
g Ruie & 282 3PIT 29, 1715

st ofurer ot 3@ & ot

Y HERon PR Fewer of st Reen Tor FaE &
Rig oft... aeemacTa Ag01 Feoe Uhlel SRTolas o forsrd
ddclid ggoll 3@gR St oft...

ot HEGN G A UIGATE off of FBI STAT A HIeT
B FGR ¥ F ey (Uefiva) @t v UgRT 68 #AE T
T Fga g2 diy IR I_W® B I J et dema
T TH FGIS A A T AT & TS g U 3 A =
FER B ua 34 Ret & @ groa ¢ fa da grEa @
& o 2 dam amer Exit o

ft FERTeT oft JAeId dBE T FEATH P oErE UaTE]
Heels @ErRfE) & o ama @ HUAT A o I=AT &A@
AT U Horay (FHHE) A B AT A IR & Ay HAGD
TR D I QT UG JelS A1 HA A 3l A
F I Porr 4 dear @Ee) B o g5 off et
Hleq Jal 11 Haa 1772.

1. T @B oA, Fardly; 2. 3fYe; 3. RfsE sieer
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Biographical Index’

Abdullah Khan, Sayyid, Qutab-ul-Mulk : Sayyid Abdullah
Khan, real name Hasan Ali Khan, was the son of Sayyid
Mian and descended from Barah branch of the Sayyids.
He and his younger brother Sayyid Hussain Ali Khan
served with distinction under Aurangzeb. In 1698,
Abdullah Khan was appointed faujdar of Sultanpur
Nazarbar in Khandesh and subsequently he took charge
of Aurangabad. He took part in the battle of Jajau in 1707
and Bahadur Shah rewarded him with the subadari of
Allahabad. Abdullah Khan and his younger brother
Hussain Ali Khan enjoyed great clout at the Mughal court
and were instrumental in placing Farukhsiyar on the
Mughal throne in 1713. Subsequently, the elder brother,
Abdullah Khan was elevated to the rank of wazir, Prime
Minister with the title of Qutab-ul-Mulk and the younger
brother was conferred with the title of Amir-ul-Umra.
Because of their strong hold at the Mughal court, they
were considered king makers. Later on in April 1719, they
overthrew Emperor Farukhsiyar and placed Rafi-ud-
Darjat on the throne and also played a role in the
ascension of Emperor Mohammad Shah. Because of the
court intrigues, they lost their hold and on the instigation
of Emperor Muhammad Shah, Hussain Ali Khan was

* This index has been prepared on the basis of Thomas William Beale,
Oriental Biographical Dictionary, Shah Nawaz Khan (Nawab Samsam-
ud-Daula), The Maathir-ul-Umra, besides several other contemporary
Persian sources.
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killed on 18 September 1720 and Abdullah Khan was
taken as prisoner. He died of poison given to him in his
food on 11 October 1722.

Abdus Samad Khan, Nawab Samsam-ud-daulah : Abdus
Samad Khan, Diler Jang and also known as Nawab
Samsam-ud-daula Bahadur Jang , was the son of Khawaja
Abdul Karim, a descendent of Khawaja Ubaidulla Ahrar.
He entered the Mughal service in the reign of Aurangzeb
with the rank of 600. Subsequently, he rose to the rank of
1500 with the title of Khan. During the reign of Jahandar
Shah, he held the rank of 7000 and the title of Ali Jang.
He was made the subadar of Lahore in the time of
Farukhsiyar and was entrusted with the campaign against
Banda Singh Bahadur. He besieged the Sikhs in Gurdas
Nangal and ultimately in December 1715 succeeded in
getting hold of Banda Singh Bahadur along with about
700 Sikhs. In 1726, he was transferred to Multan with the
title of Samsam-ud-daula and in his place his son
Zakariya Khan known as Khan Bahadur was appointed
the subadar of Lahore. Abdus Samad Khan died in 1739
during the invasion of Nadir Shah.

Afrasyab Khan (Bakhshi Soim) : Afrasyab Khan Bahadur,
Rustam Jang was also known as Mirja Ajmeri. He
belonged to walashahi regiment i.e. personal troopers of
the Emperor. He had been with Farukhsiyar in Bengal and
had taught him the art of wrestling. On his ascension,
Farukhsiyar appointed him bakhshi soim (third Bakhshi).
He died in Delhi on 21 August 1718.

Aghar Khan : Aghar Khan also known as Pir Muhammad
served during the reign of Aurangzeb in Assam and in
Kabul. He died in 1690. His Son Aghar Khan II was also
a Mughal noble. Farukhsiyar, on his succession to the
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throne, dispatched Aghar Khan along with Muhammad
Amin Khan to fight against the Sikhs. He was alive during
the reign of Muhammad Shah. Their villa, Agharabad,
near Delhi often finds mention in the Mughal chronicles.

Ajit Singh : Ajit Singh, son of a gold-smith, was the adopted
son of Mata Sundri, wife of Guru Gobind Singh. On Guru
Gobind Singh’s death at Nanded in October 1708,
Bahadur Shah invested Ajit Singh with a robe of honour.
Bahadur Shah dispatched Sattarsal Bundela to bring Ajit
Singh from Delhi to Punjab, obviously to forbid the Sikhs
from supporting Banda Singh Bahadur. On 3 June 1711,
Ajit Singh had an audience with Bahadur Shah and was
given Guru ka Chak (Amritsar) in jagir. After the death
of Bahadur Shah, he moved to Delhi and got married. He
started disobeying Mata Sundri, tried to make himself
Guru of the Sikhs, disowned by her he lived in a separate
house in Delhi. In January 1725 on the order of Muhammad
Shah, Ajit Singh was put to death for killing a Muslim
dervish of Delhi. His family and son Hathi Singh moved
to Mathura and then to Burhanpur.

Ajit Singh, Raja: Raja Ajit Singh, a Rathor Rajput,
posthumous son of Raja Jaswant Singh of Marwar
(Jodhpur), was born in early 1679 and lived in hiding
during the reign of Aurangzeb. As soon as Aurangzeb
expired, Ajit Singh issued from his retreat and expclled
the Mughal officials from Jodhpur and went on to form
an alliance with Swai Raja Jai Singh II of Amber (Jaipur)
in order to face the Mughal onslaughts under the new
emperor, Bahadur Shah. In April, 1708, Raja Ajit Singh,
Raja Jai Singh II and Rana Amar Singh of Udaipur
entered into an alliance to fight the Mughals jointly. On
his return from the Deccan in 1710, Bahadur Shah
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restored Raja Ajit Singh his ancestral throne. He was
asked to march to Sadhaura against the Sikhs. In 1716,
Raja Ajit Singh gave his daughter in marriage to Emperor
Farukhsiyar. He was murdered in 1724 when he was fast
asleep at the instigation of his son Abhai Singh.

Ali Murad, Kokaltash Khan : Khan Jahan Kokaltash Khan,

Zafar Jang, also known as Sipahdar Khan, was the son
of Khan Jahan Bahadur Kokaltash Khan Alamgiri. His
real name was Ali Murad Khan and he was the foster
brother of Jahandar Shah. In the time of Bahadur Shah he
was granted the title of Kokaltash Khan. In 1712 when
Jahandar Shah ascended the throne, he rose to the rank of
9000 and receieved the title of Khan Jahan Zafar Jang
along with the office of mir bakhshi. He was also given
the subadari of Allahabad. In the war of succession he
sided with his master and died in the battle that ensued
between Jahandar Shah and Farukhsiyar in January 1713.

Amar Singh II, Maharna of Udaipur : Amar Singh II was

the ruler of Udaipur. In June 1707, when Bahadur Shah
was marching towards Deccan to deal with the rebellion
of Kam Bakhsh, Amar Singh had sent a letter of
congratulations along with a nazar. On 30 April 1708,
Raja Ajit Singh and Raja Jai Singh II fled from the royal
camp from Mandeshwar on the banks of river Narbada
and proceeded to Udaipur to enter into an agreement with
Amar Singh to oust the Mughals from Rajputana.

Asad Khan: Asad Khan, born about 1631, belonged to

illustrious family of Turkmans. He entered the imperial
service in 1654 and was married to the daughter of Asaf
Khan, the wazir of Shah Jahan. Aurangzeb promoted him
to the office of second wazir and later on in 1676 elevated
him to the office of wazir. Since 1684, he continuously
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served in the Deccan. In the Mughal war of succession in
1707, he espoused the cause of Azam Shah, but later on
submitted before Bahadur Shah who took him in his
service as wakil-i-mutlag, an office superior to wazir but
lower to the Emperor and was made the subadar of Delhi
with the title of Nizam-ul-Mulk Asaf-ud-daula. He
remained in the office of wakil-i-mutlig during the reign
of Jahandar Shah. In 1713, he and his son Zulfigar Khan
were taken as prisoners and were presented before
Farukhsiyar. Whereas Asad Khan’s estate was seized,
Zulfigar Khan was killed by the order of Farukhsiyar in
1713. Asad Khan died in 1717.

Aslam Khan, Sayyid : Aslam Khan, a Maulvi from Kabul,

was the subadar of Lahore in 1710. He was the deputy
for Prince Muizzuddin Jahandar Shah, the eldest son of
Bahadur Shah. When the Sikh uprising broke out in the
Bari-Doab, he could not curb it for which he faced
derision at the hands of ulemas of Lahore.

Bahramand Khan : Bahramand Khan was the son of Mirza

Bahram, a noble and friend of Aurangzeb. After the death
of Rooh-ullah Khan in 1692, he was raised to the post of
mir bakhshi. He died in the Deccan on Oct. 17, 1702 and
was succeeded in his office by Zulfigar Khan, son of Asad
Khan. Bahramand Khan was a son-in-law of Asad Khan.

Bayzid Khan, Kheshgi : Bayzid Khan Kheshgi, also known

as Qutubuddin Khan Kheshgi, was an Afghan of Qasur
in Punjab. He had served in the Deccan and Bahadur Shah
rewarded him with the fawjdar of Jammu and was
entrusted to chastise the Sikhs. He took the field against
the Sikhs and was killed in action in March 1711.

Bhagwant Rai, Mehta: Bhagwant Rai was the ganungo of
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Tappa Bharli or Nesta Bharli in Bari-Doab. Most of the
historians say that he belonged to the village called
Bharat, perhaps it was Neshta now on the Indo-Pak
border. He had built a small brick fort in his village which
the historians call by the name of Qila Bhagwant Rai.

Bhupat Parkash, the Raja of Nahan : Bhupat Parkash or
Bhup Parkash son of Hari Parkash, ruler of Nahan, was
also known as Barfi Raja because of the ice laden hills of
his state. When Banda Singh Bahadur escaped from
Lohgarh to enter into his territory, Bahadur Shah pressed
Bhup Parkash hard to arrest him. He was taken prisoner
towards the end of 1710, when he came to present himself
before Bahadur Shah near Sadhaura. He was put in the
cage meant for Banda Singh Bahadur, escorted to Delhi,
where he was imprisoned in the fort of Salimgarh. In July
1712, during the reign of Jahandar Shah, he was set at
liberty.

Bijai Singh, Kanwar : Kanwar Bijai Singh, son of Bishen
Singh of Amber and younger brother of Swai Raja Jai
Singh I1, was a rival claimant for the throne of Kachhwahas
of Amber (Jaipur). In the war of succession in 1707, he
had supported Bahadur Shah against Azam Shah. He
accompanied Bahadur Shah in the campaign against Kam
Bakhsh. When Raja Jai Singh II and Raja Ajit Singh fled
from the royal camp, Bijai Singh was granted the title of
Mirza Raja and given the rank of 4000. On Bahadur Shah
entering into peace with the Rajput-chiefs of Amber and
Jodhpur, Kanwar Bijai Singh was granted Tonk and
Bhusawar in jagir. In December 1710, he was attached to
the army of Jahandar Shah and in January 1711, took part
in the siege of Sadhaura. It is said he was poisoned to
death in 1729.
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Chin Qulich Khan, Nizam-ul-Mulk, Khan-i-Dauran : Chin
Qulich Khan, also known as Nizam-ul-Mulk or Asaf
Jahan Khan was the son of Ghaziuddin Khan, a favourite
Turkman noble of Aurangzeb. He participated in the
Mughal campaigns against the Marathas. In 1699, he was
raised to the rank of 3500 and the following year, was
made the subadar of Bijapur. In the Mughal war of
succession in 1707, he abandoned the cause of Azam
Shah and thus was invited to the court by Bahadur Shah.
He was raised to the rank of 6000 and got the subadari
of Awadh and was assigned the newly created office of
Khan-i-Dauran Bahadur. In the reign of Farukhsiyar, he
held the governorship of Moradabad and later on Malwa
also. Sayyid Brothers, Abdullah Khan and Hussain Ali
Khan, were opposed to him. By intrigues and money
power he assumed independent power in the Deccan. He
died on 22 May 1748 and was buried in Burhanpur.
Muhammad Amin Khan who was in charge of the
campaign against Banda Singh Bahadur, was the cousin
of Nizam-ul-Mulk. The Nizams of Hyderabad were his
descendants.

Chhattarsal, Bundela : Chhattarsal Bundela, son of Champat
Rai of Orchha, was a feudal lord of Bundelkhand. In
March 1697, he entered the imperial services and repaired
to the Deccan. In February 1700, he was appointed to the
command of Satara. During the last days of Aurangzeb,
Chhattarsal enjoyed the rank of 4000. On Aurangzeb’s
death, he returned home. On Bahadur Shah’s return from
the Deccan in April 1710, Chhattarsal attended the
Mughal court near Kota and proceeded northward along
with the royal army. In December 1710, he took part
in the Mughal campaign against the Sikhs. Under

-~
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Farukhsiyar, Chhattarsal remained a favourite and enjoyed
the rank of 6000. He died at Panna on 14 December, 1731.

Daud Khan (Panni) : Daud Khan Panni, a Pathan, son of
Khizar Khan, was renowned for his reckless courage. He
served for several years under Aurangzeb. When Bahadur
Shah left the Deccan, he gave the governorship of Deccan
to Zulfigar Khan. As that chief could not be spared from
the court, he left the administration in the hands of Daud
Khan who was to act his deputy there. In the reign of
Farukhsiyar when Hussain Ali Khan, mir bakhshi, marched
towards the Deccan, Daud Khan received secret orders
from the Emperor to liquidate him. However, Daud Khan
was killed in the battle near Burhanpur in 1715.

Daulat Beg : A wallashahi officer of the Mughal army who
was incharge of a regiment of Mughal soldiers travelling
along with Bahadur Shah in the Punjab in 1711-12.

Dhrub Dev : Dhrub Dev was a zamindar or Raja of Jammu.
In June 1711 when on the order of Bahadur Shah, Rustam
Dil Khan and Muhammad Amin Khan were hotly in
pursuit of Banda Singh Bahadur, Dhrub Dev was ordered
to prevent the Sikhs from entering into his territory.

Dilawar Khan : Dilawar Ali Khan, Sayyid, was the bakhshi
or paymaster of Sayyid Hussain Ali Khan and mir bakhshi
of Emperor Farukhsiyar. In 1719 during the reign of
Muhammad Shah, he saw action against the Rajputs and
Jats also. Afterwards on the order of Hussain Ali Khan,
he marched against Nizam-ul-Mulk and was killed in June
1720 in the battle near Burhanpur.

Farukhsiyar, Emperor : Farukhsiyar, the Mughal emperor,
was born in 1687 and was the son of Prince Azim-ush-
Shan, the second son of Bahadur Shah. After defeating
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Jahandar Shah, he succeeded to the Mughal throne on 9
January 1713. He had not long enjoyed the throne when
jealousy and misunderstanding arose between him and
the Sayyid Brothers, Abdullah Khan and Hussain Ali
Khan, popularly known as the king makers of those times.
Farukhsiyar tried vainly to free himself from the
stranglehold of Sayyid Brothers but he was deposed in
February 1719. He was taken prisoner, blinded and was
murdered on 16 May 1719.

Fatehullah Khan : A wallashahi officer of the Mughal army,
who was in charge of a regiment of Mughal soldiers
travelling along with Bahadur Shah in the Punjabin 1711-
1712.

Ghazi-ud-din Khan I : Ghazi-ud-din Khan, Firoz Jang was
the son of Khwaja Abid, a native of Samarqand. His real
name was Mir Shihab-ud-din. Born about the year 1649-
50, he came to India in 1668-69 and joined the Mughal
service with the rank of 300. He served with distinction
against the Rajputs and later on against the Marathas. For
that he was granted the title of Firoz Jang and in 1685
received the standard of mahi-maratib. On the siege of
Bijapur, he was rewarded with the rank of 7000. He lost
his eyesight in an epidemic of bubonic plague at
Hyderabad. But he continued in the service and was
appointed the Governor of Berar. He refused support to
Azam Shah in the war of succession against Bahadur
Shah. He was reluctant to attend the Mughal court but
Bahadur Shah bestowed upon him the governorship of
Gujarat. During the Rajput outbreak of 1708-1709, he
was ordered to move against the Rajputs. Ghazi-ud-din
Khan patronized the Turani faction at the Mughal Court.
Mir Qamar-ud-din known as Chin Qulich Khan, Nizam-
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ul-Mulk Fateh Jang, the founder of Asaf Jah dynasty of
Hyderabad, was the son of Ghazi-ud-din Khan. Ghazi-ud-
din Khan died on 8 December 1710 at Ahmedabad in
Gujarat.

Ghazi-uddin Khan II : Ghazi-ud-din Khan, Amir-ul-Umra
also styled as Firoz Jang, was the eldest son of Chin
Qulich Khan, Nizam-ul-Malik Asaf Jah of Hyderabad. He
was raised to the rank of Amir-ul-Umra after the death of
Khan-i-Dauran in 1739. He did not take any part to
oppose Nadir Shah. He died at Aurangabad on 16 October
1752.

Ghazi-ud-din Khan, Ahmed Beg: Ghazi-ud-din Khan
Ahmed Beg, Ghalib Jang, a man of Turani race was born
about 1665-66. He was one of the foster brothers of
Jahandar Shah. But he fell foul with him and became
ardent supporter and later on favourite of Farukhsiyar. In
September 1718, he was given the command of artillery;
in February 1719, he fought for his master, Farukhsiyar
against the Sayyid Brothers but in vain. Later on he
supported the cause of Sayyid Abdullah Khan for the
wizarat.

Gopal Singh Bhaduria : He was in the Mughal army that
had besieged Banda Singh Bahadur in Gurdas Nangal in
March-December 1715.

Hakim-ul-Mulk : Hakim-ul-Mulk, real name Mir
Muhammad Mahdi, was a Physician who held the rank
of 4000 during the reign of Aurangzeb.

Hamid-ud-din Khan, Alamgir Shahi : Hamid-ud-din Khan
who served under Aurangzeb, was appointed mir fuzak or
Master of the ceremonies by Bahadur Shah after his
succession to the Mughal throne in July 1707.
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Hidayat-ullah Khan, Sada-ullah Khan, Khan-i-Saman :
Hidayat-ullah Khan, also known as Sada-ullah Khan, was
the son of Inayat-ullah Khan Kashmiri, the mir munshi of
Aurangzeb. During Bahadur Shah’s reign, he held the
office of diwan-i-tan and khalisa. After the death of
Munaim Khan, Bahadur Shah appointed him to the office
of wazir and granted him the title of Wazarat Khan.
During the reign of Jahandar Shah in early 1712, he was
made Khan-i-Saman or Lord High Steward. In March
1713, he was strangled to death by the orders of Emperor
Farukhsiyar.

Hussain Ali Khan, Sayyid of Barah : Hussain Ali Khan was
the younger brother of Abdullah Khan, Qutub-ul-Mulk.
During the reign of Aurangzeb, firstly he had the charge
of Ranthambor and then of Biana. He fought in the battle
of Jajau on the side of Bahadur Shah and was severely
wounded. In April 1708, Prince Azim-ush-Shan nominated
Hussain Ali Khan to represent him in the suba of Bihar
(Azimabad). Farukhsiyar sought the help of Hussain Ali
Khan to lay his claim to the throne. The Sayyid Brothers
were in the forefront to place Farukhsiyar on the throne
and held a great clout at the Mughal court. In April 1713,
Hussain Ali Khan was appointed to the office of mir
bakhshi. Because of the court politics, in 1715, Hussain
Ali Khan was sent down to the Deccan. Farukhsiyar tried
to free himself from the stranglehold of the Sayyids but
in the process Sayyid Brothers were successful to depose
him and in 1719 placed Rafi-ud-Darajat and then
Muhammad Shah on the throne. At the instigation of
Muhammad Shah, Hussain Ali Khan was killed on 18
September 1720.

Hussain Khan : Hussain Khan, one of the Sayyids of Barah,
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was the faujdar of Mewat. He was entrusted with the task
to contain the Rajput uprising under Raja Ajit Singh of
Jodhpur and Swai Raja Jai Singh II of Jaipur. He fell
fighting with the Rajputs near Sambhar in August 1708.

Inayat-ullah Khan : Inayat-ullah Khan Kashmiri was the
mir munshi of Aurangzeb. During Bahadur Shah’s reign,
in 1711, he was appointed to the office of khan-i-saman,
or Lord Steward. After the death of his son, Hidayat-ullah
Khan, in 1713 Farukhsiyar allowed Inayat-ullah Khan to
go on pilgrimage of Mecca. On his return in 1717, he was
given the rank of 4000 and appointed to the office of
diwan-i-khalisa. He was the author of Ahkam-i-Alamgiri
and died in 1726.

Ikhlas Khan : Ikhlas Khan, a Hindu khatri of Lahore,
converted into Islam, held various posts under Aurangzeb
and Bahadur Shah . He was very close to Zulfigar Khan
and was under his influence. During Jahandar Shah’s
reign he was raised to the rank of 5000 and was appointed
to the office of darogah-i-arz-i-mukarrar and diwan-i-
tan. In July 1714, he was deputy faujdar of Jammu. He
was well-versed in Persian. He wrote the history of
Farukhsiyar and called it Badshahnama. After the
execution of Hidayat-ullah Khan (Sada-ullah Khan) he
retired to devote himself to writing.

Isa Khan Manj : Isa Khan Manj, a Ranghar Rajput zamindar,
took part on the side of Bahadur Shah in the battle of Jajau
in 1707. In recognition of his services, he was given a
mansab and incorporated in the Mughal services. In 1711,
he took active part in the fight against the Sikhs. Bahadur
Shah raised him to the rank of 1500 and appointed him
Deputy faujdar of Bait Jullundhur-Doab. During the
reign of Jahandar Shah, Isa Khan rose to the rank of 5000
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and also got the faujdari of Lakhi Jungle. After Jahandar
Shah, he lost his position and often indulged in plunder.
In the beginning of 1716, Isa Khan was killed in a battle
with Shahdad Khan, a new faujdar of Bait Jullundhar-
Doab.

Islam Khan: Islam Khan, the son of Shafi Khan and
grandson of Islam Khan Mashhadi, was mir-i-aatish or
General of artillery during the reign of Bahadur Shah. In
September 1711, he was deputed to arrest Rustam Dil
Khan, who had abandoned his campaign against the
Sikhs. After Jahandar Shah, he had retired from the court
but Farukhsiyar restored him to the rank of 5000 and
appointed him the first mir-i-tuzak. He was raised to the
rank of 7000 in the reign of Muhammad Shah. He died
in 1731-32.

Jahan Shah, Shahzada : Shahzada Jahan Shah, Khujista
Akhtar, born on 13 September 1674 was the third son of
Bahadur Shah. In the war of succession that ensued after
the death of Bahadur Shah, Jahan Shah was killed near
Lahore on 18 March 1712 while fighting his brother
Jahandar Shah.

Khadag Sain : Khadag Sain, was the diwan of Bhup
Parkash, the ruler of Nahan.

Khan Zaman Bahadur, Mukarram Khan : Khan Zaman,
real name Mukarram Khan, was the second son of
Munaim Khan, the wazir of Bahadur Shah. In September
1707, he was granted the title of Khan Zaman. Towards
the end of 1710, he was at Sadhaura to help his father,
Munaim Khan against the Sikhs. In early 1711, he
received the title of Saf Shikan Khan Bahadur and
dispatched towards Lahore in order to chastise the Sikhs.
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Khawaja Asim, Khan Dauran, Samsam-uddaulah : Khwaja
Asim, son of Khawaja Qasim, born in 1672-73, began his
career as a walashahi trooper of Prince Azim-ush-Shan’s
regiment. He was very close to Farukhsiyar and joined
him in playing and warlike exercises. During the last days
of Bahadur Shah, he was in Lahore and enjoyed the title
of Ashraf Khan. On Azim-ush-Shan’s death in the war of
succession, he fled to Agra. After a short stay there, he
joined Farukhsiyar in Patna with the office of darogah-
i-diwan-i-khas and for some time held the post of mir
bakhshi also. On Farukhsiyar’s succession, Khwaja Asim
was raised to the rank of 6000 along with the title of
Khan-Dauran. He also held the office of bakhshi of the
walashahis. Farukhsiyar tried to set up Khwaja Asim
against the Sayyid Brothers. Throughout his career, he
was the supporter of the Hindustan party (Rajputs/Jats) in
the Mughal court. He was killed in 1739 in a battle with
Nadir Shah.

Khawaja Hussain : Khawaja Hussain was a relative of
Kokaltash Khan through his wife. He had married the
sister of Kokaltash Khan. Jahandar Shah on his succession
in March 1712, conferred upon Khwaja Hussain the title
of Khan-i-Dauran, promoted to the rank of 8000 and

.appointed him to the office of second bakhshi.

Mahabat Khan, Khanazad Khan : Mahabat Khan, real
name Naim Khan, was the son of Munaim Khan, the
wazir of Bahadur Shah. He was present at Jajau along
with his father to assist Bahadur Shah against Azam Shah.
On his succession Bahadur Shah conferred upon him the
title of Mahabat Khan. Shortly after that he was elevated
to the office of bakhshi soim, third Bakhshi. In December
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1710, he was at Sadhaura to assist his father against the
Sikhs. Mahabat Khan unsuccessfully supported the cause
of Azim-ush-Shan in the war of suecession that ensued
after the death of Bahadur Shah in early 1712. On
Jahandar Shah’s victory over his brothers, Mahabat Khan
was taken as captive and locked up in a cell in Delhi. He
was released by Farukhsiyar in early 1713 along with
other prisoners of Jahandar Shah. On 13 December 1715,
Mahabat Khan was appointed darogah of gurjabardars
with the rank of 4000.

Mir Jumla : Mir Jumla, a native of Samargand in Turan,
born about 1670-71, came to Hindustan during the reign
of Aurangzeb. He obtained the post of Qazi of
Jahangirnagar (Dacca) and later on that of Patna. He
enjoyed the confidence of Prince Azim-ush-Shan who
was the governor of Bengal and Bihar. When Farukhsiyar
was a Prince, he also came under Mir Jumla’s influence.
Mir Jumla was with Prince Azim-ush-Shan at Lahore and
upon his death marched to Agra to join Farukhsiyar.
Farukhsiyar on his succession to throne conferred upon
him the titles of Mutamid-ud-Mulk, Mir Jumla, Muazzam
Khan, Khan Khanan, Bahadur, Muzaffar Jang and
appointed him to the office of Superintendent of the
Khawas or attendants of the ghusal-khana or Privy
council room. He was opposed to the Sayyids at the
Mughal Court. The executions and severities on the
nobles during the reign of Farukhsiyar were attributed to
him. In March 1716, Mir Jumla fell from grace and was
exiled first to Sarhind and then to Lahore. In September
1708, Farukhsiyar recalled Mir Jumla from Lahore. Mir
Jumla was appointed to the office sadr which he
continued to occupy till his death on 3 January 1732.
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Muhammad Amin, Khan Bahadur Nusrat Jang, Chin
Bahadur : Muhammad Amin Khan was the son of Mir
Baha-uddin and cousin of Ghazi-ud-din Firoz Jang. In
1697-98, he entered the Mughal service and was appointed
sadr or head of the religious endowments. In 1704-05, he
was given the title of Chin Bahadur for his services
against the Marathas. On his succession, Bahadur Shah
raised him to the rank of 5000 and appointed him the
faujdar of Moradabad. He took active part in the
campaign against the Sikhs in 1710-11. During Jahandar
Shah’s reign, Muhammad Amin Khan was stationed at
Sadhaura to control the Sikh uprisings. He did not take
any serious part in the war of succession. In 1713,
Farukhsiyar on his succession appointed him the second
Bakhshi with the title of Itmad-ud-daulah and his son
Qamar-ud-din was made the darogah of ahdis. Emperor
Muhammad Shah raised him to the rank of 3000 along
with the office of wazir. Muhammad Amin Khan died on
27 January 1721 after a brief illness. Qamar-ud-din Khan
was the son of Muhammad Amin Khan and Zakariya
Khan was the son-in-law of Muhammad Amin Khan.
Qamar-ud-din Khan escorted Banda Singh Bahadur to
Delhi and in 1721 got his father’s title Itrmad-ud-daulah.

Muhammad Yar Khan, Khan Saman : Muhammad Yar
Khan, son of Bahman Yar Khan and a grandson of Yamin-
ud-daulah Asaf Khan, began his career in the reign of
Aurangzeb. In 1698, Muhammad Yar Khan was appointed
the subadar of Delhi. He continued to serve in the same
position along with the giladari of the Delhi fort under
Bahadur Shah. In the reign of Farukhsiyar, he was
promoted to the rank of 5000 along with the office of
Khan-i-Saman. He retained the office till 1718 when he
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was replaced by Inayat-ullah Khan Kashmiri. After the
reign of Farukhsiyar, he did not hold any office and died
in 1726.

Mohkam Singh, Kanwar : Mohkam Singh, son of Inder
Singh of Nagor, was assassinated by Raja Ajit Singh. This
incident took place on 25 August, 1713 at Jaswantpura
and Farukhsiyar was very much annoyed over this
incident. ¢

Mukhlis Khan, Mughal Beg : Mukhlis Khan, also known
as Mughal Beg, was a Mughal noble of considerable
repute. In 1711, Muhammad Amin Khan and Rustam Dil
Khan who were assigned the task of containing the Sikhs
began to quarrel with each other and Rustam Dil Khan
returned to Lahore without orders. Mukhlis Khan was one
of the Mughal nobles who were ordered by Bahadur Shah
to arrest Rustam Dil Khan which was executed on 24
August 1711.

Mukhtar Khan, Khan-i-Saman : Mukhtar Khan, Khan
Alam Bahadurshahi had been the subadar of Agra prior
to the war of succession. He was father-in-law of Bidar
Bakht, son of Azam Shah. Before the start of battle of
Jajau, he had joined Bahadur Shah. On his succession to
the throne, Bahadur Shah conferred upon him the title of
Khan-i-Saman or Grand Chamberlain,

Munaim Khan, Khan-i-Khanan : Munaim Khan, the son of
Sultan Beg Birlas, was born around 1651-52. He served
under prince Muhammad Muazzam (afterwards Bahadur
Shah) first as diwan of the suba of Kabul (1705) and
thereafter his deputy in the suba of Lahore. In the Mughal
war of succession in 1707, he actively participated in the
battle of Jajau and was severely wounded. On his
succession, Bahadur Shah raised his rank to 7000 and
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conferred upon him the title of Khan Khanan Bahadur
Zafar Jang. His eldest son, Muhammad Naim Khan
known as Khanazad Khan was also known as Mahabat
Khan; and the younger son Mukarram Khan was bestowed
with the title of Khan Zaman. In September 1707,
Munaim Khan was elevated to the office of wazir or
Prime Minister, and his son Mahabat Khan was made the
third bakhshi. In December 1710, Munaim Khan was
assigned the campaign against the Sikhs and was ordered
to take the field in Sadhaura. Because of his failure to
capture Banda Singh Bahadur, the Emperor was highly
displeased with Munaim Khan. Disgraced and dejected at
the court, he died on 28 February 1711 after a short
illness.

Muizz-ud-din, Shahzada, Jahandar Shah : Shahzada

Muizz-ud-din, later on Jahandar Shah, was the eldest son
of Bahadur Shah. In the war of succession, he defeated
his brothers and ascended the throne on 29 March 1712.
In January 1713, Farukhsiyar overthrew him, imprisoned
and put him to death on 11 February 1713.

Lutafullh Khan, Sadiq Panipati : Lutafullah Khan was a

descendant of one of the Imams, whose family had settled
at Panipat during the times of Sultan Balban. Lutafullah
Khan had been the chief adviser (wakil) of Shahzada
Jahan Shah but obtained pardon by paying a huge bribe.
On his succession in March 1712, Jahandar Shah appointed
Lutafullah Khan to the office of Diwan of Prince Azz-ud-
din. Later on in the war of succession he deserted the party
of Jahandar Shah and joined the ranks of Farukhsiyar.
During the reign of Farukhsiyar, Lutafullah Khan was
appointed to the post of diwan-i-tan. He supported the
Sayyid Brothers at the Mughal Court but indulged in
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duplicity as well. From 1721-1726, Lutafullah Khan and
his brother Sher Afghan Khan governed the province of
Multan alternately and one of their brothers, Diler Khan,
was the governor of Thatta.

Nasir Khan : Nasir Khan, was the faujdar of Jamraud. He
worked as deputy to Shahzada Muazzam (Bahadur Shah)
when he held the suba of Kabul. He continued to hold this
office till his death in 1717.

Qudrat-ullah (Shah) : Shah Qudrat-ullah, son of Shaikh
Abdul Jalil of Allahabad, was a man of learning and held
great influence on Prince Azim-ush-Shan. Though he
held no rank, yet the Mughal nobles sought his advice and
help to seek favours from the Emperor. On Farukhsiyar’s
succession to the throne, Qudrat-ullah waited upon the
Emperor but Mir Jumla instigated the Emperor not to
pardon Shah Qudrat-ullah. Subsequently, on 30 November
1713, Shah Qudrat-ullah was hanged to death by the men
of Mir Jumla.

Raji Muhammad Khan : Raji Muhammad Khan, a native
of Gardez near Kohat, first entered the Mughal services
through Munaim Khan, the wazir of Bahadur Shah.
Another source also calls him Husam-ud-din who was
made Sayyid Raji Khan Bahadur Dilawar Jang. He was
in Lahore in 1712, when Bahadur Shah’s sons were
fighting over the issue of succession. Raji Muhammad
Khan excelled in the fighting and got the office of mir-
i-atash or general of artillery. In the battle that ensued
between Jahandar Shah and Farukhsiyar, Raji Muhammad
Khan switched his loyalty to Farukhsiyar.

Rustam Dil Khan : Rustam Dil Khan, grandson of Allah-
Wardi Khan Shahjahani, was on the side of Azam Shah.
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However, he deserted him and joined Bahadur Shah who
rewarded him with the office of miri-i-tuzak. In December
1710, he was assigned the task of chastising the Sikhs.
Bahadur Shah conferred upon him the title of Ghazi Khan
Rustam Jang and promoted him to the rank of 4000. In
May 1711, Muhammad Amin Khan and Rustam Dil Khan
were sent to quell the Sikh uprisings in Bari-Doab.
However, owing to failure, both of them began to quarrel
and send in complaints against each other. In September
1711, Rustam Dil Khan abandoned the campaign and
returned to Lahore. He was arrested and released in
November 1711 and received the title of Ghazanfar
Khan. In the war of succession he took the side of Jahan
Shah. On Jahandar Shah’s succession in March 1713,
Rustam Dil Khan was captured and was put to death.

Sabha Chand : Sabha Chand, a Hindu khatri, was the diwan

of khalsa sharifa or the public revenue with the title of
Raja and was secretary of Zulfigar Khan, the wazir of
Jahandar Shah. He was bad tempered and notorious for
creating hindrances in the promotion of nobles. On
Farukhsiyar’s succession to the Mughal throne in January
1713, Sabha Chand was put into prison and his property
confiscated. On 5 July 1713, on the order of Emperor,
Sabha Chand’s tongue was cut as a punishment for the
foul language that he had constantly used. He died in
January-February 1725.

Sarbrah Khan: He held the position of royal kotwal.

Bahadur Shah had ordered him to take care of Ajit Singh,
the adopted son of Mata Sundri. The execution of Sikhs
who had been taken prisoners from Gurdas Nangal was
held under his supervision in the first week of March
1716 at Chabutra Kotwali in Chandni Chowk, Delhi.
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Sarbuland Khan, Mubariz-ul-Mulk, Namvar Jang :
Sarbuland Khan, faujdar of Karra Manikpur in the suba
of Allahabad, was the brother-in-law of Prince Azim-ush-
Shan and was Deputy of that Prince in the suba of Bengal.
In the war of succession that ensued between Jahan Shah
and Jahandar Shah, he joined the ranks of the latter.
During the reign of Farukhsiyar, Sarbuland Khan was
appointed the Governor of Awadh and later on of Patna
also. In July 1718, Farukhsiyar called Sarbuland Khan to
the court. He was promoted to the rank of 7000 along with
the titles of Mubariz-ul-Mulk and Namvar Jang. Later on,
he worked as the subadar of Agra, Kabul and Gujarat. He
died in Delhi on 19 January 1742.

Shamas Khan Kheshgi : Shamas Khan Kheshgi, real name
Nur Khan, also known as Shamas-ud-din Khan, was a
Khalafzai Pathan of Qasur and was the son of Peer Khan.
During the reign of Bahadur Shah in March 1708, he
obtained the fauwjdari of Doaba Bist-Jalandhar with his
headquarters at Sultanpur (Lodhi). Shamas Khan took
action against the Sikhs in the battle of Rahon on 11
October 1710. In November 1710, he joined the
imperialists to secure Sarhind from the Sikhs. He lost
favour and, in his place, Isa Khan Manj was appointed the
faujdar of Bist Jalandhar-Doab. In March 1711, he came
under the attack of Sikhs near Batala and was killed.

Sher Afghan (Ujjaini), Khan Bahadur : Sher Afghan, Khan
Bahadur, was the brother of Lutufullah Khan Sadiq. He
had been in charge of suba of Multan on behalf of
Kokaltash Khan (Ali Murad Khan). He was the faujdar
of Panipat, Meerut and Secunderabad in the early years
of Bahadur Shah. In 1711, he was appointed the deputy
governor of Malwa which was the subadari of Prince
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Jahan Shah. On his succession in March 1713, Farukhsiyar
retained him in the same position under Abdullah Khan,
Qutub-ul-Mulk, the new wazir, who had been made the
new subadar of Multan. He received the office of khan-
i-saman and the title of Azz-ud-daulah from Muhammad
Shah.

Taqarrub Khan, I: Tagarrub Khan, Hakim Muhammad
Muhsin, was the wazir of Kam Baksh. He took part in the
war of succession that ensued between Kam Bakhsh and
Bahadur Shah in January 1709 near Hyderabad.

Taqurrub Khan II : Tagarrub Khan, real name Muhammad
Jafar, a native of Iran, a steward to Faukhsiyar, got the title
of Tagarrub Khan. He persuaded Asad Khan and his son
Zulfigar Khan to have an audience with Farukhsiyar.
During Farukhsiyar’s reign, he was appointed khan-i-
saman in February 1713.

Tarbiyat Khan : Tarbiyat Khan, son of Zabardast Khan, held
the rank of 4000 along with the office of mir-i-atash
during the reign of Aurangzeb. In the war of succession,
he espoused the cause of Azam Shah and was killed in
1707.

Udit Singh, Raja of Orchha : Udot/Udit Singh, Bundela
chieftain of Orchha, was in the Mughal army that had
invaded Lohgarh in 1710-11 in order to subdue the Sikhs.

Wazir Khan : Wazir Khan, real name Muhammad Jaan,
entitled Qar Talab Khan, was a native of Kunjpura near
Karnal. He held the rank of 3000 and was the faujdar of
Sarhind. On the order of Emperor, in 1705, Wazir Khan
attacked Guru Gobind Singh in Anandpur Sahib. He was
responsible for the martyrdom of two younger sons of the
Guru. In May 1708, Wazir Khan presented Rs. 8 Lakh to
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Bahadur Shah to meet the expenses of war of succession.
It is suspected that his agents were responsible for the
fatal attack on Guru Gobind Singh in September 1708 at
Nanded. On 12 May1710, the Sikhs under the leadership
of Banda Singh Bahadur defeated and killed him in the
battle of Chapparchiri near Sarhind.

Zabardast Khan: Zabardast Khan, original name
Muhammad Khalil, was the governor of Lahore and in
1703-04 helped the hill-chiefs against Guru Gobind
Singh. On 29 May 1712, Jahandar Shah again appointed
him the subadar of Lahore (in place of Asad Khan) along
with the title of Ali Mardan Khan. On Farukhsiyar’s
succession to the throne, Zabardast Khan sent 500
ashrafis to the new Emperor. However, he could not get
the favour and was replaced with Abdus Samad Khan.
Zabardast Khan died in Lahore on 2 June 1713.

Zulfigar Khan, Amir-ul-Umra : Zulfigar Khan, real name
Muhammad Ismail, born in 1657, was the son of Asad
Khan, a grand noble of Aurangzeb. He held several
appointments in the Mughal government. In the Mughal
war of succession in 1707, he joined the ranks of Bahadur
Shah and was raised to the rank of 7000 with the title of
Samsam-ud-daulah Amir-ul-Umra Bahadur Nusrat Jang.
He was instrumental to place Jahandar Shah on the
Mughal throne in 1712. For that he was confirmed in the
office of first bakhshi with the title of Khan Jahan. After
the defeat of Jahandar Shah, he was taken prisoner and
before the very eyes of his father (Asad Khan), was
strangled to death in 1713. i
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Aad (31m8) : Ditch dig in the ground for protection

Ahadi (3/&d) : A gentleman trooper serving directly under
the Emperor

Adhe Ayo (3@ 3mY) : Come to oppose or confront

Ambari (3far%) : Canopied seat on an elephant

Ambari Risala (3@ R3mem) : Column of mounted soldiers

Amal (31/#e) : Rule, control, administration

Amir-ul-umra (3@ 3& 357) : Noble of nobles

Asatbal (3/Fdwer) : Building or place where horses are
lodged and fed

Azrroy (3151%%) : Your lordship, in the presence of Your
lordship

Arzdasht (3eierid) : Written petition or report put up
before a superior person

Arzi (31%51) : A written statement, petition

Aswar (3r7drR) : A soldier on horseback, cavalier, mounted
soldier

Azar (39717) : Disease, pain

Bagsariyah (Baksariyah) (Sor@<=) ¢ Belonging to the town
of Buxsor, foot soldiers whose common arms were
swords

Bahurta Parwana (§ggdar uvarer) : Return order

Bahir (@8%) : The baggage train, a large body of persons on
the move

Bakhshi (@3=ft) : Pay Master, officer in charge of military
administration

Bal Tod (amet a13) : Boil caused by uprooting of hair
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Banjara (ssoi27) : A group of cattle breeders, who earned
livelihood by transporting goods from one place to
another. They provided supplies to the imperial army

Bajinas (afo%) : Same, ditto copy

Bakhatawari (&5@@sl) : Good fortune

Bara (am37) : Fortified but temporary enclosure

Bazar (¥9R) : Line of shops

Balashahi (are@mamél) : Personal troopers of the Emperor
responsible for the security of the Emperor

Barkandaz (s%®as) @ A soldier equipped with a musket or
matchlock

Bartaraf (@2a3®) : Discharge, dismiss, rejection

Bavri (ar@gl) : Well with steps leading down to the level of
water

Biradari (f&iedl) : Persons of same clan, community

Bedh (32) : Battle, fight

Beg (3a1) : Immediately, soon

Be-Kauli (33¥ef) : Breach of promise, to go back upon one’s
word

Bhar Bardari (3R @22191) : Beast of burden such as elephants,
camels, oxen etc.

Bhat (37€) : Warrior: bard or minstrel

Bhela (37a) : Get-to-gether, assemble

Chauki (3ra) : Police station or post, guard house

Chela (/&) : servant, slave or disciple; personal trooper who
was fed, clothed and lodged by his employer

Chhokaran ki Majlis (8i®2 ot #eiierd) : Assembly of
children/immature persons.

Chobdar (/@eR) : Mace bearer who used to announce the
arrival of Emperor

Daam (@) : Price, rate, money, value

Damdama (&) : Fortification erected of sand bags
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Damri (5%) : A coin of small value

Darogah (2319m) : Superintendent of police/ customs’ post

Dastak (23d®) : Written order to officers sent on duty into
the provinces, royal order, a permit or passport

Dawa (gmn) : Claim, legal right

Deori (23€}) : A small mansion, gateway, portico

Dera (3%1) : A tent, temporary dwelling

Diwan (€farer) : Finance Minister; officer in charge of royal
court

Diwan Khana (e @me) : Hall of audience

Farad (53€) : A written statement

Farmaish (B2#AT390) : An order or demand

Farman (%B#1) : A royal order

Gahina (3r&tar) : Jewellery

Gargaj (319197) : Watch tower erected to mount a canon in
order to storm a fort; ramparts of the fort where artillery
guns were kept ready

Ghari (g81) : A portion of time equivalent to 24 minutes

Ghat (gm@) : Ferry or ford site, steps on the bank of the river

Gulalwara (3[enerarst) : Enclosing screens of royal enclosure
usually of red colour, screens put up around the Emperor’s
tents

Haif (%) : Sad, shameful, condemnable

Hagqiqat (&®lea) : State of affairs, statement of facts

Harkara (83®R1) : Messenger, man of secret service

Harkaragi (g3®1ft) : Secret report .

Hasbul Hukm (8531 g54#) : A document issued by the
wazir on behalf of the Emperor

Hasil (817&) : Revenue received

Haveli (&) : Mansion

Hod (&%) : Race, competition

Inam ($=1H) : Prize, reward

Itfaq (%) : Unity, oneness of purpose
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Ihtiman (3&a#me) : Control, administration

Iltmas (3edA™A) : Specified amount

Irsal (3331) : Dispatch

Izafa (S&%1) @ Increment

Jabun (5iger) : Very bad, difficult, pain

Jamadar (G#©€R) : Headman; commander of troops

Jamiat (#f131d) : Body of troops

Jarib (&¥9) : Distance measuring unit of about 30 yards

Jauhar (S&) : The well-known Rajput custom of immolation
by the women to avoid falling into the hands of enemy

Jhalar (3meR) : Net-work

Jharh (%) : Cloudy weather or rain

Jiarat (7513ma) : Pilgrimage

Jodi (501€h) : A pair of gentleman troopers/messengers

Kabila (&dtar) : Family member

Kadam Bosi (@eaardt) : To touch feet; to pay respect

Kahi (&) : Body of pioneers which marched with spades to
smooth ground for baggage train to move; advance guard

Kam Aya (& 3man) : Died in fighting

Karkhana (&r&mem) : Department of the household and
arsenal

Kasid (&1f31@) : Messenger, person who carried a message

Kasaila (33gem) : Not tasty, bitter

Kaul Panja (e dai) : Oath taken in the form of open hand
mark on a piece of paper/cloth

Khak Pai (31 urer) : Dust of feet

Khalal (I&@#) : Disturbance

Khalisa (zm&3m) @ Land under the direct control and
administration of the crown

Khanazad (@m&mene) : Person brought up under royal care

Khar (¥R) : Thom, nail

Khardar (3eR) : Thorny

Khansaman (Jrmer3mar) ¢ Lord steward; domestic servant

st ﬁhsoom_:@ .com|



304 Glossary

Kharita (Z3ar) : A bag in which a letter sent to an official
was enclosed; a letter written from one ruler to another

Khasi Patri (Imft usf) : Maid-servant of a ruler

Khatir Jama (a2 o/#7) : Rest assured, assurance; to feel
reassured; not to worry

Khatir Khah (Infaz 3ng) : Without any delay; with great
satisfaction

Khatoot (J1d) : A letter, correspondence

Khatoot Ahilkaran (Jqq aifgaerme) : Letters exchanged
between the officials of the state

Khilat (Raea) : A robe of honour usually consisting of five
pieces bestowed upon the officials by the ruler.

Khilwat (Ragraa) : Solitary place; private place

Khilwat Khana (Racraaaren) : Private or personal chamber
of the Emperor

Khitab (Reama) : Title

Khoj (Fs) : Foot prints

Khoob-band (J@-si@) : Well-wisher

Khola (3em) : Abandoned or deserted house

Khumar (F#R) : Intoxicated: more hard work

Khutba (Jaam) : Sermon by imam usually at the end of
Friday prayer

Kos (1) : The unit used to measure the roads in medieval
India. The royal kos was equal to 2 miles and 6 furlongs
under Shah Jahan.

Kotwal (@iaarer) : Person in charge of Police Station, town
police superintendent

Kumak (g#®) : Reinforcement

Kulaf (e1®5) : Lock

Kunkar (&) : Pillar marking the boundary of a village

Kuwat (3@q) : Power, energy

Laskar (e/@®2) : Large force, army

Lugayee (gog) : Wife, woman
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Mehal (#&c7) : Woman, royal ladies

Mabhinedar (#&l9aR) : A servantemployed on monthly salary

Magqruh (5&%8) : Hateful, obnoxious

Masauda (F3¥eT) : Draft of the letter

Maukuf (Fa®) : Postpone

Mausar (A3%) : Opportunity; favourable time or chance

Maveshi (#3F) : Domestic animals such as cows, buffalos
etc.

Mauza (#o) : A Village

Mazkoor (Fe/ag) ¢ As said earlier, as described earlier

Milakh (ff@=) : Revenue free grant

Marataba (#3dar) : Honour or rank

Mir Atash (#z anferer) : The head or Lord of the artillery

Mir Tuzak (R gois) : Lord of the stages, or incharge of
royal march.

Morcha (#zam): Front; an entrenchment for defending/
besieging a place

Muchalika (g@er) : A bond, a written agreement, personal
surety

Mudha (3@r) : Mouth, passage

Mufasid (FBRAT) : A riotous person, a person causing public
disturbance

Muhamsazi {aaﬂ'aﬁﬂ) : Expenses incurred on military
expedition

Mujra (3s1) : To greet, to pay respect: to salute

Mulahiza (Fe1f&ai) : To favour or oblige: to inspect, respect,
honour

Mugqgam (H®1#) : Halt during a journey for overnight stay;
to encamp

Mutasadi (Fa=al) : A clerk; pargana level official concerned
with grants

Mutsil (Faf¥er) : Near

Nahar (s1&2) : Lion
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Naqqarah (56RT) : Kettle-drum

Nifak (frep) : Jealousy, disunity, enmity

Nipat (forae) : Very high, unique, the only, absolutely, entirely

Nirakh (5r9) : Rate of grains

Nisan (#f311e7) : A letter or an order written by the ruler

Nisar Gayo (ft2 9=0) : Escaped, fled away

Nisha (ferem) : Satisfaction, promise, assurance, commitment

Nivah (feram®) : Neighbourhood

Nivajish (feraifrer) : Favour

Pahir, Pahar (ua?) : Quarter of a day, period of three hours

Pai dar pai (¥ g2 ¥) : One after another, step by step

Palki (greiabl) : Palanquin, litter

Parwana (uzgmEm) @ Letter from a man in power to a
dependent, royal order

Parwahari Seekh (qzarg) i%7) : Immediate leave of absence

Peshkar (Y9R) : Subordinate revenue officer; accounts
keeper

Peshkhana (Y2r=are) : Advance-house, advance tents sent on
to the next camping ground for the Emperor

Pyada (9rm@m) @ A foot soldier

Qaul Panja (@et gu) : Oath in the form of open hand mark
on a piece of paper or cloth

Rad badal (:€geem): Discussion, argument and counter
argument

Radi (318) : Armed clash or fight

Rahkila (38f%a) : Wheeled field piece, a small canon

Rawti (r@éh) : A small tent

Risala (Raman) : Cavalry, a body of soldiers on horse back

Rozina (Jsiten) : Daily wages

Rozina Dar (@5fier @) : Daily wages

Ruga (&®1) : Written message

Rukhsat (331d) : Leave of absence

Sabik (=1feB) : Former, as said earlier
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Sakas (IF®¥) : Suspicion, doubt

Salah daulat (Ieg 8feid) : Good counseling or advice

Sanad (Je]) : A grant, certificate of privileges

Sarafraz (J¥6e0) @ Increase in respect or honour

Sarafa (IR1%71) : Money changer, jeweller

Saranjam (J¥&T#) : Preparations, to achieve the objective.

Sarbrah (I%&¥8): Administrator, official in charge of
arrangement

Sarat (IR4) : signal, sign

Sar Choke (I%d1®) : In charge of military expedition

Sar-i-Sawari (I Jar8}) : Immediate/sudden movement, coup-
de-main

Sira ki Chauki (R=r @t @) : In charge of military
expedition

Seekh (F=a) : To bid farewell, to send off

Sawar (FAR) : A trooper on horse

Swara (Jarr) : Early morning

Shahukar (2gs&R) : Banker, merchant in general

Sihbandi (R¥&ddT) : Local militia

Siropao (Ru13) : Dress of honour, robe of honour

Sirpech (R7289) : Ornament of gold or jewels generally worn
in front of the turban

Suhagpura (JeweIgar): A hamlet of happy wives: the
bewakhana (widow house) where the widows and families
of deceased emperors lived in retirement

Sutnaal (Faerer) : Gun mounted on a camel.

Taadi (ard}) : Oppression, tyranmy

Tadbir(#2d) : Plan, scheme, procedure or way out

Tahgqiq (@&3i®) : [nquiry

Talhatti (@&&d)) : Foot hills

Tafsil (aw:dier) : Detailed description

Tagafali (Gomwett) : Laziness, negligence, neglect

Tagir (aPfiR) : Confiscation of jagir or title
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Takhfif (@@Wi®) : Decrease

Talai (=) : A body of troops on patrol, pool

Tafant (awid) : Distance

Talab (&) : Salary in lieu of service

Tanbih (g&1g) : To punish, to exterminate

Tankhah (G&&g) : Cash value of land grant, payment in
cash/land revenue

Taqid (@@g) : Order of implement with immediate effect

Tasdiq (@@diss) : Certificate

Tauk (1) : An iron collar put around the neck of a prisoner

Tazim (amehi#) : To pay honour or respect

Thauhar (@&2) : Place, station, place to stay

Thana (7&T) : A military post

Tirandaz (fRiere) : Archer

Tumandar (g#<eR) : Head of a body of soldiers

Tumar (g@#R) : Dispatch, report. examination, text, estimate

Turkan (gre) : Turks, Muslims in general

Vakil (@@ia): The state representative/ambassador at the
Mughal court

Vakil Report (ater Ruie) : Report submitted by the vakils
at the Mughal court

Wallashahi (aramenél) : Household troops raised and paid by
the Emperor out of his Privy purse. They were in charge
of the safety of the Emperor

Wagia (arasam) : Events, news or account of events

Wagia nigar (@@ feemR) : Diary writer; writer of official
diary

Wagia Swaneh (a/%am JHaeig) : Description of incident/
event

Wazib-ul-arz (aioi@ 3@ 3ol : Statement of rights and
liabilities of an estate, rightful petition

Wakil-i-Mutlaq (@&le1 U 3dfei®) : Vicegerent

Wazir (asfi?) : Prime Minister
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o alls a

Arzdasht No. 195, dated 26 December 1710 informs that on 10

November 1710 the Mughal Emperor had encamped in Sadhaura; and

Diwan of the Raja of Nahan had promised 1o apprehend Banda Singh
Bahadur and produce him in the royal court.
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Vakil Report No.62, dated 14 June 1711 describes that after giving a
tough fight Banda Singh Bahadur has slipped into the hills of Jammu.
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Kharita No. 73, dated 13 June 1711 alludes to the interception of a
letter of Banda Singh Bahadur for the Rajput Rajas.
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Reverse of previous specimen
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Vakil Report No. 75, dated 19 August 1711 informs that Banda Singh
Bahadur has crossed the river Beas and it is high time for the Rajput Rajas
to join the Mughal campaign.
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Arzdasht No. 266, dated 10 March 1712 describes that
Banda Singh Bahadur has re-occupied Sadhaura and Lohgarh.
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Arzdasht No. 145 of April 1713 describes the Sikh and Mughal
battle lines at Sadhaura.
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Arzdasht No. 39, dated 6 August 1713 provides insights into the Sikh
strategy of warfare and fortification of Lohgarh.
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Arzdasht No. 161, dated 27-29 August 1713 gives a graphic account of
a clash between the Sikhs and the Mughal forces near Lohgarh.
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Vakil Report No. 244, dated 28 February 1714 describes that the
Sikhs have waylaid the pargana of Batala and security of
Lahore city is at great risk.
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